
 
 

  
 
 

Customers and Corporate 
Directorate 
DDeebboorraahh  SShhaarrpp,,  

IInntteerriimm  HHeeaadd  ooff  LLeeggaall,,  GGoovveerrnnaannccee  &&  

CCoommmmiitttteeee  SSeerrvviicceess  
Governance  & Committee Services 
Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 
Phone: 01706 647474 
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Enquiries to: Sian Walter-Browne 
Telephone:  01706924701 
Date: Wednesday, 13 August 2014 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
 
You are requested to attend the meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Thursday, 21 August 2014 
commencing at 6.15 pm. 
 
The agenda and supporting papers are attached.  
 
If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting.  
 
Yours Faithfully 

 
 

Deborah Sharp 
Interim Head of Legal, Governance & Committee Services 
 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee Membership 2014/15 
Councillor Shakil Ahmed 
Councillor Andy Bell 
Councillor Surinder Biant 
Councillor Susan Emmott 
Councillor John Hartley 
Councillor Shaun O'Neill 
Councillor Peter Rush 
Councillor Billy Sheerin 
Councillor Ann Stott JP 
Councillor Patricia Sullivan 
Councillor June West 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 
 

Rochdale Borough Council 
 

LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 21 August 2014 at 6.15 pm 
 

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 

 
A G E N D A 

 
Apologies for Absence 

1. Declarations of Interest  1 - 3 

 Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.   
 
Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting. 
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct. 

 

2. Minutes  4 - 7 

3. Submitted Planning Applications  8 - 142 

4. Licensing Update - presentation   



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25
TH

 JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 

PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS). 

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE 

MEETING AND DATE 

 

……………………………. 

 

Agenda item 

Indicate either 

• Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR 

• Personal Interest OR 

• Personal and Prejudicial interest 

Nature of Interest 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 

LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE. 

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING 

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests 
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners. 
 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain 
 

Sponsorship 
 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.   

Contracts 
 

Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council -  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land 
 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council. 

Licences 
 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer. 

Corporate Tenancies 
 

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) -  
(a) the landlord is the Council: and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and 
(b) either – 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 
Personal Interests 
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect -  
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority; 
(b)  any body - 

(i)  exercising functions of a public nature; 
(ii)  directed to charitable purposes; or 
(iii)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union),  
of which you are in a position of general control or management; 
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25. 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would  reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business - 
(a)  Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or 
 (b)  Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above. 
 
 
MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE 
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25

TH
 JULY 2012. 

 Page 3



LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Monday, 7 July 2014 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Susan Emmott (in the Chair); Councillors Shakil Ahmed, Bell, 
Biant, Hartley, O'Neill, Sheerin, Stott and Sullivan 

 
OFFICERS: R. Coley and C Robinson (Economy and Environment Service), N. 
Scanlon, C Poole and S. Walter-Browne (Corporate Services).     
 
Also in Attendance: Approximately 8 members of the public   
 
Apologies for Absence:  Councillor June West 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
80 Councillor Bell declared a personal interest in application 14/00258/FUL and 
Councillor Godson indicated he would take no part in application 14/00261/FUL.  
 
MINUTES 
81 The Minutes of the meetings held on 24th March and 28th April 2014 were 
agreed. 
 
APPLICATION TO EXTEND THE OPENING HOURS OF A HOT FOOD 
TAKEAWAY 
82 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 14/00031/VRCON, to allow a hot food takeaway at 108A Whitworth Road 
Rochdale OL12 0JJ to open between 11.30 hours - 01:00 hours Monday to 
Thursday, 11.30 hours - 03.00 hours Friday and Saturday, and 11.30 hours to 01.00 
hours on a Sunday. 
 
The Committee were informed that the Rochdale Township Planning Sub-Committee 
had referred the matter to the Licensing and Regulatory Committee. 
 
DECIDED – That the application be refused on the grounds that the mid-
terraced property, to which this application relates, is adjoined by residential 
properties at first floor level on either side and the proposed extended opening 
hours would be likely give rise to an increase in nuisance and general 
disturbance at the front of the premises. This would be likely to adversely 
affect the residential amenities of the occupiers of the adjoining residential 
accommodation. The proposal is therefore contrary to the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/2 (Design Criteria for New Development), 
S/6 (District Centre, Local Centres and Linear Commercial Areas), S/10 (Food 
and Drink Outlets) and EM/3 (Noise and New Development), which all seek to 
ensure that new development does not adversely impact upon neighbouring 
properties and in particularly the amenity of neighbouring residents. 
 
 
CHANGE OF USE OF GROUND AND PART OF FIRST FLOOR FROM CLASS A1 
(RETAIL) TO CLASS A2 (FINANCIAL AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES) 
83 Councillor Bell declared a personal interest in this item. 
 
The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 14/00258/FUL, for the change of use of the ground and part of the first 
floor from Class A1 (retail) to Class A2 (financial and professional services), to 

Public Document Pack

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



include a new shop front, together with the installation of 3 air conditioning condenser 
units to the rear elevation and 2 satellite dishes to the side elevation, at 40 Yorkshire 
Street Rochdale Lancashire OL16 1JN. 
 
Members were informed that the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee, at 
their meeting of 23 June 2014, recommended that permission be granted, subject to 
a condition restricting premises to a betting shop within the A2 use class. 
 
Ms J Topping, the agent for the applicant, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application. 
 
DECIDED – That the application be refused on the grounds that the proposal 
does not meet the criteria set out under policy S/3 which allows for the change 
of use to non-A1 uses within a Primary Shopping Area (PSA), and there were 
insufficient material circumstances that would justify a departure from policy in 
this instance. In particular it was considered that it would harm the vitality and 
viability of the PSA and the town centre as a whole by leading to an over-
dominance of non-A1 uses. 
 
ERECTION OF ONE DETACHED DWELLING - PART RETROSPECTIVE 
84 Councillor Godson left the meeting and took no part in this item. 
 
The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 14/00261/FUL, for the erection of one detached dwelling - part 
retrospective, at 22 Alkrington Hall Road South Middleton M24 1WJ. 
 
Members were informed that the Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee, at 
their meeting of 25th June 2014, had recommended refusal on the grounds that the 
cumulative impact of the modifications to the previously approved development 
would result in additional bulk being added to the roof of the dwellinghouse, which, by 
virtue of its scale, height, massing and design, would reduce views of an attractive 
wooded valley to the rear of the site (known locally as ‘The Dingle’) from vantage 
points on Alkrington Hall Road South, thereby diminishing its sylvan quality that 
makes an important contribution to the character of the area. The proposal fails to 
take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of the area 
and was therefore contrary to the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy 
BE/2 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Mr B Thornley, the agent for the applicant, addressed the Committee in support of 
the application. 
 
DECIDED – the Committee is minded to grant planning permission subject to 
a) the completion of a Section 106 planning obligation in order to secure a 
commuted sum payment for the provision (including 20 year maintenance) 
and/or improvement of off-site Recreational Open Space in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy H/6 and its associated 
Supplementary Planning Document: Provision of Recreational Open Space in 
New Housing; 
b) the Council entering into an agreement under the provisions of Section 106 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and other appropriate legislation 
with regard to the matters set out above;  
c) the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice on 
completion of the Section 106 Agreement; and  
d) the conditions as set out in the submitted report. 
 

Page 5



 
TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION TO DWELLING 
85 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 14/00319/HOUS, for a two storey side extension to the dwelling at Cloise 
Farm, Swaindrod Lane, Littleborough OL15 0LE. 
 
Members were informed that members of the Pennines Township Planning Sub-
Committee on 7th May resolved unanimously that they would be minded to approve 
the application but, as this would be a departure from policy, the application would be 
referred to the Licensing and Regulatory Committee. 
 
Mr M Percy, the agent for the applicant, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application. 
 
DECIDED – a) the proposed extension would not be a disproportionate addition 
to the existing building and would not therefore contrary to the requirements of 
Policy D/7 (Extensions to Residential Properties); 
b) to grant planning permission subject to appropriate conditions, to be 
determined by the Head of Planning. 
 
REMOVE OVERHANGING BRANCHES FROM HORSE CHESTNUT TREE (T1) 
WITHIN TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 294 
86 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 14/00546/WTTPO, to remove overhanging branches from the Horse 
Chestnut tree (T1) within the Tree Preservation Order 294, located in the rear garden 
of number 1 Broadhalgh Road, Rochdale OL11 5NJ. 
 
The Committee was informed that the proposal was considered by Members of the 
Rochdale Planning Sub-Committee on 23rd June 2014, where Members were minded 
to refuse the application, in-line with the Officer’s recommendation.  
 
DECIDED – That the application be refused on the grounds that the removal of 
the overhanging branches would potentially affect the health of the tree and 
the proposed development would therefore not  constitute good arboricultural 
practice. The proposed removal of these branches would also adversely affect 
the appearance of the tree by altering its general shape and form to the 
detriment of its visual amenity. The proposed works would therefore be 
contrary to national guidance contained within National Planning Policy 
Guidance. 
 
SCOUT MOOR WIND FARM EXPANSION: DELEGATED POWERS FOR 
UPCOMING CONSULTATION 
87 The Director of Economy and Environment informed Members of the current 
position with regard to the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) 
proposals to expand the Scout Moor wind farm, the process by which the 
Development Consent Order (DCO) application will be submitted to the National 
Infrastructure Directorate (NID) to be determined by the Secretary of State and the 
likely timescales. The Council is a statutory consultee on a Development Consent 
Order application and is required, if it wishes to respond to the consultation, to do so 
on or before 14 August 2014. 
 
DECIDED – 
a) That the Council be requested to delegate to the Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee the power to respond on behalf of the Council to 
Development Consent Order applications. 

Page 6



b) That the Committee will hold a special meeting to consider this matter 
on 5th August 2014, to which all Councillors will be invited. These 
considerations will form the basis of the Council’s consultation response 
under Section 42 of the Planning Act 2008. 
c) That Officers are authorised to take decisions of a technical and 
administrative nature as may be required in order to support a full and 
robust response from the Council to the ‘Stage 2’ consultation from the 
project promoter. 
d) To note that the Council is not the determining authority for a 
Development Consent Order application, but does within certain legal 
parameters and timescales have to be consulted and thereby has the 
opportunity to have significant input into the application, which will have an 
impact on substantial parts of the Borough if the application is granted. 
e) To note that there will be other opportunities for the Council to input 
into and comment on the proposals for the Scout Moor Wind farm 
expansion, not least through the production of a Local Impact Report which 
will comprise the Council’s main response to the proposals, which is 
submitted directly to the National Infrastructure Directorate and which will 
be put before the relevant Township Planning Sub Committees for 
comments and the Licensing and Regulatory Committee for approval in the 
same manner as a major planning application proposal which would be 
determined by the Council. 

 
REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 
88 The Acting Chief Executive informed and consulted Members on the statutory 
review of polling districts and polling places. 
 
DECIDED – 
a) The Committee had no recommendations to make to the review at this stage 
b) Members noted that a further report will be presented to the next ordinary 
meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee, following the conclusion 
of the consultation process. 
 
PLANNING APPEALS 
89 The Committee noted that the following appeal has been allowed: 
 
13/00501/FUL – Land at Kemp Street, Middleton – Erection of A3/A5 
drive through restaurant, with associated access and car parking 
arrangements, and Outline Planning Permission for the erection of a 
836sqm Class A1 Retail Unit, with all matters reserved except layout. 
 

Page 7



 
 

  
 

Subject:  Submitted Planning Applications  Status:  For Publication 

Report to:  Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee 

 
  

Date:         21st August 2014 ^DS,DATEACTCOM.DCAPPL,21;     

Report of: Director of Economy and 
Environment 
 

Author: See individual agenda reports 
 

 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  

 
1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or 

related consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration 

and/or determination of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s 
approved Scheme of Delegation. 

 
1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related 

matters which may affect the work of the Committee. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as 

detailed in the following papers. 

 
3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in 

accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, Planning and Compensation Act 1991, Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008, Localism Act 2012 and 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management) Procedure 
Order 2010 together with any Circulars and Regulations which support that 

legislation.   
 

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Where relevant, any such material considerations will be referred to in the 

report. 
 

 
 

 

ITEM NO. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



 

     The Development Plan 
 

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed 
against the relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the 

Borough (currently the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) 
and any Supplementary Planning Documents or Guidance adopted by the 
Council.   

 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 
3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a 

requirement to have regard to relevant national policies as set out within 

the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a 
material consideration.  Where relevant, the provisions of the NPPF and any 

other relevant national guidance will be referred to in the report. 
 
4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS  

 
4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers 

dealing with Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have 
full regard to the Code in discharging their responsibilities and duties in 
relation to planning matters on behalf of the Council.  The Code seeks to 

ensure that all decision making is governed by an open and transparent 
process and represents a standard against which the conduct of Officers 

and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.   
 
4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the 

commencement of the Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any 
Member sitting on the Committee ought to declare any interest on any item 

on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services or the Chief Planning Officer.   

 

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code 
of Conduct.    

 
5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS 

 
5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning 

applications on their individual merits having regard to the development 

plan and other material planning considerations. 
 

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of 
certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These 
protected characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, 

Marriage or Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or 
Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer. 

 
5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the 

effects of its decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, 

including a duty to make reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all 
material planning considerations, including Council policy as set out in the 

Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, the 

Page 9



Service Director (Planning and Regulation Services) has concluded all 

opportunities to promote equality through the planning process have been 
taken, or where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the 

basis of the planning merits of the development proposal.   
 

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group comments on 
relevant planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be 
included within the reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in 

designing access when dealing with the planning applications. Where 
applicable, any issues relating to these matters or other equal opportunity 

matters will be referred to in individual planning application reports. 
 
6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations 

 
6.1    The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of 

the Human Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those 
third parties, including local residents, who have made representations) 
have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full 

consideration to their comments. 
 

6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s 
home, other land and business assets.  In taking account of all material 
considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Unitary 

Development Plan, the Service Director (Planning and Regulation Services) 
has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 

applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby 
land that might be affected may be interfered with but that that 
interference is in accordance with the law and justified by being in the 

public interest and on the basis of the planning merits of the development 
proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 

approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the 
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 10



Background Papers 
 

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on 

this agenda will include:- 
 

 1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include: 
 

 i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with 
scaled drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates. 

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have 

been consulted or commented on the planning application 
iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties. 

iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received 
and of relevance to the submitted proposal 

  

 2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the 
application file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal 

 
 3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports 

on planning applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting). 

 
       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of 

relevance to the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted 
planning applications or related consents 

 
For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background 
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at:  

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning 
 

 
 

 

Page 11

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning


Application Number: 14/00261/FUL    Ward: South Middleton       
 

 
Proposal: Erection of one detached dwelling - part retrospective 
 

Site Address: Land Adjacent 22 Alkrington Hall Road South Middleton M24 1WJ   
 

Applicant: Mr Carl Garrity 
                   
 

RECOMMENDATION:  Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
 
DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
Members of the Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee were minded to refuse the 
application at their meeting of 25th June 2014 on the grounds that the cumulative impact of the 
modifications to the previously approved development would result in additional bulk being 
added to the roof of the dwellinghouse, which, by virtue of its scale, height, massing and 
design, would reduce views of an attractive wooded valley to the rear of the site (known locally 
as ‘The Dingle’) from vantage points on Alkrington Hall Road South, thereby diminishing its 
sylvan quality that makes an important contribution to the character of the area in conflict with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy BE/2 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
As the recommendation of the Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee is in conflict with 
a previous, relevant decision of a Planning Inspector the application was referred to the 
Licencing and Regulatory Committee and considered at their meeting of 7th July 2014. 

Page 12



Members of this Committee were minded to approve the application in line with the Officer 
recommendation. Since this resolution it has, however, been brought to the Council’s attention 
that objectors to the application were not correctly notified of the Licencing and Regulatory 
Committee meeting on 7th July 2014. Therefore, the application has been referred back to the 
Committee for further consideration and to give objectors an opportunity to address the 
Committee. 
 
Members of the Licencing and Regulatory Committee have delegated powers to approve or 
refuse the application on reasonable planning grounds. 
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to a broadly rectangular plot of land measuring approximately 270 
square metres in area which narrows from a width of some 11 metres alongside Alkrington 
Hall Road South (AHRS) to around 8 metres at the rear (north-eastern) boundary. Prior to 
commencement of the construction of a split level bungalow/two storey dwelling on the site 
pursuant to planning appeals APP/P4225/A/06/2020184 and APP/P4225/A/10/2137585, the 
land formed the side garden of no. 22 AHRS. The shell of this split level dwellinghouse has 
been constructed up to eaves level. However, the building lacks a roof and, at present, is 
incapable of occupation as a dwellinghouse. 
 
The site falls away steeply in a north-easterly direction from the highway of AHRS and is 
bounded by the rear garden areas of dwellings on Dingle Road to the north-eastern perimeter 
(no. 2) and Parkside along the south-eastern boundary (nos. 1-7). On rising ground to the rear 
(northeast) of the site lies a wooded area comprising several mature trees which intervenes 
between the rear gardens of houses on Dingle Road and Parkside. This area is known locally 
as ‘The Dingle’. The appeal site lies to the southwest of The Dingle. 
 
With the exception of no. 1 which is set within a relatively flat plot, the rear gardens of 
properties on Parkside to the southeast (nos. 3-7) follow a steep incline up towards the rear 
elevations of these houses. These dwellings occupy a substantially elevated position a 
minimum of approximately 31 metres from the site. Several dwellings on Parkside and to the 
western frontage of AHRS have a split-level arrangement with a two storey appearance to the 
front and third (basement) level to the rear. This is not, however, the case with properties to 
the eastern frontage of AHRS (including no. 22) which are two stories in height. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application seeks permission for the erection of a detached, split-level single/two storey 
dwelling on the site. The dwellinghouse, with respect to its width (6 metres) and depth (9.9 
metres) matches that previously allowed at appeal in 2011 (reference 
APP/P4225/A/10/2137585). In addition, the external elevations of the building (with respect to 
the number, position and proportions of window and door openings), its eaves height, roof 
profile and the layout of its external areas are the same as the development previously 
allowed at appeal. 
 
The current application differs from that previously allowed at appeal by virtue of the following: 

 The maximum ridge height of the building is 400 mm taller (7.3 metres at its tallest 
point – it’s side elevation – and 4.65 metres when viewed from AHRS). 

 The pitch of the roof is 5 degrees steeper (35 degrees). 

 The hip-roofed pediment above the bay window is 200 mm taller to the ridge and its 
pitch 5 degrees steeper to match that of the main roof. 

 
Externally, an elongated driveway alongside the northwest facing (side) elevation of the 
building would provide two back-to-back car parking spaces, and external staircases to the 

Page 13



southeast (front) and northwest (rear) corners of the dwellinghouse would provide access 
down to the rear garden area. 
 
As a substantial part of the existing, partially-completed dwellinghouse erected under planning 
appeal APP/P4225/A/10/2137585 is to be incorporated as part of the scheme, the application 
is submitted on a part retrospective basis. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 
The DCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  
The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  With immediate effect the NPPF replaces 44 documents including 
Planning Policy Statements; Planning Policy Guidance; Minerals Policy Statements; Minerals 
Policy Guidance; Circular 05/2005:Planning Obligations; and various letters to Chief Planning 
Officers.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP):  
G/D/1  Defined Urban Area 
 
G/H/1  Housing 
H/3   Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas 
H/6   Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development 
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/8   New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9  New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10  New Development – Provision of Parking 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2  Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/8  Landscaping in new Development 
 
G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/4  Contamination 
EM/9  Development Involving Unstable Land 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD 
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD 
 
SITE HISTORY 
 
The site has been the subject of a total of 11 planning applications and eight appeals. Of 
these, 10 applications have been refused by the Council (one having been appealed due to 
non-determination), six appeals have been dismissed and two appeals have been allowed.  
 

 CASE 1 - 01/D39434 – One detached dwelling – Refused for the following reason and 
dismissed at appeal (APP/P4225/A/02/1088585): 

o The application site is within a long established residential area which includes 
mature planting. It is located at the south western end of a belt of trees within a 
short local valley feature known as The Dingle which is adjoined by rear garden 
boundaries on both sides. The site is recently cleared land dropping away 

Page 14



steeply from the side elevation of 22 Alkrington Hall Road South, and 
overlooked by houses located at a significantly higher level on Parkside. The 
scale of the proposal would constitute overdevelopment of a restricted site 
contrary to the provisions of Rochdale Unitary Development Plan Policy EN/2 - 
Design of New Development. Furthermore the proposed development would be 
out of keeping with the appearance of the locality, in particular detracting from 
The Dingle, public views of it from Alkrington Hall Road South, and views of it in 
the outlook of Parkside residents, contrary to the objectives of Policy EN/2. 
Approval of the proposal would set a precedent for the further unacceptable 
erosion of the existing character of the surrounding residential area. 
 

 CASE 2 - 04/D42853 – Erection of one detached dwelling – Refused and dismissed at 

appeal (APP/P4225/A/04/1148831). 

 

 CASE 3 - 05/D45502 – Erection of one dwelling – Refused and dismissed at appeal 

(APP/P4225/A/1190344). 

 

 CASE 4 – 05/D45955 - Erection of one dwelling (resubmission D45502) – Refused and 

allowed at appeal (APP/P4225/A/06/2020184). 

 

 CASE 5 – 07/D50177 – Erection of detached dwelling – Refused. 

 

 CASE 6 – 08/D51103 – Erection of one detached dwelling (resubmission D50177) – 

Refused. 

 

 CASE 7 – 09/D51749 – Erection of 2/3 storey dwelling – Refused and dismissed at 

appeal (APP/P4225/A/09/2112402). 

 

 CASE 8 – 10/D52960 – Erection of one dwelling – Refused and allowed at appeal 

(APP/P4225/A/10/2137585). 

 

 CASE 9 – 11/D54027 – Erection of detached dwelling (resubmission D52960) – 

Refused and dismissed at appeal (APP/P4225/A/11/2150915). 

 

 CASE 10 – 12/55784/FUL – Alterations to bungalow to form part two storey and part 

three storey dwelling (part retrospective) – Appeal against non-determination 

dismissed (APP/P4225/A/13/2195092). 

 

 CASE 11 – 13/01294/FUL – Erection of one detached dwelling (part retrospective) – 

Refused for the following reasons: 

1. The proposal seeks to modify an approved scheme for a split level single/two 
storey dwellinghouse by raising its ridge, steepening the pitch of the roof and 
adding a dormer to the front roof plane. The cumulative impact of these 
modifications to the previously approved development would result in additional 
bulk being added to the roof of the dwellinghouse, which, by virtue of its scale, 
height, massing and design, would reduce views of an attractive wooded valley 
to the rear of the site (known locally as ‘The Dingle’) from vantage points on 
Alkrington Hall Road South, thereby diminishing its sylvan quality that makes 
an important contribution to the character of the area. The proposal fails to take 
the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of the area 

Page 15



and is therefore contrary to the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policy BE/2 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

2. The proposed front dormer would, by virtue of its size, siting and design (having 
particular regard to its elevated position within the roof plane and relationship 
with the building’s ridgeline and hip-roofed pediment above the bay window) sit 
awkwardly within the roof plane of the dwellinghouse and result in a complex 
and top-heavy appearance to its roof. The dormer, by reason of its poor design, 
would introduce an incongruous feature to the roofscape of Alkrington Hall 
Road South which would be incompatible with the host building and harmful to 
the character and appearance of the street scene. The proposal fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of the area and is 
therefore contrary to the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy BE/2 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering: - No objections. 
 
United Utilities: - No objections. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. Five letters have been received in objection to the application. The points of objection, 
followed by officer responses, are summarised as follows: 
 
Comment: 
Whilst the current proposal does not include a full storey at first floor level and the dormer 
previously proposed within the roof space has now been removed, the increased roof height in 
comparison to the previous bungalow allowed at appeal would further obscure views of The 
Dingle which lies beyond, in conflict with previous Inspector’s reasons for dismissing appeals. 
No enlargement of the property as previously allowed should be permitted. 
 
Officer response: 
The current application is a modification to the bungalow approved as part of a previous 
planning appeal associated with ‘Case 8’ as outlined in the site history. The building proposed 
as part of the current application is 400 mm taller to the ridge, incorporates a roof pitch which 
is 5 degrees steeper and proposes one additional bedroom in the roof space. An illustrative 
comparison between the approved and proposed schemes is shown in figures 1-4. 
 
Whilst it is appreciated that the proposed dwellinghouse is taller than that previously allowed 
and, accordingly, this increases the massing of the roof, this addition is so minor in 
comparison to that which was previously allowed at appeal that it is not considered to 
fundamentally alter the impact that the development would have in terms of obscuring views of 
vegetation associated with The Dingle beyond. Indeed, the additional height to be added to 
the roof would be at its narrowest point (towards the ridgeline which slopes away from AHRS 
as a result of its hipped profile). Therefore, it is not considered that the increased overall 
massing of the roof space would be so different to that previous allowed at appeal as to 
warrant refusal of the application on the basis of obscuring views of the Dingle.  
 
Whilst the site history and previous appeal decisions are material considerations, each 
application should be considered on its individual merits. The fact that the development now 
proposed differs from one which has previously been approved is not, in itself, sufficient 
grounds for refusal.  
 

Page 16



Comment: 
The enlarged roof area resulting from its increased height would appear too bulky, top heavy 
and out of proportion to the remainder of the building, with the resulting heavy roofline 
appearing unsympathetic to the character of surrounding properties.  
 
Officer Response: 
A number of properties on the street are characterised by complex roof arrangements 
incorporating staggered layouts and contrasting shapes. This is particularly true in the case of 
the adjacent property to the northwest (no. 22). The modest increase in the building’s ridge 
height and steepening of its pitch as now proposed would not result in an increase in roof 
massing which would cause the roofscape to appear unduly bulky, disproportionate or top 
heavy in comparison to the approved scheme. The development would retain the hip-roofed 
profile of the bungalow to AHRS, sloping away from street and, when considered in 
combination with its height, pitch and overall massing, the roof would not appear as a 
dominant or intrusive feature in the street scene. 
 
Comment: 
The surrounding area is characterised by mature housing set in spacious garden areas. In 
contrast, the development site is much narrower. This leads to a constricted design for the 
building and results in an overdevelopment of the site. 
 
Officer Response: 
The proposed dwellinghouse, with respect to its width and depth, would occupy the same 
footprint as the bungalow previously allowed as part of Case 8. The only changes proposed 
are to the roof space. The external areas of the site would also match those previously 
approved in terms of garden and parking space. Therefore, as permission has already been 
given for a dwelling of this size on the site, it could not be reasonably concluded that the 
current proposal represents overdevelopment. 
 
Comment: 
The development only includes one car parking space. This is insufficient provision for a four 
bedroom dwelling. 
 
Officer Response: 
The site plan allows for the provision of an elongated driveway alongside the northwest facing 
elevation of the dwellinghouse. This driveway would be of a sufficient length to accommodate 
two back-to-back car parking spaces. The provision of two, in-curtilage spaces for the 
dwellinghouse would be in accordance with the maximum standard outlined in Appendix C of 
the UDP and is, therefore, considered to be sufficient. Additional on-street parking is also 
readily available outside the property on AHRS. 
 
Comment: 
The development includes the insertion of three opening windows in the side elevation 
overlooking the gardens of properties on Parkside to the east. These windows were prohibited 
in the previous Inspector’s decision for a bungalow as they would infringe upon the privacy of 
surrounding residents. There is a lack of screening along the shared boundary with these 
houses, particularly during the winter months, meaning that this elevation of the building (at its 
tallest point) is prominently in view in the outlook from these dwellings and their garden areas. 
This has an imposing visual impact on surrounding residents on Parkside and would be 
exacerbated by the increased height and massing of the enlarged roof. It is impractical to 
introduce planting within the site along this boundary as there is insufficient space and any 
new trees would undermine the foundations of the building. 
 
Officer Response: 
The development allowed as part of Case 8 included the installation of three windows in the 
southeast facing (side) elevation of the dwellinghouse, facing towards houses on Parkside (as 

Page 17



shown in Figure 2 below). These windows were to serve a kitchen to the lower ground floor at 
the rear and a bathroom at first floor level. A condition was attached as part of the appeal to 
prohibit the insertion of any additional windows in this side elevation/roof slope in order to 
safeguard the privacy of residents on Parkside, though the three windows shown on the plans 
were allowed as part of this approval. 
 
The same window arrangement as already approved under Case 8 is proposed as part of the 
current application, and these windows would serve the same rooms. Whilst those to the lower 
ground floor would, for the most part, look onto a boundary fence with dwellings on Parkside, 
the upper floor window (serving a bathroom) does allow direct views into the rear gardens of 
these houses over a very short distance. Accordingly, a condition has been recommended 
which requires this window to be fitted with obscured glass and top or non opening lights in 
order to prevent overlooking of adjoining gardens to the southeast. A condition restricting the 
insertion of additional windows in the roof/walls on this side of the dwellinghouse has also 
been recommended.  
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Summary of site history and main issues: 
 
The site has been the subject of 11 planning applications and eight appeals. Of these appeals, 
all those involving a split level two/three storey dwellinghouse (Cases 1, 3, 7, 9 and 10) have 
been dismissed and all those involving a split level bungalow/two storey dwelling (with the 
exception of Case 2 which was dismissed for other reasons, namely the impact on a protected 
tree) have been allowed (Cases 4 and 8).  
 

The principal reason for the dismissal of the five appeals for a split level two/three storey 
dwellinghouse related to the development’s effect on the character and appearance of the 
area, with specific reference to its impact in terms of obscuring views of The Dingle to the rear 
of the site and its dominant and intrusive appearance when viewed from vantage points on 
AHRS and neighbouring dwellings on Parkside by virtue of its scale, height and massing. In 
contrast, in cases where no third storey is proposed, these issues have been considered to 
have been overcome due to the comparative reduction in scale arising from a bungalow/two 
storey building. Therefore, a clear and consistent approach has been taken by the Planning 
Inspectorate which, in essence, indicates that a single storey dwelling to AHRS will, in 
principle, be considered acceptable, whereas a two-storey dwelling to this frontage will not.  
 
Accordingly, as the proposed development is a modification of a previous scheme that has 
already been approved, it follows that the principal matters to be considered are those 
elements of the scheme which differ from that which already benefits from planning permission 
– specifically the alterations to the height and pitch of the building’s roof. 
 
Principle of development: 
 
As outlined at paragraph 14, the underpinning principle embedded within the NPPF is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. In terms of decision taking, this means: 

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; 
and 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
granting permission unless:  

o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in [the] Framework taken as a 
whole; or 

o specific policies in [the] Framework indicate development should be restricted. 
 

Page 18



Criteria (a), (b) and (c) of UDP policy H/3 state that proposals for housing development on 
sites not allocated for housing or any other use in the plan will be permitted providing that: 

 The site is located on previously developed land. 

 The site is well located in terms of access to jobs, shops and services by modes of 
transport other than the car. 

 The development provides a mix of dwellings in terms of type and size; 
 
 ‘Previously Developed Land’ is defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF as: 

 “Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 
developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage 
should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: 
land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has 
been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill purposes where 
provision for restoration has been made through development control procedures; land 
in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and 
allotments; and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the 
permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape in the 
process of time”. 

 
The land previously formed the garden area to the side of no. 22 AHRS. However, as a 
substantial part of the dwellinghouse approved as part of Case 8 has now been constructed 
on the site, it is occupied by a permanent (albeit only partially completed) structure and, 
therefore, constitutes previously developed land for the purposes of the definition in the NPPF 
and criterion (a) of UDP policy H/3.  
 
The site lies amongst mature housing in an established residential setting and is well located 
and connected to nearby urban centres in terms of access to jobs, shops and services by 
modes of transport other than private car in accordance with UDP policy H/3 (b). The 
proposed split level bungalow/two-storey house would also contribute to the mix of dwellings 
in the locality in terms of type and size in accordance with criterion (c) of policy H/3. In this 
case, the principle of residential development has been established by the issuing of two 
previous planning approvals (Cases 4 and 8). 

 
Impact on character and appearance (including The Dingle): 
 

Criteria (a) and (c) of UDP policy BE/2 require development proposals to demonstrate good 
design by: 

 Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure; 

 Taking opportunities to retain, enhance or create views, landmarks and other 
townscape features which make a material contribution to the character of the area 
and reveal such features to public view. 

 
Criterion (e) of UDP policy H/3 states that proposals for housing development on sites not 
allocated for housing or any other use in the plan will be permitted providing that: 

 The proposed development is compatible with surrounding uses, including highways, 
both in terms of its impact upon these uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon 
the amenity of future residents. 

 

Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide. 
 
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 

Page 19



 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development; 

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit;  

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation;  

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion. 

 are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping. 

Paragraph 64 of the NPPF indicates that “permission should be refused for development of 
poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality 
of an area and the way it functions.” 
 
The main issues identified in previous appeals with respect to the development’s effect on the 
character and appearance of the area concern the impact of any building’s scale, height and 
massing on: (1) views from vantage points on AHRS, having particular regard to the visual 
impact of the building’s southeast facing (side) elevation; and (2) views of an attractive 
wooded valley to the rear of the site (known locally as ‘The Dingle’) by concealing this open 
space from public view, resulting in the loss of its amenity value and a diminution in the 
contribution The Dingle makes to the sylvan quality surrounding area, particularly when 
viewed in conjunction with another wooded area on the opposite side of AHRS. 
 
Applications involving split level two/three storey dwellings on the site have been dismissed on 
the grounds that a building of this height, massing and scale would have a dominant and 
intrusive visual impact when viewed from AHRS, and would unacceptably obscure views of 
The Dingle behind. In contrast, applications seeking permission for a split level single/two 
storey house have, by virtue of their reduced height, massing, scale and roof profile, been 
adjudged to assimilate satisfactorily with the street scene and maintain adequate views of The 
Dingle. In dismissing the most recent appeal (Case 10), the Inspector highlights the 
comparative impacts between two/three storey and single/two storey dwellings on the site at 
paragraphs 9, 13, 14 and 16 as follows: 
 

 The proposal would introduce a taller form of development that would be bulkier at first 
floor level than the approved scheme. In particular it would include a substantial three 
storey element which would project rearwards into the plot giving, from oblique views 
from the road and side-on views from neighbouring properties, the appearance of a 
significantly larger structure than the approved bungalow. 

 I am aware that views of the Dingle have already been compromised by the granting of 
permission for a bungalow on the site. However, in contrast to the permitted bungalow 
which has a simple shallow hipped roof, the proposed house would result in the 
addition of a first floor and dual pitched roof with a gable facing the road. These 
elements would add to the bulk of development on the site and infill the width of the 
plot to a much greater extent at upper floor level. 

 In my view, the proposal’s greater height and more substantial roof shape would serve 
to seriously interrupt the views of the Dingle that would remain if the permitted 
bungalow were to be completed. Consequently, the overall extent to which the trees in 
the Dingle would be seen beyond the site from the road would be significantly reduced. 
This would undermine the role the Dingle plays in defining the character and 
appearance of the area. 

 Whilst the permitted bungalow would not follow the pattern of the rest of the row, I am 
not convinced that it would appear unduly at odds with the landform or the surrounding 
development, situated as it is, at the end of the row adjacent to the Dingle. I am mindful 
that the bungalow was allowed on the site as, amongst other things, it would continue 
to allow views of the Dingle from the street. In this sense, I consider that the approved 

Page 20



scheme is sensitive to the street scene and seeks to safeguard the character and 
appearance of the area. 

 
When combined with the approvals given in respect of Cases 4 and 8, the Planning 
Inspectorate has provided a clear indication that a dwellinghouse of a single/two storey height 
should not have any adverse impact on the character of the street scene or views of The 
Dingle. The current proposal differs from the approval in Case 8 only through minor increases 
to the height (400 mm) and pitch (5 degrees) of the main roof and pediment above a bay 
window to the ground floor. Figures 1 - 4 below illustrate the differences between the approved 
(1 and 2) and proposed (3 and 4) schemes when viewed from AHRS and Parkside 
respectively. The additional roof area now proposed is shown shaded in figures 3 and 4 in 
order to provide a visual comparison.  
 

      
 Figure 1 – As approved (AHRS)     Figure 2 – As approved (Parkside) 

 

      
Figure 3 – As proposed (AHRS)       Figure 4 – As proposed (Parkside) 

 

As can be seen in the illustrations above, the differences between the approved and proposed 
schemes are minor, and relate only to alterations to the height and pitch of building’s roof. It is 
not considered that these changes, either individually or cumulatively, would have a 
significantly greater visual impact in terms of their effect on the character of the street scene 
when viewed from Parkside or in obscuring views of The Dingle when seen from AHRS, so as 
to warrant refusal of the application on these grounds. 
 
Given that the marginal increase in ridge height would provide sufficient headroom to enable 
the roof space to be used as a bedroom, this may also lead to pressure from future occupiers 
to construct dormer windows in the side elevations under permitted development (i.e. without 
the need for planning permission).  Such works would introduce significant bulk at roof level 
thereby restricting views towards The Dingle.  Therefore, a condition has been recommended 
to prevent such works being carried out without planning permission.      
 

The proposed dwellinghouse, by virtue of its scale, height, massing, roof profile and design, 
would assimilate satisfactorily with the character, form and pattern of surrounding 
development, and would have no adverse impact on the appearance of the street scene. The 
scheme would have no appreciably greater impact in obscuring views of The Dingle to the 

Page 21



rear of the site when considered in comparison to the development previously allowed at 
appeal (specifically Case 8) and, therefore, would not diminish its sylvan quality that makes an 

important contribution to the character of the area. The proposed development is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3, BE/2 and the NPPF. 
 
Relationship with surrounding development: 
 
UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents. 

 
Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings.  
 
In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing 
dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations. Where 
these separation distances cannot be achieved, proposals should be “compatible with the 
density and character of surrounding development”. 
The dwellinghouse would follow the building line of adjacent properties along the eastern 
frontage of AHRS. Number 22 to the northwest occupies a slightly elevated position, with a 
circa 1.8 metre high boundary fence (mounted atop a taller retaining wall to the rear) forming 
the intervening boundary treatment between the two sites. To the rear (northeast), the land 
rises up towards the rear garden of no. 2 Dingle Road (occupying an elevated, offset position 
to the north). Vegetation associated with The Dingle intervenes between the site and the 
garden of this dwelling. With the exception of no. 1, houses on Parkside to the southeast (nos. 
1-7 adjoining the site boundary) occupy a substantially elevated aspect (circa 2.5 metres) to 
the site and are located a minimum of approximately 31 metres away. These properties 
benefit from large, elongated rear gardens which fall away in a north-westerly direction 
towards the site, to abut its south-eastern boundary. 
 
Windows are proposed in the front (southwest), rear (northeast) and side (southeast) facing 
elevations of the dwellinghouse, with those serving habitable rooms principally positioned in 
the front and rear elevations. To the southeast side (facing the gardens of houses on 
Parkside) two windows would serve a kitchen to the lower ground floor, though the outlook 
from these openings would largely be onto an intervening boundary fence with gardens of 
houses on Parkside. The upper floor window to this elevation would, however, provide an 
elevated vantage point with the potential for overlooking of adjacent garden areas over a short 
distance. However, as this window would serve a bathroom, a condition has been imposed 
requiring the opening to be fitted with obscured glass and a top or non opening light to the 
casement in order to ensure that the privacy of adjoining occupiers is not compromised. 
 
Given the degree of separation which would be achieved between the rear elevations of 
houses on Parkside and the side elevation of the new dwelling (well in excess of the 14 
metres recommended in paragraph 5.2 of the SPG), the difference in levels between these 
buildings (those on Parkside being elevated to no. 22 AHRS) and the height, massing and 
design of the proposed dwellinghouse (including its roof pitch and profile), the development 
would not have an oppressive or overbearing impact on the amenity of adjoining occupiers 
through overshadowing, loss of outlook or loss of daylight. 
 
The above assertions reflect the views of the Inspectors in respect of Cases 4 and 8 and, with 
respect to the window openings in the southeast side, the conclusions of the Inspector in Case 
10, paragraph 24 of which reads as follows:  

 Local residents in Parkside are concerned about overlooking from the proposed 
windows on the south east elevation. Whilst the houses in Parkside are in an elevated 

Page 22



position in relation to the appeal site, their rear elevations would be some distance 
from the proposal. Furthermore the appellant indicated at the Hearing that the windows 
could be obscure-glazed with restricted openings. These measures could be secured 
via a condition. As such, I consider that no undue loss of privacy would occur. 

 
Whilst the two storey element to the rear of the dwellinghouse would be visible from the rear 

elevations and garden areas of several properties on Parkside, this elevation would not appear 
as an imposing feature, would have no appreciably greater impact than the development as 
previously approved and would not harm the amenity of adjoining occupiers by diminishing 
the outlook enjoyed from the rear of these properties, either in terms of the appearance of 
the dwelling’s southeast facing side elevation or in obscuring views of The Dingle. The 
proposal is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3, BE/2 and the 
Council’s SPG “Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development”. 
 
Highways: 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development; 

c) Substantially increase congestion; 
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 
 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and 

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 
In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be “compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation. 
 
UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. 
 
The development includes the provision of two back-to-back car parking spaces within a 
driveway to extend to the front and alongside the northwestern (side) elevation of the 
dwellinghouse. Therefore, the proposal includes adequate parking provision in accordance 
with the maximum standard outlined in Appendix C of the UDP and the requirements of policy 
A/10. Additional on-street parking is also readily available along AHRS in the vicinity of the site 
and it is not considered that the level of traffic likely to be generated by a single, four-bedroom 
dwellinghouse would have any material impact on the capacity of the surrounding highway 
network. 

Page 23



 
The driveway would be accessed via a dropped crossing from AHRS to the southwest corner 
of the site, and is of a sufficient width in order to facilitate safe and convenient access and 
circulation for vehicle traffic to and from the property in accordance with UDP policy A/9. 
 
The proposed development makes adequate provision for vehicle access and parking off the 
carriageway, would not cause undue congestion or obstruction of the surrounding highway 
network and would have no adverse impact on road safety. The scheme is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3, BE/2, A/8, A/9 and A/10, and the 
NPPF. 
 
Landscaping and garden space: 
 
UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to demonstrate good design by: 

 Appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including the 
provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout. 

 
UDP policy BE/8 requires developments to incorporate landscape schemes of a high quality 
where it is necessary to: 

 Retain and integrate existing trees, planting or other landscape features (including 
areas of nature conservation or value); 

 Screen or soften a development from adjoining land, or to screen an adjoining use 
from the site; 

 Provide visual enclosure around car parking, storage or plant areas; 

 Provide a structure to the development layout to create local character and 
distinctiveness, or as a setting for individual buildings or groups of buildings; 

 Protect and enhance the setting of existing individual buildings or groups of buildings. 
 
In addition, paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should aim 
to ensure that developments: 

 Are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping. 
 
The development includes the provision of landscaped garden areas to the front and rear of 
the dwellinghouse. Due to the chamfered profile of the south-eastern boundary, the plot is of a 
smaller size than that at the adjacent property (no. 22). Nevertheless, the new dwelling would 
occupy the same elongated plot shape, the balance of hard and soft landscaped areas would 
follow the pattern of development along AHRS and the property would benefit from sufficient 
outdoor amenity space similar to that available at neighbouring dwellings to the northwest 
(nos. 22-26 AHRS).    
 
The appeal decisions issued in respect of Cases 4 and 8 referred to the introduction of 
planting alongside the southeastern boundary of the site where it abuts the rear garden areas 
of dwellings on Parkside (conditions 5 and 2 respectively). There is, however, very limited 
space for such planting to be introduced alongside this boundary and the majority of existing 
vegetation falls within the gardens of houses on Parkside. Whilst a condition requiring details 
of a landscaping scheme has been recommended, this is not intended to relate exclusively to 
the site’s southeastern boundary and relates more generally to the treatment of the site’s 
external areas of soft landscaping. It is not considered that the introduction of planting 
alongside this boundary is required in order to make the development acceptable and the 
applicant has no control over vegetation located within the garden areas of other houses 
which presently forms a screen for dwellings on Parkside and when approaching the site from 
the southeast along AHRS. Indeed, with respect to such planting, paragraph 12 of the most 
recent Inspector’s decision (Case 10) identified as follows: 

 I have considered whether planting to the boundary could be provided within the 
appeal site and secured via a condition. However, in practical terms the gap between 

Page 24



the flank wall of the proposal and the boundary is limited. Whilst I note the appellant’s 
offer to provide additional planting within neighbouring gardens, this would not be 
within his control and I have seen no evidence to indicate that neighbouring owners are 
likely to agree to such measures. 

 
The proposal would achieve appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around 
buildings, including satisfactory provision of garden space for the dwelling and an appropriate 
balance between areas of hard and soft landscaping in order to preserve the character and 
appearance of the street scene in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies BE/2 and 
BE/8, and the NPPF. 
 
Comparison with most recent application: 
 
The current submission follows the refusal of planning permission for a split level two storey 
house/dormer bungalow by members of the Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee on 
12th February 2014 (application reference 13/01294/FUL). This application was refused for two 
reasons (cited in the ‘Site History’ section above): (1) obscuring views of The Dingle; and (2) 
the design of the proposed front dormer. The current scheme differs from the refused proposal 
as follows: 
 

 The dwelling’s ridge height is 50 mm lower. 

 The front dormer has been deleted. 
 
With respect to the first reason for refusal of planning application 13/01294/FUL, it is not 
considered that the impact arising from the proposed 400 mm increase in the building’s ridge 
height and 5 degree steepening of its roof pitch in comparison to the development already 
allowed at appeal (and partially implemented) would be so different as to constitute 
sustainable grounds for the refusal of planning permission. Therefore, it is considered that the 
first reason has been overcome. The deletion of the dormer overcomes the second reason for 
refusal. 
 
Recreational Open Space: 
 
UDP policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate provision for 
recreational open space. Where off-site contributions are to be made in lieu of on-site 
provision (cases involving less than 100 bedrooms), a commuted sum payment towards the 
laying out (including 20 year maintenance maintenance) and/or improvement of off-site 
recreational open space is required. Contributions to off-site recreational open space 
(comprising elements of both local open space and outdoor sports provision) are calculated on 
the basis of the number of bedrooms being created by a development and the resulting 
demand for recreational open space arising from the occupation of the new houses. 
 
The development which is partially constructed on site (as allowed at appeal as part of Case 
8) comprised a three bedroom dwellinghouse. This development has been implemented in 
accordance with a previous permission which pre-dated the Council’s requirement for 
contributions to Recreational Open Space in accordance with UDP policy H/6 and its 
associated SPD. The current scheme proposes a four bedroom property. Given the 
implementation of the previous permission, it is considered that the off-site contribution to 
Recreational Open Space should be offset by the implemented development in order that the 
contribution is calculated on the basis of the net gain in the number of bedrooms which would 
arise under the current proposal (an increase of one). Therefore, the Council would seek 
contributions equating to that required for a one bedroom dwellinghouse – a figure of £906.36.  
 
As part of the most recent planning appeal (reference APP/P4225/A/13/2195092), the 
applicant entered into a planning obligation (dated 3rd September 2013) to secure 
contributions towards recreational open space for a five bedroom dwellinghouse (a net gain of 

Page 25



2 beds in comparison to the development implemented under Case 8). Resultantly, a 
contribution of £1812.72 was secured for this purpose and the commuted sum paid up front to 
the Council on completion of the agreement as part of the appeal process. The planning 
obligation stipulated that the Council would refund this contribution in the event that the appeal 
was dismissed. As the appeal was dismissed, this obligation is now null and void and a new 
agreement would be required in its place.  
 
As the contribution received as part of the appeal scheme has not yet been refunded by the 
Council it is, however, considered that the most appropriate way to secure the contribution 
required as part of the current development (a four bedroom dwellinghouse) is through the 
preparation of a new agreement which will retain a portion of the £1812.72 already paid to 
cover the new contribution (£906.36) and the Council’s reasonable legal costs in the 
preparation and execution of the agreement, with the residual figure then refunded to the 
applicant. The applicant has confirmed their agreement to this approach.  
 
The off-site contribution towards recreational open space is to be secured through a planning 
obligation in order to ensure compliance with the requirements of UDP policy H/6 and the SPD 
‘Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing’ in accordance with the recommended 
resolution below. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Committee resolve: 
 
That it is minded to grant planning permission subject to the conditions set out below and 
subject to the completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act in order to secure the following:- 
 

(i) A commuted sum payment for the provision (including 20 year maintenance) and/or 
improvement of off-site Recreational Open Space in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy H/6 and its associated 
Supplementary Planning Document: Provision of Recreational Open Space in New 
Housing. 

 

That the Chief Planning Officer be authorised to issue the decision notice upon completion of 
the planning obligation to secure the above purposes. 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
 
 1 This permission relates to the following plans:  
   
 Scale 1:1250 site location plan – title number MAN37955 received 10th April 2014.

  
 Scale 1:100 site plan – Proposed ground floor plan received 10th April 2014.  
 Scale 1:100 floor plans (lower ground floor, ground floor & first floor) received 10th 

April 2014.  
 Scale 1:75 elevations (front, side & rear) received 10th April 2014.  
   
 The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 

drawings.  

Page 26



 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 2 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application and the requirements of 

condition 1 of this permission, no further development shall take place until samples or 
full details of all materials to be used on the external surfaces of the dwellinghouse 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such 
details shall include the type, colour and texture of the materials. The development 
shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the duly approved materials.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 

character of surrounding buildings and the street scene in the interests of visual 
amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies 
BE/2 and H/3. 

 
 3 The dwelling hereby approved shall not be first occupied until details of the position, 

height, design, materials and finish of boundary treatments to the site have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The duly 
approved boundary treatments shall be constructed in full accordance with the 
approved details before the dwelling is first occupied, and shall be retained as such 
thereafter.  

   
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity and to 

provide adequate levels of privacy between neighbouring dwellings in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies H/3 and BE/2. 

 
 4 No further development shall take place until a landscaping scheme for the site has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a 
scheme shall include details of the type, species, siting, planting distances and the 
programme of planting of trees and shrubs. The duly approved landscaping scheme 
shall be carried out during the first planting season after the development is 
substantially completed and the areas which are landscaped shall be retained as 
landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being severely 
damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of planting shall be 
replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to 
be planted.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure a sympathetic relationship with the character and 

appearance of the street scene and to maintain the attractive ‘green’ aspect along this 
stretch of Alkrington Hall Road South in the interests of visual amenity in accordance 
with Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and BE/8, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
 5 Before the dwelling hereby approved is first occupied, a scheme for the design, 

construction (including surface treatment) and drainage of its car parking areas shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The car 
parking areas shall be constructed in accordance with the details in the duly approved 
scheme before the dwelling is first occupied, and retained as such thereafter for the 
parking of vehicles.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure there is adequate provision for vehicles to be parked clear 

of the highway, to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface water and to achieve an 
appropriate surface treatment for parking areas in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and 
A/10. 

Page 27



 
 6 Notwithstanding any details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 

condition 1 of this permission, before the dwelling hereby approved is first occupied all 
windows on its southeast facing (side) elevation shall be obscurely glazed in 
accordance with a specification which has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the first floor (bathroom) window shall be 
non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be opened are more than 1.7 
metres above the floor level of the room in which the window is installed. The duly 
installed windows shall be retained as such thereafter.  

   
 Reason: In order to safeguard the privacy of the occupiers of dwellings on Parkside to 

the southeast of the site in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development 
Plan policy H/3 and the objectives of the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Note “Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development”. 

 
 7 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B and C of the Town 

and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended), or 
any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification, no 
windows, dormer windows or roof lights (other than those expressly authorised by this 
permission) or any other additions to the roof space shall be constructed to the 
southeast and nothwest facing (side) elevations or roof slope of the dwelling hereby 
approved.  

   
 Reason: In order to safeguard the privacy of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings 

on Alkrington Hall  Road South and Parkside, and to prevent the introduction of 
additional massing within the roof space which has the potential to unacceptably 
obscure views of The Dingle in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3 and BE/2, and the objectives of the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note “Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development”. 

 
 
Report Author Matthew Taylor 

 
 
  __________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



Application Number: 14/00357/OUT    Ward: East Middleton       
 

 
Proposal: Outline application (including access only) for up to 303 dwellings and 
associated highway, landscaping, public open space and infrastructure provision 
 

Site Address: Land Off Don Street Middleton    
 

Applicant: Rock Co Asset Managers Ltd 
                  C/O Agent 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
 
DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
Members of the Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee were unanimously minded to 
refuse the application at their meeting of 30th July 2014 on the grounds that the development 
would result in the permanent loss of a large area of protected recreational open space, 
unacceptable narrowing of the Greenspace Corridor and obstruction of established public 
rights of way without adequate compensatory provision being made elsewhere within the site, 
in conflict with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies G/3 and G/8, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
The application has been referred to the Licencing and Regulatory Committee as this 
recommendation is considered to conflict with the site’s identification as a strategic site for 
housing in the Council’s Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment and Submission Core 
Strategy. The proposal also represents a departure from the Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan. 
 

Page 29



Members of the Licencing and Regulatory Committee have delegated powers to approve or 
refuse the application based on reasonable planning grounds. 
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to an expanse of land measuring a total of circa 13.15 hectares in area 
running between the A669 (Oldham Road) to the south, the embankment of the Rochdale to 
Manchester railway way to the east, the urban fringe of Boarshaw (Glenwood Drive/Hereford 
Way) to the north and the highway of Hilton Fold Lane to the west. The land forms a broadly P-
shaped site dissected by the channel of the River Irk and is subdivided into separate parcels of 
varying landscape character. 
 
Land to the south of the River Irk includes a rectangular, two-storey industrial building (Hexpol) 
to the southwest corner, a millpond to the north of this and a service yard/trailer parking area to 
the east of the building extending to the rear of terraced houses on Oldham Road (nos. 531-
553). Further to the east, two rows of terraced houses (nos. 555-605 Oldham Road) back onto 
a group of allotments adjoining a triangular area of woodland which falls away in a northerly 
direction towards the River Irk. This woodland is flanked by a narrow footpath to the east 
(MidFp52) and a wider lane to the west (MidRUpp51) which converge at a recreational right of 
way (MidRUpp50) running in a northerly direction up to Scowcroft Farm located to the 
northeast corner (and outside) of the site. This route crosses a bridge over the River Irk. This 
circa 4.5 hectare parcel of the site is allocated as a Primary and Mixed Employment Zone on 
the Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Proposals Map and its eastern section falls within a site 
identified for employment development in accordance with UDP policy EC/8. 
 
The remaining land to the north of the river (an area of circa 8.65 hectares) includes a stretch 
of scattered woodland running alongside its northern bank, the northernmost section of Don 
Street beyond its junction with the site access into British Vita, and a cleared area of ground to 
either side of Don Street – the former site of Rex Mill. Don Street then merges with a narrow 
track running in an easterly direction through Scowcroft Woods up to Scowcroft Farm. 
Scowcroft Woods falls outside the site boundaries and forms a natural buffer with houses set at 
a higher level on Glenwood Drive. With the exception of Scowcroft Woods, these areas of the 
site fall within allocated employment zones on the UDP Proposals Map. A parcel of open 
grassland to the northeast corner of the site defines the site of a former playing field and is 
allocated as Protected Recreational Open Space on the UDP Proposals Map. This designation 
also extends into Scowcroft Woods. The playing field is now disused and this area of the site is 
characterised by tall grasses. The site narrows to its western end (onto Hilton Fold Lane) and 
comprises a cleared area of bare ground – the former Dale House Site – straddling the 
northern side of the river channel, with a steep banking and wooded areas (Scowcroft Woods 
and Little Green) providing a buffer with houses to the north on Hereford Way. Much of this 
area falls within flood zones 2 and/or 3 on the Environment Agency’s Flood Map and, with the 
exception of the woodland (designated as Protected Recreational Open Space), is unallocated 
in the UDP.  
 
Levels across the site broadly follow the profile of a V-shaped valley, with ground level falling 
away in a northerly direction from Oldham Road towards the lowest point of the river corridor 
before rising beyond its northern bank towards Scowcroft Woods, Glenwood Drive and 
Hereford Way. Areas to either side of Don Street (the former Rex Mill) and across the former 
Dale House site merging with Hilton Fold Lane are generally flat. 
 
At present, parts of the land can be accessed (either by pedestrian or vehicular means) via one 
of four openings from Oldham Road: Don Street; site access into Hexpol; an opening between 
nos. 553 and 555 Oldham Road; or a footpath and staircase to the east side of no. 605. Access 
from Glenwood Drive and Hereford Way to the north of the site is solely by pedestrian means 
and an existing opening between Kingdom Hall and A & G Fencing onto the Dale House site 
from Hilton Fold Lane does not allow through access onto the former Rex Mill land. A network 

Page 30



of footpaths, including four recreational rights of way, follow paths and tracks of varying widths 
running through the site alongside the river corridor, off Don Street and through Scowcroft 
Woods and up towards Scowcroft Farm and under a railway bridge. 
 
Surrounding uses include a ribbon of terraced housing along the northern (nos. 531-605) and 
southern (nos. 454-506 and 530- 566) frontages of Oldham Road, industrial uses at Hexpol 
and British Vita to the southeast of the site around Don Street, a strip of open space flanking a 
railway embankment to the east leading up to Scowcroft Farm (which includes a grade II listed 
farmhouse to the northeast corner of the farmyard) and lower-density (predominantly semi-
detached) housing forming the urban fringe of Boarshaw located beyond intervening woodland 
to the north. The river Irk and flanking greenspace provides a buffer between the site and 
terraced housing off Hilton Fold Lane to the western end, and also with the British Via site. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application seeks outline permission for a residential development of up to 303 dwellings 
on the site. The application seeks approval of access only, with the layout, scale and external 
appearance of the dwellings being reserved for a later stage, along with the landscaping of the 
site. The application also includes the formation of a new highway through the site to provide a 
link road running for a distance of some 950 metres in a general north/northwesterly direction 
between its junctions with Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane.  This access road includes land 
within the ownership of the Council and another third party.  The access points to the link road 
(which would form the only means of vehicle access into the site) would be: 
 

1. Via an existing entrance (as upgraded) to the Hexpol site from Oldham Road to the 
west side of no. 531 Oldham Road. 

2. Via an existing opening (as upgraded) to the former Dale House site onto Hilton Fold 
Lane between Kingdom Hall and A & G Fencing. 

 
An indicative masterplan shows four principal housing locations within the site as follows: 
 

1. 10 dwellings to the west side of the access from Oldham Road and to the front (south) 
of the existing Hexpol building, including the demolition of the existing flat-roofed 
section to the southeast corner of the industrial building. 

2. 74 dwellings on land to the east of the link road between the rear of nos. 531 - 605 
Oldham Road and the southern bank of the River Irk. 

3. 170 dwellings on land to the east of the link road between the northern bank of the 
River Irk and the southern edge of Scowcroft Woods, and flanking the lane 
approaching Scowcroft Farm to the east (MidRupp50). 

4. 49 dwellings to the western end bisected by the new link road and running between 
land to the north of the British Vita site (across the channel of the Irk) and Scowcroft 
Woods. 

 
The masterplan also indicates: 
 

 Alterations to the carriageway of Oldham Road along a 120 metre long stretch to the 
front of nos. 470-506 Oldham Road (southern frontage) and nos. 531-549 Oldham 
Road (northern frontage), including: 

o The introduction of waiting restrictions along both frontages of the carriageway 
and around the junction of the site access with Oldham Road; 

o Provision of a dedicated right hand turning lane into the site and central ‘ghost 
island’ refuge approaching this; 

o Pedestrian crossings over the carriageway of Oldham Road and an island to 
the centre of the site access at the junction with Oldham Road. 

Page 31



 The provision of open space on the site at various locations, including a Multi Use 
Games Area, two Local Areas for Play, footpaths alongside the river corridor and other 
urban amenity open space. 

 A new bridge over the River Irk as part of the link road. 

 The provision of dedicated allotment plots to the rear of nos. 555-605 Oldham Road. 

 The subdivision of the existing car park to the rear of the Old Cock Inn to provide a 
dedicated 26 space car park for residents of 476-502 Oldham Road, including a new 
access from Damson Green and the provision of a further 16 car parking spaces to the 
side/rear of nos. 555-581 Oldham Road. 

 
It should, however, be noted that the masterplan is for indicative purposes, with access being 
the only matter applied for. The matter of access is defined in the Development Management 
Procedure Order to mean “the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and 
pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how 
these fit into the surrounding access network.” The layout of the dwellings and open spaces is 
for illustrative purposes only. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Policy Guidance 
 
The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate. 
 
Core Strategy (unadopted): 
 
SP3/M  The Strategy for Middleton 
E3  Focusing on Economic Growth Corridors and Areas 
C2  Focusing on regeneration areas and economic growth corridors / areas 
G6  Enhancing green infrastructure 
 
Unitary Development Plan:  
 
G/D/1  Defined Urban Area 
 
G/G/1  Greenspace 
G/2  Standards for Recreational Open Space 
G/3  Protection of Recreational Open Space 
G/4  New Provision of Local Open Space 
G/7  Protection of Allotments 
G/8 (A – D) Greenspace Corridors 
 
G/H/1  Housing 
H/3   Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas 

Page 32



H/6  Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development 
H/7 Affordable Housing 
 
G/EC/1 Employment Land Supply 
EC/2  Primary Employment Zones 
EC/3  Mixed Employment Zones 
EC/8(f)  Development Sites in Employment Zones  
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/3  New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/4  New Development – Access for Cyclists 
A/8   New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9  New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10  New Development – Provision of Parking 
A/11  New Development – Transport Assessments 
A/13  Local Walking Route Network 
A/17  Bus Interchange and Bus/Rail Interchange 
A/19  New Railway Stations 
 
G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy 
RE/6  Recreational Rights of Way 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2  Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/8  Landscaping in new Development 
 
G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage 
BE/10  Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments 
BE/15  New Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building 
 
G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/2  Pollution 
EM/3  Noise and New Development 
EM/4  Contaminated Land 
EM/7  Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8  Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
EM/9  Development Involving Unstable Land 
 
G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation 
EM/13  Energy Efficiency and New Development 
 
G/NE/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance 
NE/3  Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4  Protected Species 
 
G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands 
NE/6  Landscape Protection and Enhancement 
NE/8  Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD 
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG 
Energy and New Development SPD 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD 
Affordable Housing SPD 

Page 33



SITE HISTORY 
 

 93/D30026 (Rex Mill) – Change of use from factory to warehouse – Approved. 

 95/D32486 – Erection of factory with associated offices external plant loading areas 
and upgrading of existing access and formation of car parking area – Approved. 

 95/D32557 – Formation of 2 artificial grass five-a-side soccer pitches with associated 
car parking  erection of 12' high perimeter fencing  installation of 8m high floodlights 
and siting of mobile structures for changing rooms  showers  toilets and offices – 
Refused. 

 96/D33173 – Erection of factory with associated offices – Approved. 

 05/D46540 – Erection of 24 industrial units – Approved. 

 06/D47320 – Erection of 5 office blocks (4 two-storey units and 1 three storey unit) – 
Approved. 

 09/D52421 (Dale House) – Residential development comprising 25 dwellings – 
Pending decision. 

 13/00740/OUT – Outline application (including access only) for 303 dwellings and 
associated highway, landscaping, public open space and infrastructure provision – 
Withdrawn. 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering: - No objections. Comments as follows:  

 The application includes a significant and essential improvement to the transport 
network through the introduction of new link road between Oldham Road and Hilton 
Fold Lane. The size, alignment and character of the road will provide a suitable 
alternative route which will alleviate congestion at the existing signalised junction of 
Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane. This stretch of the network (including the existing 
junction) is predicted to be operating beyond capacity by 2018. Whilst the proposed 
dwellings would increase traffic generation in the locality, this will be offset by the 
proposed link road which, moreover, will reduce congestion of the surrounding highway 
network elsewhere. It is essential that the link road is introduced and made available 
for use before all of the dwellings are occupied. 

 The site access onto the existing highway has been modelled and the junctions have 
sufficient capacity to accommodate the level of traffic likely to be generated by the 
proposed development. 

 The indicative masterplan shows adequate parking provision for the development and 
also provides a dedicated parking area for a number of properties on Oldham Road. 
This will help to reduce on-street parking pressures on the highway. 

 No public right of way will be obstructed by the development, though some may require 
diversion. This will become apparent at the detailed design stage. 

 The proposed development will not have a detrimental impact on highway safety. 
Indeed, the provision of additional, essential infrastructure in the form of the link road 
would have the effect of alleviating congestion along Oldham Road. 

 Conditions should be attached to any permission granted requiring: (1) submission of a 
phasing plan to indicate the timing for delivery of each phase of housing and the link 
road; (2) the introduction of a self-enforcing 20 mph zone along all highways within the 
estate. 

 
United Utilities (UU): - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 The site should be drained on separate systems with foul water draining to the public 
sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way in accordance with the 
hierarchy identified in the Building Regulations.  

 No surface water from the development should be discharged either directly or 
indirectly to the combined sewer network. The site should be drained on a separate 

Page 34



system with only foul drainage connected to the foul sewer. Surface water should 
discharge to the nearby watercourse. 

 Public sewers cross the site and should not be built over. UU will require an access 
strip to either side of the central line of any sewer. Deep rooted shrubs and trees 
should not be planted in the vicinity of the public sewer and overflow systems. 

 A 15ʺ water main runs close to the eastern boundary of the site. An access strip of 10 
metres (5 metres to either side of the centreline of the main) will be required for 
maintenance. Any necessary disconnection or diversion required as a result of any 
development will be carried out at the developer's expense. 
 

Design for Security: - No objections. The proposed housing scheme is an appropriate form of 
development in this area from a crime prevention perspective. Any reserved matters 
application which seeks approval of layout should be accompanied by a crime impact 
statement. 
 
National Grid: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 A Major Accident Hazard Pipeline (MAHP) – ‘Middleton – Mills Hill’ is located in the 
vicinity of the site. The pipeline is laid in a legally negotiated easement and it is 
essential that access to it is not restricted. Therefore, there must be no obstructions 
within the pipeline’s maintenance easement strip which would limit or inhibit essential 
maintenance works on the pipeline. The Building Proximity Distance (BPD) for the 
pipeline is 15.5 metres. This is the minimum distance recommended by National Grid 
between the pipeline and any 'normally occupied' building. The Masterplan appears to 
indicate that a proposed link road will be positioned over the pipeline. It is likely that 
impact protection slabbing will need to be installed over the pipeline. In order to assess 
the effects of any new road construction it will be necessary for more detailed 
information to be provided by the applicant. 

 The development is located in close proximity to a High Voltage Transmission 
Overhead Line. The proposed development should not interfere with this apparatus. 
Therefore, there are no objections on these grounds. 

 
Health and Safety Executive (HSE) – No objections. Comments as follows: 

 HSE does not advise, on safety grounds, against the granting of planning permission. 
As the proposed development is within the consultation distance of a major hazard 
pipeline the pipeline’s operator should be contacted before a decision is made. 

 
Contaminated Land Officer: - A condition should be attached to any permission requiring 
submission of an intrusive site investigation and remediation strategy before any development 
take place. 
 
Conservation and Design: - No objections. 
 
Environment Agency: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 The submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is acceptable in principle for the outline 
application. A more detailed surface water drainage strategy will be required as part of 
any application for reserved matters in order to demonstrate that the rate of surface 
water run-off from the site would not exceed existing (greenfield) rate. It will be 
necessary to provide suitable storage for excess run-off as a means of attenuation in 
order to achieve this. 

 The FRA identifies a small overflow from the Rochdale Canal which enters a culvert 
and discharged into the River Irk. No buildings should be positioned over the line of 
this culvert. Opening up the culvert to create an open channel would be encouraged if 
feasible. 

 Conditions should be attached to any permission granted requiring: (1) submission of a 
scheme to regulate surface water run-off from the development in order that this does 

Page 35



not exceed the current (greenfield) rate of surface water discharge from the site; (2) 
details of finished floor levels for each plot; and (3) a scheme showing how the existing 
northern tributary watercourse/culvert (including details of its precise route, size, depth 
and condition) will be incorporated into the development. 

 
Environmental Health Officer (EHO): No objections. Comments as follows: 

 A condition should be imposed restricting hours of construction to between 08:00 and 
18:00 Monday to Friday and 09:00 and 14:00 on Saturdays. No work should take place 
on Sundays. 

 Houses bordering Oldham Road (plots 294-303 on the submitted masterplan) should 
be designed and constructed to ensure that noise from passing traffic on Oldham Road 
does not exceed: 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut and other 
means of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; 30dB(A) Leq (1 hour) in other 
habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation provided at all 
times; 45 dB(A) Lmax in all habitable rooms. A verification report should be submitted 
on completion of the dwellings in order to demonstrate that these levels have been 
achieved.  

 
Environmental Management (refuse collection): - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 The masterplan shows restricted access to properties with a frontage onto the river 
(plots 12-19 and 41-49) and plots 189-194 and 199-212. This would mean that refuse 
vehicle would either need to reverse for a considerable distance along the proposed 
routes or residents would be required to bring bins to a collection point. 

 
 
Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: Comments as follows: 

 The provisions of S63 of the Greater Manchester Act (1981) will be applicable to the 
scheme. This will enable the Fire Authority to request additional provisions for access 
for the Fire Service when proposals are submitted for Building Regulation approval. 

 
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): Comments as follows: 

 The proposed development would impact upon an area which includes several sites 
recorded on the Historic Environment Record (HER) – specifically Rex Mill and Don 
Mill. Both mills were demolished in the 20th century. The HER also identified other sites 
of the 19th and early 20th century including a brick works, areas of worker’s housing, 
other early nineteenth century houses, mill leats and weirs. Therefore, it is 
recommended that the application be supported by a desk-based archaeological 
assessment in order to determine the impact of the proposals upon the archaeological 
and historic interest of the site. 

 Given that this is an application for outline permission, if the Local Planning Authority 
are minded to grant permission in the absence of an independent archaeological 
assessment, a condition should be attached to any permission granted requiring that a 
programme of archaeological works be undertaken. This would include a desk-based 
documentary study, a walkover survey and, where appropriate, a building survey. This 
would then be followed by targeted field evaluation trenching which could lead to 
targeted open area excavation. 

 
Natural England: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 The site is located in close proximity to the Rochdale Canal Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI). This SSSI forms part of the Rochdale Canal Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). The proposal is not likely to have a significant effect on the 
interest features for which Rochdale Canal has been classified. Therefore, the 
authority is not required to undertake an Appropriate Assessment to assess the 
implications of this proposal on the site’s conservation objectives.  

Page 36



 The proposed development will not damage or destroy the interest features for which 
the Rochdale Canal SSSI has been notified. Therefore, the SSSI does not represent a 
constraint in determining this application. 

 The development site includes areas of priority habitat, as listed on Section 41 of the 
Natural Environmental and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006. The Local Authority 
should ensure it has sufficient information to fully understand the impact of the 
proposal on the local site before it determines the application. 

 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU): - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 The application site is not designated for its nature conservation value although it is 
close (within 150m) to the Rochdale Canal Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and 
there is connectivity with the nearby River Irk Marsh Site of Biological Importance 
(SBI). The site is unlikely to support any specially protected species (except foraging 
bats) but it does support locally important habitats including marshy grassland, 
broadleaved woodland, ponds and a major water course (River Irk). Together these 
habitats form an important area of Green Infrastructure for this area of Rochdale and 
they will support locally important wildlife. 

 The proposed development has some potential to impact on the special interest of the 
Rochdale Canal SAC and, in particular, the River Irk Marsh SBI because there is 
potential hydrological connectivity between the site and the Canal and much of the 
surface water drainage for the site will be directed into the Irk. It should be possible to 
ensure that no surface water from the scheme, both during the construction and 
operational periods of the development, reaches the Canal and therefore that any 
impacts on the special interest of the SAC can be avoided. In terms of potential impact 
on the river course I would recommend that a condition is attached to any approval 
requiring submission of a comprehensive method statement giving details of how the 
water quality and habitat value of the water course will be properly protected during the 
course of construction, in order to protect both the water course crossing the site and 
the water course down-stream of the development site.   

 The development will result in the loss of or significant modification of areas of marshy 
grassland, broadleaved woodland, ponds and the River Irk. These are important 
habitats in a Greater Manchester and district context and the River Irk is an important 
green corridor, linking semi-natural greenspaces in urban and suburban areas. The 
Masterplan for the development shows a ‘woodland’ corridor in the north of the site and 
shows the river corridor as retained and enhanced but these corridors will be much 
narrower than existing, with apparent ‘pinch points’ where the corridors will be reduced 
to tens of metres in width. The outline proposal suggests that improvements in the 
quality of habitats within retained areas of greenspace will compensate for quantitative 
habitat losses. However, this is unlikely as retained greenspace will be multi-functional 
(acting as recreational and amenity space for the new housing development as well as 
wildlife habitat). Any application for reserved matters should allow for the retention of 
more greenspace, particularly along the river course and the woodland corridor in the 
north, in the interests of nature conservation and details of the design and future 
management of the retained greenspace areas are very important. The following 
conditions should be attached to any permission granted: 

o No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft 
landscape proposals have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. These details must include proposals for habitat creation 
and enhancement, planting plans and schedules of plants. Once approved 
landscape works must be implemented in full. 

o No development shall take place until a habitat and landscape management 
plan, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas (other than small, privately 
owned, domestic gardens) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. Once approved the plan must be implemented in full. 

Page 37



o Retained trees, waterbodies, water courses and greenspace should be properly 
protected during the course of any development. 

o The application site supports a number of invasive plant species controlled 
under the terms of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). A 
method statement is required giving details of measures to be taken to control 
these plant species. Once agreed this method statement must be implemented 
in full.  

o Any site clearance or groundworks should commence outside of the optimum 
period for bird nesting / mammal breeding (March to July inclusive). 

 
The incorporation of further areas of marshy/wet grassland would be useful, both in 
habitat terms and as SUDs to mitigate the effect of surface water drainage into the Irk.  

 

Network Rail: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 The proposed development is a quarter of a mile from Mills Hill Railway Station. Many 
stations and routes are already operating close to capacity and a significant increase in 
patronage may create the need for upgrades to the existing infrastructure including 
improved signalling, passing loops, car parking, improved access arrangements or 
platform extensions.  As Network Rail is a publicly funded organisation with a regulated 
remit it would not be reasonable to require Network Rail to fund rail improvements 
necessitated by commercial development.  It is therefore appropriate to require 
developer contributions to fund such railway improvements. Given the site’s proximity 
to Mills Hill Railway Station, the developer should make a financial contribution in order 
to mitigate the impact of increased footfall to the railway station from the 303 dwellings 
proposed. This should comprise: 

o £100,000 for two new shelters; 
o £20,000 for extra platform seating; 
o £75,00 for car park resurfacing and painting; 
o £25,000 for a Transmission Voice Machine. 

 A minimum 1.8 metre high trespass proof fence should be erected by the developer 
adjacent to the boundary with the railway to prevent any unauthorised access onto 
Network Rail land. Network Rail’s existing fencing / wall must not be removed or 
damaged and any fencing installed by the applicant must not prevent Network Rail 
from maintaining its own fencing/boundary treatment. 
 

Strategic Housing: - Comments as follows: 

 If the development was to deliver an equal split of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom houses, and 
based on comparable property prices in the area, the scheme would return an 
estimated New Homes Bonus (NHB) of £349,829 for the first year, with a total payment 
over six years of £2,089,975. 

 The NHB is paid annually over a period of six years from the start of the programme 
and is only payable from properties completed before the end of the programme. The 
present year (2014/15) is the fourth year of the programme. Therefore, the level of 
payment received from NHB as mentioned above would be dependent on: (1) the rate 
of completions on site; and (2) the potential for the programme being extended beyond 
its existing six-year timeframe. 

 
Quantity Surveyor (QS): - Comments as follows: 

 Following appraisal of estimated costs and revenues for the development (having 
regard to both the applicant’s submission and the Council’s own estimates), the 
scheme is unlikely to achieve the minimum margin at which the developer’s return is 
acceptable in the market for the risk in undertaking the development (normally between 
18-20% of Gross Development Value (GDV) is considered to represent a competitive 
return for a willing landowner and willing developer to make the development 
deliverable). Present figures suggest that the maximum margin would equate to 15.22 
per cent of GDV. 

Page 38



 Using present estimates, the scheme would not be required to make any off-site 
financial contributions as part of a planning obligation. This is, however, based on 
theoretical figures which are subject to change based on economic and site-specific 
circumstances (e.g. market fluctuations, ground conditions etc.) which are presently 
unknown. Therefore, any planning obligation should include overage clauses requiring 
any future developer to carry out further appraisals at or near to completion in order to 
establish actual (rather than theoretical) figures and, accordingly, the need for financial 
contributions at a later date. 

 
Rights of Way Officer: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 A number of rights of way fall within the development site. During and following the 
development the surface of these routes should not be disturbed, altered or obstructed. 
The rights of way should remain undisturbed and available for use during and after the 
development unless an application (or applications) is made to divert or temporarily 
close these routes beforehand (including any required reinstatement to an agreed 
standard). 

 
Schools Service: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 The Township of Middleton is experiencing an increase in pupil numbers at both 
primary and secondary level and this trend is predicted to continue in the future. The 
proposed development will increase demand for places in schools that are already full 
(or expected to be full) and, accordingly, a financial contribution towards the provision 
of additional school places should be sought as part of the application. The national 
estimate is 3 pupils per year group (3 x 12 year groups) per 100 houses at an 
approximate cost of £11,000 per new pupil place. Applying this formula, the proposed 
development of 303 dwellings would attract a financial contribution of £1,199,880 
(equating to £3,960 per dwelling) for this purpose. 

 
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM): - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 The site is well located in relation to public transport being within reasonable walking 
distance (approximately 400 metres) of bus stops on Oldham Road which provide 
access to regular services to Middleton, Manchester, Chadderton, Oldham and 
Rochdale. Mills Hill Railway Station is located within 800-900 metres of the site and 
provides regular rail services between Manchester, Rochdale and Leeds. Future 
residents would therefore have access to a choice of travel modes which should help 
to reduce the amount of car travel generated by the development. 

 In order to maximise the benefits of the site’s location and to encourage walking and 
cycling, the pedestrian and cycling environment within and around the site should be 
designed to be as safe, attractive and convenient as possible, including natural 
surveillance from the development where possible (with particular attention to 
walking/cycling routes through the site leading on to Mills Hill Railways Station and bus 
stops on Oldham Road. Clarification should be sought at reserved matters stage as to 
what pedestrian/cycle infrastructure would be provided as a result of the development 
and natural surveillance should be improved in order that the layout of any scheme 
incorporates active travel routes within the design. 

 The transport assessment includes the provision of a new bus stop and shelter on the 
eastbound carriageway of Oldham Road in close proximity to Don Street. This should 
be provided in accordance with TfGM’s design guidelines. 

 
Strategic Planning: - Comments as follows: 
 
The site is covered by a number of UDP designations. The majority of the site is designated as 
an Employment Zone (both Primary and Mixed) with two specific allocations. These are policy 
EC/2 which relates to a Primary Employment Zone on the east of the site and policy EC/3 
which is a Mixed Employment Zone which relates to the former Rex Mill site at the west of the 
site. The remaining land which forms the north east portion of the site is designated as 

Page 39



Protected Recreational Open Space (policy G/3) and Greenspace Corridor (policy G/8). The 
UDP proposals map also indicates a recreational right of way running along the northern edge 
of the site and shows that areas either side of the watercourse are within flood zones. 
 
Employment land 
 
The policy relating to Primary Employment Zones only allows development for industrial, 
business and warehouse uses with other uses only allowed if they are ancillary.  Clearly this 
proposal is not in accordance with this and therefore must be treated as a departure.  The 
policy relating to Mixed Employment Zones is more flexible in that it supports a wider range of 
uses and allows alternative uses if certain criteria are met.  However, such proposals, 
particularly in this instance where it is redevelopment for residential use, do need to be 
justified. 
 
Although the redevelopment of the employment designations is not in the main supported by 
local policy, we do need to consider this in light of the NPPF.  Paragraph 22 of NPPF states 
that: 
 
“Planning policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for employment use 
where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for that purpose. Land allocations 
should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for 
the allocated employment use, applications for alternative uses of land or buildings should be 
treated on their merits having regard to market signals and the relative need for different land 
uses to support sustainable local communities.” 
 
The two employment land allocations within the site have been in existence for some time.  
The larger of the two sites related to the expansion of the existing British Vita sites and given 
current market signals there would appear little likelihood of this happening.  It is for this 
reason that the owners of the site, who are British Vita, have come up with these alternative 
proposals.  The site of Rex Mill has had planning permission for employment development in 
the past but this has never been realised, presumably again due to the commercial viability of 
any scheme. 
 
It would therefore appear that the proposal should be considered against paragraph 22 of 
NPPF.  Therefore, it is our view that the redevelopment of the employment designations within 
the site could be supported and it would also assist in delivering a key objective of NPPF 
which is to boost housing supply. 
 
Greenspace Corridor / Recreational Open Space 
 
Greenspace Corridor runs along the north and east of the site, and widens considerably in the 
northeast of the site, and these areas are also designated as Existing Recreational Open 
Space. Although the application is outline, the principles of building on these areas should be 
assessed, and we also note that an indicative site plan and a landscaping plan have been 
submitted as part of this application, and therefore feel that comments on these are relevant.   
 
Policy G/8 does not allow proposals which would lead to an unacceptable narrowing or 
division of a Greenspace Corridor, or which would harm the landscape qualities and character 
of the Corridor, as well as its amenity value where it provides welcome visual relief from the 
urban area. The proposals are contrary to this policy, showing the loss of a significant amount 
of the Greenspace Corridor, including its unacceptable narrowing and effective division.  
 
A much more substantial green corridor than is shown should be left, logically along the north 
of the site, more effectively buffering Scowcroft Woods from the new development, and 
connecting in a more meaningful way with the Greenspace Corridor areas to the east of the 
site. There also needs to be a more substantial corridor left along either side of the River Irk, 

Page 40



taking into account flooding issues. Additionally, formal landscaping would be inappropriate in 
these areas, particularly along the river corridor – they should be maintained in a naturalised 
state, in accordance with advice from the Ecology Unit (see G/8(B)). Additionally, policy G/3 
requires compensation for the loss of Existing Recreational Open Space. 
 
Any reserved matters application should address these issues, and be accompanied by a 
detailed landscape plan showing greenspace that will also effectively manage flood risk issues 
and include appropriate Sustainable Urban Drainage.   
 
Housing 
 
Providing that the issues raised above are addressed, the principal of housing is accepted on 
this site.  It is therefore necessary to consider the related policy requirements. 
 
Policy H/3 of the UDP sets out a list of criteria for all residential developments outside 
allocated areas.  Criteria a) requires that developments are on previously developed land.  
However, since the UDP was adopted national guidance and the need to maintain a 
deliverable five year supply of housing land means that more flexibility is required in 
considering appropriate, sustainable housing sites.  Given the fact that part of the site is 
brownfield and most of the site was earmarked for employment development, it is considered 
that this proposal would be acceptable.  In terms of Existing Recreational Open Space, as 
stated above the loss of this open space must be appropriately compensated for and other 
areas of open space maintained and/or enhanced.  The other criteria under H/3 deal with 
location, housing mix, access and amenity.  The location of the site is sustainable and has 
good access to amenities and has excellent public transport links.  The number of dwellings 
on the site will make it able to provide a mix of housing including types which are currently in 
short supply in this area of Middleton i.e. larger detached properties.  In terms of access and 
the amenity of residents these issues will be addressed taking account of the views of 
highways and development management. 
 
The open space requirement for new housing as detailed in policy H/6 (Provision of 
Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development) may be adequately met by the 
Public Open Space shown on the indicative plans, although this should be checked against 
the requirements of the Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD. 
 
Since the development is for 15 or more dwellings the provision of affordable housing will be 
required.  More detail regarding the requirement is set out within the Council’s adopted 
Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document. 
 
Transport & Accessibility 
 
There is an expectation that the east of the site would include a Rail Park & Ride facility with 
access to Oldham Road and Mills Hill Railway Station. There is substantial competition for on-
street parking between local residents and rail passengers and this site provides an 
opportunity to alleviate this. These outline proposals have not included this. 
 
The Council has aspirations to establish a strategic off road cycle route between Middleton TC 
via Mills Hill Railway station to Oldham. It is regrettable that this outline submission has not 
included cycle facilities through the site despite it being a priority in the accessibility hierarchy 
both in the UDP and the Core Strategy. 
 
It is considered that provision of a through road as previously suggested to serve the 303 
dwelling development between Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane improves access, but 
there remain concerns whether the access to / from Oldham Road will have sufficient capacity 
to accommodate the additional development traffic without some improvement. There is 
potential for long delays for traffic turning right on to and off Oldham Road. The same applies 

Page 41



to access on to Oldham Road to / from Hilton Fold Lane and improvements to both of these 
priority junctions should be considered. 
 
There is a network of Public Rights of Way across the site including a mix of Footpaths and 
restricted byway. The applicant will be expected to incorporate these into the site design and 
contribute to any works to remove obstructions / carry out repairs to bring these up to legally 
required standards.  
 
Sport England: - Object to the application. Comments as follows: 

 The development site includes a disused playing field which, according to the 
applicant, has not been used since the year 2000. Information provided to Sport 
England suggests that the playing field has been used for football matches more 
recently than this. However, it cannot be clearly demonstrated that it has been used 
within the last 5 years and, whilst the field is designated as Protected Recreational 
Open Space in the UDP, the land is not allocated as a playing field. Therefore, the 
application does not appear to meet the criteria for statutory consultation with Sport 
England as set out in The Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2010 (Statutory Instrument 2010 No.2184). Sport England 
therefore regards this as a non-statutory consultation. 

 The disused playing field is located to the north east of the application site. Google 
Earth images show the last known pitch markings were a senior football pitch and a 
junior football pitch, with a small pavilion to the south and a hard standing to the east.  
The hardstanding appears to have been used at one time as tennis courts, but possibly 
also as a car park.  The proposed development would lead to a loss of the entire 
playing field. Although the playing field appears not to have been used for some time, it 
is still the case that the planning use of the land is for playing fields.  This use has not 
expired, nor has it been dimmed by its apparent period of inactivity in such use. Given 
that the playing field has not been rendered incapable of playing field use by the 
carrying out of some other lawful development, it is capable of being brought back into 
active use. Supporting information refers to the playing field as being privately owned.  
However, this does not affect the protection offered to the playing field by planning 
policy. Sport England’s playing field policy states that “Sport England will oppose the 
granting of planning permission for any development which would lead to the loss of, or 
would prejudice the use of, all or any part of a playing field, or land last used as a 
playing field in an adopted or draft deposit local plan, unless, in the judgement of Sport 
England, one of the specific circumstances applies”. 

 Sport England has consulted the Football Association on this planning application. In 
brief, the FA stated that they understood that British Vita formerly used the site and 
they had football teams playing in the South East Lancashire League. They also noted 
that local teams are tending to turn to pitches on private grounds and schools to use for 
football due to the prices of local authority pitches being raised over the last couple of 
years. The FA is of the view that the playing field has not been demonstrated as being 
surplus to requirements, and wish to raise an objection unless a suitable mitigation 
could be agreed with Lancashire FA. 

 The planning application would result in the permanent loss of playing field land and 
represents an irretrievable loss of a resource for pitch team sports. The proposal does 
not accord with Sport England’s playing field policy or any of the five exceptions within 
it which would otherwise allow development of a playing field. The proposal would be 
contrary to the requirements of paragraph 74 of the NPPF and UDP policy G/3. 
Therefore, Sport England object to the application. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development, is a departure from the UDP 
and has the potential to affect the setting of a listed building and public rights of way, notices 
have also been posted on the site and in the local press. A total of 19 letters have been 
received in objection to the application, with one further letter of representation declaring a 
neutral stance. The points made in the letters, followed by officer responses, are summarised 
as follows: 
 
Objection: 
 
Residents on Oldham Road already suffer as a result of traffic congestion on the highway and 
parking demand arising from their close proximity to Mills Hill Railway Station. This makes it 
very difficult to park on the road outside existing houses. The new housing development would 
exacerbate this situation by generating further traffic along Oldham Road which would be 
detrimental to road safety and increase the potential for vehicle and pedestrian accidents. 
Improvements are needed to the existing road network and access onto Oldham Road, 
particularly when turning right out of the site, if this is to accommodate the anticipated volume 
of traffic and operate safely. 
 
If the link road through to Hilton Fold Lane is not completed during the development’s early 
stages this will result in one way into and out of the site which would cause further capacity 
issues on Oldham Road. However, the delivery of the link road would also result in this being 
used as a shortcut and create a danger for residents. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
The development includes a number of improvements to the existing highway network in order 
to mitigate its impact. Most critically, this includes the provision of a link road through the site 
from Oldham Road to Hilton Fold Lane. The link road would reduce the pressure on the 
existing signalised junction at Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane to the west of the site by 
providing an alternative route for motorists and, accordingly, alleviating network capacity along 
Oldham Road both in mitigation of the development and as a more strategic, long-term 
benefit. A condition has been imposed regarding the delivery of the link road in connection 
with the phasing of development in order to ensure that this is completed at an appropriate 
time. 
 
Physical improvements would also be made to the highway at the link road’s junctions with 
Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane including, but not limited to, the introduction of waiting 
restrictions, dedicated turning lanes in the site and a pedestrian crossing on Oldham Road. 
New resident parking areas would be introduced through provision of a 26 space car park at 
the Old Cock Inn and to the rear/side of terraced dwellings on Oldham Road. 
 
The access into the site has been modelled as part of the Transport Assessment (TA) and has 
been designed in order to ensure sufficient capacity at the site’s junctions with Oldham Road 
and Hilton Fold Lane. The Council’s Highways Service consider the details in the TA to be 
acceptable with respect to the design and capacity of these junctions. 
 
The transport implications of the development are addressed in more detail later in the report. 
 
Objection: 
 
The site forms an important habitat for a range of flora and fauna and is also identified as an 
open space of significant value in ecological, recreational and amenity terms in the Rochdale 
Borough Renaissance Masterplan. This habitat and existing species would be lost as a result 

Page 43



of the development. There is the lack of a proper habitat assessment and some of the most 
important habitats are to be developed for housing. No summer time or invertebrate 
assessment has been undertaken. The site is likely to be of local biodiversity importance and 
is brimming with wildlife in summer. 
 
The development would also disturb the quiet peace and tranquillity of the nature reserve. The 
land is protected greenspace and should be preserved in order to avoid a deficiency of open 
spaces in the future. The loss of open space is disproportionate to the housing development 
and would have an adverse impact in terms of recreational opportunities as there are very few 
alternative spaces in the locality. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
The site does not include any specific designations (those statutorily designated at 
international, national or regional/local level) in terms of nature conservation. The closest of 
these is the Rochdale Canal Special Area of Conservation located some 105 metres away. 
Natural England and GMEU have commented on the application and have not raised any 
objections to the principle of development. From their records, GMEU consider that the site is 
unlikely to support any specially protected species (except foraging bats), though it does 
support locally important habitats (and wildlife) including marshy grassland, broadleaved 
woodland, ponds and the River Irk. 
 
It is recognised that any reserved matters application which seeks approval of layout will need 
to take account of these habitats and provide a more detailed scheme for landscape 
preservation/enhancement, particularly alongside the corridors of the Irk and Scowcroft 
Woods. This will include the provision of recreational open spaces. GMEU have 
recommended a number of conditions in order to ensure the preservation and enhancements 
of these habitats both during and following construction. Appropriate conditions have been 
attached in this regard. 
 
Whilst the development would result in the loss of existing recreational open space (and 
represents a departure from UDP policy G/3 in this respect), this harm must be balanced 
against the benefits arising from the scheme in terms of housing delivery along with 
consideration of the existing form and function of this open space (largely comprising a 
disused playing field) and the likelihood of it being brought back into beneficial use for this 
purpose. 
 
The implications of the development with respect to ecology and recreation are addressed in 
more detail later in the report. 
 
Objection: 
 
The proposed development will generate additional noise and disturbance for surrounding 
occupiers in terms of activity from the new residents and traffic generation, especially given 
the proximity of the new link road to houses on Hereford Way. When combined with existing 
noise from Oldham Road and the nearby railway line, this would have an unacceptable impact 
on the amenity of existing residents. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
Substantial areas of the site (particularly alongside dwellings on Oldham Road and to the rear 
of properties on Glenwood Drive and Hereford Way) are allocated for employment uses in the 
UDP. If the site were developed for employment uses as intended in the Local Plan (having 
particular regard to the nature of operations on these sites and the type of traffic likely be 
visiting them), these uses would have much greater potential to generate noise and 
disturbance in comparison to housing which, in contrast, is a noise-sensitive use. Having 

Page 44



regard to the existing ambient noise climate in the locality, combined with the presence of 
intervening land and surrounding topography (with existing dwellings occupying an elevated 
position in relation to the site), it is not considered that the proposed link road would unduly 
affect the living conditions of surrounding occupiers in terms of noise and disturbance or visual 
amenity. 
 
Objection: 
 
The proposed development would diminish the outlook enjoyed from existing properties 
surrounding the site by developing the attractive green space which they presently overlook. 
The housing would have an oppressive and overbearing impact on surrounding residents and 
locating dwellings, especially any multi-storey flats as suggested on the plans, in such close 
proximity to existing houses would result in an invasion of privacy for current occupiers. This 
would also reduce property values by removing the pleasant visual aspect and environment. 
The scale of development and number of dwellings proposed is excessive for a site of this size 
and needs to be reduced in order to ensure a satisfactory living environment for existing and 
future occupiers. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
A large proportion of the site (in particular, the woodland to the rear of nos. 531-605 Oldham 
Road extending up to the former Rex Mill) is allocated for employment uses in the UDP. This 
designation establishes the principle that these areas of the site are earmarked for 
development (albeit of a different nature to that now proposed). It would be unreasonable to 
prohibit development on a site based on the principle that surrounding properties have a right 
to overlook land over which they have no ownership or control, particularly where this land is 
already allocated for a form a development. 
 
Ground level falls across a V-shaped valley away from existing housing on Oldham Road, 
Glenwood Drive and Hereford Way. Therefore, any dwellings would be set at a lower level in 
relation to neighbouring dwellings in accordance with the scale parameters outlined in figure 1. 
Whilst the masterplan is, at present, indicative with respect to the layout of the dwellings, given 
this topography and the separation provided by intervening land (including allotments to the 
rear of nos. 555 -605 Oldham Road and Scowcroft Woods alongside the northern site 
boundary, there is no reason to suggest that the scale parameters of the proposed building 
(including any three storey dwellings) would have an oppressive or overbearing impact on 
surrounding occupiers, or unduly affect their privacy through overlooking. 
 
The proposed development would result in a density of 22.4 dwellings per hectare (303 
dwellings across a 13.5 hectare site), including areas to be left undeveloped for on-site open 
space. Much higher densities are apparent in the immediate locality and, notwithstanding that 
layout is not being applied for as part of the current scheme with respect to the precise siting 
of the dwellings, the proposal is not considered to be disproportionate to the site area. 
 
It is an established principle of the planning system that it does not exist to protect the private 
interests of one person against the activities of another, including any financial or other loss 
(e.g. of a view) as a result of a particular development. Therefore, any perception of a 
development’s impact on property values is not a material planning consideration.  
 
Objection: 
 
A number of properties have existing allotments to the rear of dwellings on Oldham Road to 
which rent is paid to Vitafoam. It is unclear how the existing allotments would be affected by 
the development. Statements submitted with the application suggest that this land will be used 
for parking following the introduction of waiting restrictions along sections of Oldham Road. 
The alternative public car parking areas on the allotments and at the Old Cock Inn will create a 

Page 45



hotspot for vehicle crime. If the alleygates to the side of houses on Oldham Road are to be 
removed, this will also reduce security for properties backing onto the alleyway. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
The application includes provision for (and protection of) existing allotments to the rear of nos. 
555-605 Oldham Road in accordance with UDP policy G/7 and a limited number of car parking 
spaces alongside these allotments and within the alleyway to the side of nos. 553-555 Oldham 
Road, to be accessed via new estate roads. There is no indication within the plan that any 
existing alleygates would be removed. A condition has, however, been imposed regarding the 
provision of these allotments, compensatory car parking spaces for dwellings on Oldham 
Road and any closure of existing access routes. There is sufficient natural surveillance of 
these parking areas (the largest of which would be to the rear of the Old Cock Inn) from 
surrounding highways and property in order to ensure that they would not be especially 
susceptible to vehicle crime. 
 
Objection: 
 
The proposal would alter existing access routes along the track leading up to Scowcroft Farm 
and Limefield Cottage, including the closure of Don Street. Scowcroft Farm has rights of 
access to Don Street through Scowcroft Woods. The new roads will not be wide enough to 
enable access for tractors, trailers, delivery vehicles, horse boxes, or emergency vehicles, 
especially when cars are parked on the estate roads. In addition, access to the existing farm 
track will not be closed off to future residents (which is also a bridleway) which means that 
future occupiers would have vehicle access along this track. 
 
The access road in question is the only way in and out of several properties to the northeast of 
the site. When the roads are being laid for the new development this will make the route 
impassable and would obstruct an access which is required 24 hours a day for occupiers, 
deliveries and customers travelling to Scowcroft Farm and Limefield Cottage. 
 
Scowcroft Lane (which runs between nos. 553 and 555 Oldham Road up to Scowcroft Farm) 
is a historic route which, between the farm and the River Irk, is not owned by the applicant. 
Utility companies have an easement along this route. The proposed masterplan shows 
development (plots 92 and 93) encroaching over this lane. This cannot happen as the land is 
not owned or controlled by the applicant. At present, limited pedestrian access is allowed 
through the yard of Scowcroft Farm. However, this presents a risk for passers-by due to 
hazards associated with the operation of the farm. An increase in footfall resulting from the 
development would increase this risk and require additional safety precautions at the farm. 
The cost of this should be borne by the developer. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
As already indicated, it is not the role of the planning system to protect the private interests of 
one individual against the activities of another. Any issues regarding land ownership and rights 
of access (other than closing/diverting public rights of way which are dealt with through a 
separate process) are private matters between the different parties with an interest in the land. 
 
From a practical viewpoint however (and having regard to the fact that layout is not being 
applied for), the masterplan does not propose to prohibit access through to any of the existing 
tracks leading up to Scowcroft Farm or Limefield Cottages. Whilst there would be some 
alterations to existing routes (with Don Street and ‘Scowcroft Lane’ being closed at certain 
points), alternative routes (the majority of which are wider than those which presently exist) 
would be provided in order to ensure that access is ultimately maintained (albeit via a slightly 
different route).  
 

Page 46



The existing track up to Scowcroft Farm (including a route through the farmyard) and Limefield 
Cottages is a designated public right of way and, accordingly, should not be stopped up or 
diverted (other than through the issuing of a legal Order under the correct legislation). 
Moreover, the intention of these routes is that they are used and exploited as recreational 
assets (including increased footfall) rather than access being prohibited to them. The 
proposed development would not restrict this and, indeed, proposes new recreational routes 
within a green corridor alongside the watercourse. 
 
Objection: 
 
The proposed Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) and play sites will attract antisocial behaviour 
which would lead to increased crime, noise and disturbance for surrounding residents. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
UDP policy H/6 requires developments of over 100 bedrooms to make provision for Local 
Open Space on site. The indicative masterplan includes the provision of approximately 2.21 
hectares of open space across the site including the green corridor alongside the river, two 
Local Areas for Play a MUGA and other urban amenity open space. The siting of these 
facilities (including their natural surveillance) is an important factor when considering security 
and any implications in terms of antisocial behaviour and impact on the amenity of residents. 
This would be investigated in more detail through submission of a Crime Impact Statement at 
reserved matters stage when layout is applied for. 
 
Objection: 
 
There are insufficient schools places available in the locality in order to cope with the demand 
that would be generated by a development of this size and the likely number of additional 
pupils. The development would also put pressure on other local facilities such as doctors, 
hospitals, dentists, public transport etc. which are already oversubscribed without the 
additional residents which would be generated by this proposal. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
The Council’s Schools Service forecast an increase in pupil numbers for the Middleton 
Township (regardless of whether the proposed development takes place). The introduction of 
new housing on the site would increase the demand for new schools places at both primary 
and secondary levels (estimated at a rate of 3 pupils per year group per 100 houses). The 
purpose of this application is to establish the principle of development and more detailed 
consideration will be needed on this matter at the reserved matters stage when the potential 
timing, need and value of any educational contribution can better be determined.  The 
applicant is agreeable to securing this matter by way of a Section 106 planning agreement.  
The resolution below includes a provision to secure this contribution (subject to viability 
considerations) through a planning obligation. 
 
Depending on the nature of housing brought forward as part of the development, the timescale 
for its implementation and the provisions of the New Homes Bonus programme, the Council 
may also receive additional monies through NHB which could be directed towards the 
provision of public services. 
 
Objection: 
 
The proposal would result in a great deal of noise and disturbance for surrounding residents 
during the construction phase and, where construction is to take place in close proximity to 
existing properties, this has the potential to affect their structural stability. Adequate protection 

Page 47



measures are required to ensure that this does not occur and also to supress airborne 
pollutants such as dust generated by the development. 
 
The proposal would also generate additional pollution from waste, traffic fumes and emissions 
from the new dwellings. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
A degree of disruption during the construction of any development is inevitable and cannot be 
avoided. As already indicated, it is not the role of the planning system to protect the private 
interests of one individual against the activities of another. Any issues regarding land stability 
or perceived damage caused during the construction of a development are private matters 
between the parties involved and do not affect the planning merits of the scheme. Conditions 
could be imposed at reserved matters stage (when layout is applied for) requiring details of 
any retaining structures needed to facilitate the development to be submitted in order to 
address the implications of any significant level changes across the site. 
 
There is no evidence to suggest that any emissions generated as a result of the development 
(particularly given its end use for housing) would unacceptably elevate existing levels of 
pollution in the area. Appropriate remediation of any contaminated land would be required 
before any development could take place on the site in accordance with the recommended 
condition. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Scope of application: 
 
The application is submitted in outline for a residential development of upto 303 houses 
including the formation of a new link road through the site running between Oldham Road and 
Hilton Fold Lane. The only matter applied for as part of the development is access. Remaining 
matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for a later stage. Each of 
these matters is defined in the DMPO as follows: 
 
Access – the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms 
of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network. 
 
Appearance – the aspects of a building or place within the development which determine the 
visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture. 
 
Landscaping – the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or 
protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and includes— 

(a) screening by fences, walls or other means; 
(b) the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass; 
(c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks; 
(d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or 
public art; and 
(e) the provision of other amenity features; 

 
Layout – the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 
provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside 
the development. 
 
Scale – the height, width and length of each building proposed within the development in 
relation to its surroundings. 

Page 48



 
As access is the only matter applied for in this case, the details indicated above in respect of 
the remaining four matters are not being assessed as part of the application. The masterplan 
is for indicative purposes only and is not intended to reflect the final layout, scale or 
appearance of the dwellings or the landscaping of the site (including amenity areas).  
 
The application sets maximum parameters with respect to the number of dwellings (303) and 
their scale (ranging from two storeys with a ridge height of 8 metres and three storeys with a 
ridge height of 12 metres). These scale parameters (taken from the applicant’s design and 
access statement) are shown in figure 1 below. 
 

 
Figure 1 – Scale parameters. 

 
Principle of development: 
 
The site is subject to a number of designations (as identified on the Rochdale UDP Proposals 
Map) which mean that the proposed housing development represents a departure from the 
UDP. The extent of these designations is illustrated in Figure 2 below. Nevertheless, the land 
is identified as a housing site within the Council’s most recent (April 2013) Strategic Housing 
Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) – site reference ‘SH 1767’ and its potential for 
residential development is identified in the Council’s Submission Core Strategy. 
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF identifies a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 
decision-taking this means: 

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; 
and 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
granting permission unless:  

o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole; or 

o specific policies in [the NPPF] indicate development should be restricted. 
 

Page 49



 
Figure 2 – Site allocations map. 

 
Employment land: 
 
Substantial areas of the site to both the north and south sides of the River Irk are allocated as 
Primary/Mixed Employment Zones and/or as identified development sites in Employment 
Zones. These areas of the site have a combined coverage of approximately 9.3 hectares. 
 
UDP policy EC/2 states that, within Primary Employment Zones, development and change of 
use for industrial, business and warehouse uses (Use Classes B1, B2 and B8) will be 
permitted in accordance with three criteria. The policy states that other uses will not be 
permitted unless it can be shown that they are ancillary and complementary (both in terms of 
size and function) to the industrial and business nature of the employment area. 
 
UDP policy EC/3 identifies that, in Mixed Employment Zones, development and change of use 
will be permitted for the following employment generating uses: 

a) Business uses (B1); 
b) General industry (B2); 
c) Warehousing and distribution (B8), builders’ and plumbers merchants, timber 

suppliers, plant hire depots and other outlets providing a service to the trade, subject to 
conditions regulating the goods sold and the hours of opening; 

d) ‘Sui generis’ uses such as the motor trade, including car and caravan showrooms, 
petrol filling stations, tyres and exhaust centres and car washes; 

e) Entertainment, leisure and tourism uses, that if they are major will also have to comply 
with policy LT/4 “Major Built Leisure and Tourism Developments”. 

f) Retail uses that comply with policy S/9 “Shops in Industrial Premises”. 
 
The policy states that other uses will not be permitted unless it can be shown that they are: 

 Ancillary and complementary (both in terms of size and function) to the industrial and 
business nature of the employment area; or 

 The development forms part of a wider regeneration proposal supported by the 
Council, within the regeneration priority areas defined by policy G/R/1, and a use other 
than those permitted above would be more appropriate to achieving the local and 
strategic objectives of the regeneration programme. 

 
Criteria (f) and (p) of UDP policy EC/8 also identify two specific sites on the land which are 
available for employment development as follows: 

Page 50



 
1. Land north of Oldham Road, Middleton (5.2 ha)  
2. Site of former Rex Mill, north of Middleton Road, Middleton (1.5 ha) 

 
The policy states that the type of development that will be supported on these sites will be 
determined by the type of employment zone the site is in (in accordance with policies EC/2 
and EC/3). 
 
The proposed housing development does not fall within any of the categories of appropriate 
development within these employment zones and, accordingly, represents a departure from 
the Rochdale UDP. In these circumstances, the benefits arising as a result of housing delivery 
on the site need to be weighed against any harm that would be caused through the loss of the 
land for employment uses. In this regard, paragraph 22 of the NPPF indicates that: 

 Planning policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for 
employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for that 
purpose. Land allocations should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no reasonable 
prospect of a site being used for the allocated employment use, applications for 
alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their merits having regard to 
market signals and the relative need for different land uses to support sustainable local 
communities. 

 
The Council’s Strategic Planning Service indicate that the two employment land allocations 
have existed on the site for some time and, when originally designated, were intended to 
support the expansion of the neighbouring British Vita site. In addition, the site of the former 
Rex Mill has benefited from planning permission for employment development in the past, but 
none of these permissions have been implemented. Strategic Planning conclude, on this 
basis, that the land has little reasonable prospect of being developed for employment uses 
and, accordingly, is considered to be suitable for alternative uses (including housing) in 
accordance with paragraph 22 of the NPPF. 
 
In addition to supporting the conclusions of the Council’s Strategic Planning Service with 
respect to the length of time that the site has lain vacant and the failure to market the land for 
the purposes identified in the UDP, the applicant also attributes the lack of interest for 
employment uses on the site to its distance from the motorway network and the prohibitive 
cost of remediation in proportion to lower-value end uses such as industry. Accordingly, the 
applicant contends that the site’s current designation makes any employment use unviable. 
 
The above issues must also be considered in combination with the significant boost that the 
scheme would provide in respect of the Council’s supply of housing land and, moreover, the 
fact that the site is identified for residential development in the most recent SHLAA. The 
Council is, at present, unable to demonstrate a five year supply of housing land (regardless of 
the 5% and 20% buffers identified in paragraph 47 of the NPPF). The proposed development 
would make a substantial contribution towards housing land supply and, therefore, this 
represents a significant benefit in favour of the scheme in accordance with the objectives of 
the UDP, forthcoming Core Strategy and the NPPF. 
 
In spite of its present allocation in the UDP, the site’s long-term vacancy and lack of 
implementation in respect of previous planning permissions on the land indicate that there is 
little prospect of the site being brought into beneficial use for employment development. 
Therefore, it is considered that alternative uses can be considered in accordance with 
paragraph 22 of the NPPF. In this regard, the site’s development for housing would bring 
significant benefits in terms of boosting the Council’s supply of housing land and, in addition, 
would integrate sympathetically with surrounding land uses (having particular regard to 
existing dwellings located alongside the northern and southern perimeters of the site). As a 
result, it is considered that a departure from the UDP is justified in this case.   
 

Page 51



Protected Recreational Open Space: 
 
The proposal would result in the development of a large (circa 3 hectare) area of Protected 
Recreational Open Space to the northeast corner of the site. As identified by Sport England, 
this land has, in the past, been used as a playing field for football matches and also included a 
tennis court. It is, however, apparent that this area of the site has not been used for these 
purposes within the last five years and, moreover, that the land is not specifically allocated as 
a playing field. Therefore, whilst Sport England have raised an objection to the application due 
to the loss of this space, this is on a non-statutory basis (and, accordingly, would not require 
the application to be referred to the Secretary of State for consideration should the Council be 
minded to approve the scheme). 
 
UDP policy G/3 states that the development of public or private recreational open space for 
any other purpose will not be permitted unless one or more of the following exceptions applies: 

 The development is for a non commercial community use within a park or other 
outdoor recreation area, is ancillary to the recreational use of the area, would not lead 
to a deficiency in recreational open space in relation to present or future needs, and 
does not harm the recreational, townscape or nature conservation value of the 
remaining open space; 

 Alternative provision is made of at least the equivalent quantity and quality of 
recreational open space, in a satisfactory location and taking account of local 
environmental and traffic considerations; 

 The development funds improvements to existing outdoor sports facilities within the 
site or on another site, commensurate with the open space being lost; and 

 The development comprises a built recreational facility of greater benefit to the wider 
community than the open space being lost and does not result in a serious deficiency 
in open space in the area. 

 
The policy specifically identifies that: 

 School playing fields which are surplus to educational requirements, and privately-
owned sports grounds which have deteriorated due to lack of use and maintenance, 
will continue to be safeguarded from development as they still offer potential to meet 
current and future recreational needs. 

 
In addition, paragraph 74 of the NPPF indicates that existing open space, sports and 
recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless: 

 an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

 the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or  

 the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweigh the loss. 

 
Whilst the indicative masterplan shows the provision of areas of public open space on the site 
equating to approximately 2.21 hectares in area (including two play areas and a MUGA), these 
sites would not constitute alternative or equivalent provision in quantitative or qualitative terms 
for the purposes of UDP policy G/3 (b) or the second bullet point to paragraph 74 of the NPPF. 
In this case, the whole of the disused playing field would be lost without any potential for 
alternative provision of a comparable size, form or function to be accommodated elsewhere 
within the site. Therefore, the proposed development represents a departure from the UDP 
and NPPF in this respect. Nevertheless, the harm that would arise through the loss of existing 
open space needs to be balanced against: 
 

 The benefits arising from the scheme in terms of boosting the Council’s supply of 
housing land, including the implications for the scheme’s viability and deliverability if 

Page 52



this area of the site was to be safeguarded from development as a result of its 
designation. 

 The present value (with respect to its form and function) of the existing open space and 
the likelihood of the playing field being brought back into beneficial use for recreational 
purposes. 

 
Whilst the submitted masterplan is for indicative purposes only it is apparent that, in order to 
achieve the maximum number of dwellings proposed, a substantial area of recreational open 
space to the south of Scowcroft Woods (including the whole of the playing field) would be 
developed – some 122 dwellings being shown within this area. The applicant has submitted a 
viability appraisal which, whilst restricted in scope by the outline nature of the proposal, 
identifies marginal viability (a 7.92% return on GDV) due to high abnormal costs associated 
with site remediation and groundworks. Whilst the Council’s QS estimates a higher yield of 
15.22% on GDV (principally based on a disparity in estimations of achieving finance), it is 
clear that the retention of the existing playing field (and the associated loss of some 122 units) 
would seriously undermine the viability of the scheme and the deliverability of the site, 
particularly as the remaining areas of the site are those which require the greatest level of 
remediation due to contamination issues (and therefore are most costly to develop in 
comparison). Based on present financial estimations, it is unlikely that the scheme could be 
delivered if the disused playing field is retained as protected recreational open space. 
 
In respect of the second issue, representations from Sport England indicate that the site has 
not been used on a formal basis for outdoor sport for at least the last five years (and, 
accordingly, their objection is non-statutory). The applicant contends that the playing field has 
not been used since the year 2000, though there is no conclusive evidence to support this 
assertion. At present the disused playing field is characterised by tall, overgrown grasses and 
suffers from a lack of maintenance which means that it is incapable of fulfilling any meaningful 
recreational purpose (for either formal or passive recreation). The land does not have any 
particular value in terms of nature conservation (the areas of woodland alongside the river 
corridor being of the highest value) and, whilst providing visual relief within the urban area, has 
an unkempt appearance. Whilst Sport England consider that the playing field is capable of 
being brought back into active use, there is no indication as to how this use could be delivered 
(and sustained) or who the end user may be.  
 
Given the above it is considered that, on balance, the benefits arising to boosting the Council’s 
supply of housing land, when considered in conjunction with the lack of recreational form and 
function of the existing open space (principally comprising a disused playing field) and its 
limited potential to be brought back into beneficial use within any immediate timeframe, would 
outweigh the harm which would be caused through the loss of the land. It is also recognised 
that, whilst not yet fixed as part of the layout and of a lesser quantity, the impact of developing 
existing recreational open space would, to an extent, be offset through the provision and/or 
improvement of local open space on site as part of the development. An off-site financial 
contribution towards outdoor sports provision would (subject to viability) also be required 
through planning obligation. 
 
Greenspace Corridor: 
 
An area designated as greenspace corridor follows the recreational open space allocation 
illustrated in Figure 2 and also extends outside the site boundaries, including a pond and 
woodland running alongside the railway embankment to the east. The corridor provides a 
pleasant area of open greenspace, woodland and water bodies descending into a valley 
dissected by the River Irk and is accessible via a network of public rights of way. In this 
respect, it has landscape qualities and amenity value in terms of providing visual relief from 
the urban environment and opportunities for passive recreation. 
 

Page 53



UDP policy G/8 (A, B, C and D) is a four-part policy which states that development within the 
Greenspace Corridor will only be permitted where it “will enhance their recreational, ecological 
or landscape and amenity value”. Policy G/8(A) states that development should be avoided 
where it would: 

1. Lead to an unacceptable narrowing or a division of the corridor into sections, thereby, 
i. restricting the movement of wildlife along it, or 
ii. restricting the movement of people along established or proposed 
recreational routes or rights of way; 

2. Result in the loss or severance of links between areas of recreational open space; 
3. Result in the loss of existing valued recreational facilities or prejudice proposed new 

facilities; or 
4. Prevent public access into the corridor at strategic locations; 
 

or which would result in unacceptable harm to:- 
a) The better landscape qualities and character of the corridor; 
b) The amenity value of the corridor where it provides welcome visual relief from urban 

development, including attractive views in and out of the corridor; 
c) Features of nature conservation interest, including designated and non designated 

sites; or 
d) Viable agricultural operations, including good quality grazing land and allotments. 

 
UDP policies G/8(B) (C) and (D) indicate that: 

 Any new development permitted within or adjacent to the corridors will be of a design, 
and use materials appropriate to, the character and setting of the corridor. Boundary 
treatments and landscaping should help to retain or re-establish a ‘countryside’ 
character in the corridors and contribute to nature conservation interest through design 
and use of appropriate species. 

 Proposals for open or built recreational facilities should be of a scale and nature 
appropriate to the location and should not lead to an unacceptable level of recreational 
activity having regard to visual amenity, nature conservation interests and the need to 
retain an informal or unspoilt character. Development or activities should not conflict 
with existing uses or activities (e.g., grazing) and should not create disturbance for 
local residents. 

 Development proposals will be permitted that protect and enhance Greenspace 
Corridors and realise their potential for recreation and nature conservation. 

 
As with the area of protected recreational open space, the proposed development 
(notwithstanding any changes to the layout arising at reserved matters) would result in the loss 
of a substantial area of the Greenspace Corridor, particularly where it widens to the northeast 
of the site. The Council’s Strategic Planning Service consider that the narrowing and division 
of the corridor shown on the indicative masterplan means that the proposal also represents a 
departure from the requirements of policy G/8 and, moreover, that a more substantial area of 
the corridor would need to be retained as part of any application for reserved matters to 
provide a wider buffer alongside Scowcroft Woods and greater connectivity with the area 
outside the site to the east.  
 
Whilst it is recognised that the proposal would result in substantial narrowing and division of 
the Greenspace Corridor, it is not considered that the principle of development within the 
corridor can be resisted. This has been highlighted by a number of recent appeal decisions, 
most notably following an inquiry involving a development of 179 dwellings on land designated 
wholly as Greenspace Corridor flanking the Rochdale Canal at Trub Farm, Castleton (appeal 
reference APP/P4225/A/12/2185947). In this case, the scheme proposed to maintain a 
corridor of open space alongside the bank of the canal, with housing set behind. At 
paragraphs 9 and 13 of the decision, the Inspector concludes as follows: 
 

Page 54



 Whilst the proposed housing would result in a narrowing of the undeveloped area of 
the Greenspace Corridor, a sense of green and open spaciousness would remain 
along the canal and a green link into the village centre retained. 

 Subject to a good standard of building design I conclude the proposed development 
would have no significant detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the 
Greenspace Corridor and would thus accord with the relevant objectives of UDP Policy 
G/8. 

 
Although it would not be sustainable to resist the principle of residential development within 
the Greenspace Corridor, it is recognised that greater retention of the corridor in strategic 
locations would be required as part of any reserved matters application where layout was 
applied for. This could be achieved through alterations to the layout and distribution of public 
open spaces across the site in order to promote the multi-functionality of these spaces through 
the retention and subsequent widening of the corridor in these locations. Therefore, subject to 
matters of building design (including layout and external appearance) and landscaping, the 
site is capable of accommodating the number and density of houses proposed without 
unacceptably harming the character, function and appearance of the Greenspace Corridor. 
 
Housing: 
 
Criterion (a) of UDP policy H/3 states that proposals for housing on unallocated sites will be 
permitted where the site is located on previously developed land. Annex 2 of the NPPF 
defines ‘previously developed land’ as: 
 

 “Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 
developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage 
should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: 
land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has 
been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill purposes where 
provision for restoration has been made through development control procedures; land 
in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and 
allotments; and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the 
permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape in the 
process of time.” 

 
The site includes areas of cleared ground resulting from previous demolitions (most notably 
the former Dale House and Rex Mill sites to the west) and hardstandings to the side of the 
Hexpol building and rear of 531-555 Oldham Road which, having not yet “blended into the 
landscape in the process of time”, are considered to constitute previously developed land for 
the purposes of the definition in the NPPF. The remaining areas of the site comprise a 
combination of open space and woodland which are not previously developed. The balance of 
these areas results in approximately 52 per cent of the site constituting previously developed 
(brownfield) land and 48 per cent being greenfield. 
 
UDP policy H/3 states that the release of greenfield sites for housing will only be permitted if 
the supply of housing land falls below five years as defined by the projected annualised rate 
(i.e. the annual target for additional new homes).  
 
Having specific regard to residential developments, paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires Local 
Planning Authorities to “boost significantly the supply of housing” in order to “provide five years 
worth of housing against their housing requirements with an additional buffer of 5% (moved 
forward from later in the plan period) to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. 
Where there has been a record of persistent under delivery of housing against previous plan 
targets set out in the then Regional Spatial Strategy for the North est (RSS), local planning 
authorities should increase the buffer to 20% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to 
provide a realistic prospect of achieving the planned supply and to ensure choice and 

Page 55



competition in the market for land”. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that: “housing 
applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date 
if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing 
sites”. 
 
At present, the Council is unable to demonstrate a five year supply of housing land (even 
without the 5 or 20 per cent buffer). Resultantly, the release of several windfall sites on 
greenfield land has been permitted. The deficiencies in the Council’s housing land supply have 
been highlighted in a number of recent appeal decisions from the Planning Inspectorate. In 
allowing an appeal on an area of Protected Open Land at Keswick Street, Castleton (ref 
APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) the Inspector concludes, at paragraphs 21 and 23 of their decision, 

that: 
 

 I consider that it would be appropriate to apportion the completions over the remainder 
of the RSS period. This would equate to a 5 year requirement of about 2750 dwellings 
or 550 dwellings per annum. On this basis there would be a housing supply of about 4 
years. The Council’s Core Strategy, which proposes a requirement of a minimum of 
400 dwellings per annum but over a longer period (up to 2026), is currently being 
examined. However, notwithstanding the revocation proposals within the Localism Act, 
I give the RSS greater weight as it still forms part of the development plan (and these 
are the most up to date figures upon which the Inspector able to base his assessment). 

 I conclude that the contribution that the development would make to housing supply 
should be given some weight. The proposal would contribute to the supply of 
deliverable sites. As the supply of housing has fallen below 5 years, the final part of 
Policy H/3 of the UDP comes into play. The Council indicated that the APOL 
designation means that the site is not suitable as a greenfield site. However, the policy 
does not distinguish between the types of greenfield site. Moreover, it would appear 
that there are very few greenfield sites beyond the Green Belt that are not protected by 
an APOL designation. 

 
In allowing an appeal for residential development on a greenfield site at Ramsden Farm 
(reference APP/P4225/A/11/2160323), and with specific reference to housing completions in 
Rochdale and the target in the NPPF, the Inspector indicated that: 

c) “Over the period 2003/4 to 2010/11 actual completions fell well below the Regional 
Strategy annual requirement even when this had not been adjusted upwards to allow 
for previous shortfalls. While there is no doubt that this is in part a reflection of the 
weak state of the economy it still amounts to a persistent under delivery of housing. 
Under such circumstances the Framework indicates that the Council should be able to 
demonstrate a five year supply plus an additional buffer of 20%. On the basis of the 
available evidence it is not safe to conclude that the Council can demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites let alone a five year supply plus a 20% buffer. 
UDP Policy H/3 advises that under such circumstances, the release of greenfield sites 
such as the appeal site can be contemplated.” 

 
In allowing appeals relating to development on greenfield sites at Trub Farm (ref 
APP/P4225/A/12/2185947 – paragraph 28) and Broad Lane (ref APP/P4225/A/12/2184755 – 
paragraphs 22, 28 and 30), Inspectors have concluded as follows:  

 The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing 
land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need for market 
and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this weighs 
substantially in favour of the proposal. 

 It seems to me that the relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and 
H/3, which seeks to prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five 
year land supply, have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on 
delivery of housing, and are therefore effectively out-of-date. 

Page 56



 The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the land 
supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the accrued 
shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly not 
challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply. 

 Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five 
year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly 
out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly 
engaged. 

 
Having regard to a number of recent appeal decisions, the lack of a 5 year housing land 
supply within the borough and the provisions of UDP policy H/3 and the NPPF, reasons for 
refusal which, in effect, seek to place a moratorium on the residential development of 
greenfield sites will not be sustainable where no other demonstrable harm or conflict with other 
local or national planning policies exists. Given the government’s desire to provide a more 
flexible supply of housing land (as indicated in the NPPF), it is considered that it would not be 
sustainable to refuse this application on the grounds that the principle of residential 
development on this greenfield site is unacceptable. The development would make a valuable 
contribution to the supply of housing in the borough in accordance with the objectives of the 
NPPF. 
 
In addition to the above, criteria (b), (c) and (e) of UDP policy H/3 state that proposals for 
housing development on sites not allocated for housing or any other use in the plan will be 
permitted providing that: 

f) The site is well located in terms of access to jobs, shops and services by modes of 
transport other than the car. 

g) The development provides a mix of dwellings in terms of type and size; 
h) The proposed development is compatible with surrounding uses, including highways, 

both in terms of its impact upon these uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon 
the amenity of future residents. 

 
These principles are embedded within the concept of sustainable development which 
underpins the NPPF and, in particular, chapter 6 which relates to housing.  
 
The site occupies a prominent location within the Defined Urban Area between areas of 
mature housing and industry. Given its relationship with the A669 and its proximity to public 
transport links (including Mills Hill Railway Station), the site and surrounding amenities 
(including those locally available along Oldham Road and a short distance away in Middleton 
Town Centre) are readily accessible by modes of transport other than private car in 
accordance with policy H/3 (b). Whilst the current housing mix proposed (2, 3 and 4 bed 
dwellings organised as terraces, semi-detached and detached) is for indicative purposes only, 
the site is capable of accommodating a range of housing with respect to the size and type of 
living accommodation provided in accordance with criterion (c) of policy H/3 and the aspiration 
for mixed communities in the NPPF. Surrounding land uses include a mix of housing and 
industry. The proposed residential development would be compatible with this mix of uses in 
accordance with H/3 (e). Specific impacts on surrounding occupiers are assessed in more 
detail later in the report. 
 
Core Strategy: 
 
The Council’s Core Strategy was submitted to the Secretary of State on 31st May 2013 and the 
hearing sessions of the Examination in Public took place in October 2013. Following 
consideration of all the evidence submitted, the Inspector has requested that the Council 
undertake additional work to provide the Inspector with the appropriate basis to assess the 
'soundness' of the Core Strategy. This additional work relates specifically to up to date 
evidence of objectively assessed housing need. 

Page 57



 
In order to undertake this work the Council has, following approval from Cabinet, sought a 
suspension of the examination in order to carry out an update of its Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment. This update, along with other work which may be required as a result of the 
findings, was specifically requested by the Inspector. 
 
Therefore, whilst the UDP remains the Council’s adopted local plan, weight should be 
attached to the contents of the Core Strategy as a material consideration. 
 
The application site (referred to as “British Vita”) is identified as a strategic site for 
redevelopment within the Submission Core Strategy as follows: 

 Policy SP3/M identifies “developing a comprehensive approach to vacant and 
underused land around British Vita” as a priority for improvements in east Middleton. 

 Policy E3 indicates that the Councils will promote the development of “land around 
British Vita on Oldham Road - potential for mixed use development”. 

 Policy C2 states that the Council “will focus regeneration and the delivery of new 
homes in East Middleton [including the development of] a comprehensive approach to 
the land around British Vita including new housing and employment development 
which should also deliver improvements to open space and the river corridor”. 

 Policy G6 refers to the Irk Valley “where the focus will be on taking opportunities to use 
the Irk corridor as a key feature to support regeneration in East Middleton”. 

 
Highways: 
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. Planning 
decisions should take account of whether: 

(ii) the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on 
the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure; 

(iii) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and 
(iv) improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit 

the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development 
are severe. 

 
UDP policy A/11 states that the submission of Transport Assessments will be required 
alongside planning applications where: 

 The development has the potential to lead to a material increase in the volume of road 
traffic or increased impact because of the type of traffic, and it is necessary to 
determine whether highway works or other measures are necessary; and 

 The development is major, and thus may involve a number of individual elements or 
uses which involve major generators of travel demand, and it is appropriate to illustrate 
accessibility to the site by all modes and the likely model split of journeys to and from 
the site. 

 
The policy indicates that “the scope and detail of Transport Assessments should reflect the 
size of a development and the extent of the transport implications. Where (b) above applies, 
the assessment should illustrate what highway works and other transport measures are 
necessary to improve access, manage parking demand, address the impact of the 
development on air and noise pollution levels, and improve accessibility by walking, cycling 
and public transport. Any necessary measures identified in the Transport Assessment must 
support and complement the Local Transport Strategy set out in the Local Transport Plan.” 
 
A Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted with the application in order to appraise 
anticipated highway and transport effects of the proposed development. In broad terms, the 
TA includes the following: 

Page 58



 Traffic surveys including an assessment of traffic flows at 11 nearby junctions during 
weekday peak AM (07:00-09:00) and peak PM (15:00-18:00) periods which identified 
maximum peak hour demand periods between 08:00 – 09:00 and 17:00 – 18:00; 

 A review of the existing highway network in the vicinity of the site, including 
carriageway dimensions, speed limits, street lighting and a review of accident data 
between October 2007 and September 2012. 

 A review of existing public transport in the vicinity of the site, including walking, cycling, 
bus and rail links; 

 Review of recommendations following an independent Road Safety Audit to inform 
access arrangements to/from the site from Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane; 

 An assessment of the effects arising from the introduction of a new spine road through 
the site to link Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane; 

 An assessment of existing parking capacity in the locality and any mitigation measures 
required as part of the development; 

 An assessment of trip generation and traffic growth likely to occur as a result of the 
development including establishing a present baseline and future modelling to 
establish the capacity of surrounding junctions. 
 

Access: 
 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 

1. Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and 

2. Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 
In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation. 
 
Two points of access are proposed into the site from Oldham Road (at the approximate 
position of the gated site access into Hexpol to the west side of no. 531 Oldham Road) and 
Hilton Fold Lane (the former Dale House access between Kingdom Hall and A & G Fencing). 
The design of these junctions is illustrated in Figures 3 and 4 respectively. Various physical 
alterations to the highway are proposed in order to facilitate safe and convenient access 
to/from the site as follows: 
 
In respect of the junction with Oldham Road (as shown in Figure 3): 

 Provision of a dedicated right hand turning lane into the site from Oldham Road 
including the formation of a ‘ghost island’ approach up to the junction; 

 Provision of a pedestrian (puffin) crossing over Oldham Road and a pedestrian refuge 
to the centre of the site access with dropped crossings and tactile paving to either side 
of the junction; 

 Introduction of waiting restrictions along the northern and southern frontages of 
Oldham Road outside nos. 472-506 (southern frontage) and nos. 531-545 (northern 
frontage) and around the junction of the site access with Oldham Road; 

 Provision of a new bus stop and shelter to the northern frontage of Oldham Road near 
the junction with Don Street; 

 Provision of a 2.4m x 90m visibility splay at the junction of the site access with Oldham 
Road; 

Page 59



 Provision of an access road into the site with a carriageway width of 7.3 metres, 2 
metre wide footways to both sides and a 10 metre kerb radius at its junction with 
Oldham Road; 

 Various ground markings to facilitate the above. 
 
In respect of the junction with Hilton Fold Lane (as shown in Figure 4): 

3. Provision of three dedicated right hand turning lanes – one into the site from Hilton 
Fold Lane and two from Hilton Fold Lane into Cromer Industrial Estate including the 
formation of a continuous ‘ghost island’ approach up to the junctions; 

4. Provision of a 2.4m x 59m visibility splay at the junction of the site access with Hilton 
Fold Lane; 

5. Provision of an access road into the site with a carriageway width of 7.3 metres, a 2 
metre wide footway along the northern frontage and a 3 metre wide footway along the 
southern frontage and a 10 metre kerb radius at its junction with Hilton Fold Lane; 

6. Various ground markings to facilitate the above. 
 

It is also proposed to close the northernmost section of Don Street (beyond the site access 
into British Vita and Hexpol) by means of collapsible bollards in two locations running across 
the route. This section of Don Street would remain open for access by pedestrians/cyclists, 
with the only vehicle access permitted to be for the emergency services. 
 

 
Figure 3 – site access at junction with Oldham Road (drawing no. TA13). 

 

Page 60



 
Figure 4 – Site access at junction with Hilton Fold Lane (drawing no. TA15). 

 
The proposed access arrangements to the site have been devised following detailed capacity 
testing accounting for both existing (baseline) conditions and future traffic growth up to 2023 
(including capacity requirements arising as a result of the use of the link road as a relief route). 
The design of the Oldham Road junction has also been informed by an independent Stage 1 
Road Safety Audit. The TA concludes that: 
 

 “Detailed capacity testing has demonstrated that the proposed ghost island layout to 
serve the new development would provide sufficient operating capacity to 
accommodate future year traffic flow demands associated with both the A669 Oldham 
Road and ultimately delivery of a through spine road connection to Hilton Fold Lane” 
(paragraph 8.13). 

 
The siting, layout and design of the proposed access points into the site (including all 
associated physical mitigation measures proposed) would facilitate safe and convenient 
access for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them, including 
provision for emergency service vehicles. The proposed development is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policy A/9 and the NPPF. 
 
Traffic generation, network capacity and link road: 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 

 Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 

 Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 
restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development; 

 Substantially increase congestion; 

 Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 

Page 61



 Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 

 
The policy states that where additional traffic movements directly generated by a development 
proposal would adversely affect the existing highway infrastructure, the developer will be 
required to fund works to leave the highway network in a no worse state. The works required 
by the Council could be any or all of the following: 

 Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure; 

 Improvements to public transport and related infrastructure; 

 Measures to secure modal shift away from vehicular traffic to walking and cycling; 

 Other traffic management measures; and/or 

 The removal or restriction of car parking provision. 
 
The TA includes an investigation of existing traffic flows and junction capacity issues in the 
vicinity of the site. This has been established through traffic surveys in 2012/13 to establish 
maximum baseline traffic conditions along the A669 corridor during peak periods in the 
morning (08:00-09:00) and evening (17:00-18:00), and modelling of future traffic flows up to 
2023. This investigation identifies the following circumstances: 
 
Existing conditions: 
 

 Maximum baseline traffic conditions on the A669 close to the proposal site frontage 
take place during the PM peak period, when a two way flow demand of 1077 vehicles 
per hour has been recorded. Typically HGV / Bus composition of hourly traffic demand 
on the mainline is of the order of 3-6% of total observed flow (paragraph 8.5); 

 An appraisal of highway safety records for the immediate local network (a search area 
including the stretch of Oldham Road between its junctions with Temple Street and 
Haigh Road) covering the period between October 2007 to September 2012 indicates 
that three accident incidents have been recorded along the site’s frontage with Oldham 
Road (between Soudan Street and the private service vehicle access to Hexpol). 
These incidents do not demonstrate any common causation factors or identify any 
significant accident risk associated with traffic movements to / from side road access 
points to the A669 (paragraph 8.7); 

 It is recognised that some elements of the wider highway network, particularly space 
constrained junction locations to the west (A669 Oldham Rd / Hilton Fold Lane and 
A669 Oldham Road / Grimshaw Lane / Townley Street), already experience a level of 
congestion during traditional rush hour demand periods. It is not considered that 
options exist to materially improve the operation of these junction nodes without the 
requirement for third party land purchase and /or property demolition (paragraph 8.6); 

 An assessment of existing 2013 Baseline network operating conditions suggests that 
elements of the immediate local highway network are already showing signs of 
approaching practical operating capacity. Modelling identifies that the A669 Oldham 
Road / Hilton Fold Lane junction is close to capacity, particularly during the AM peak 
period and, accordingly, can be prone to congestion / queuing during peak demand 
periods. In addition, the A669 Oldham Road / B6189 Grimshaw Lane / Townley Street 
junction to the west of the Oldham Road corridor is also predicted as likely to be 
operating close to capacity at peak times, with some congestion / queuing. However, 
the A669 Oldham Road / B6195 Haigh Lane junction is predicted to offer a reasonable 
level of practical reserve capacity up to 2023 (paragraphs 8.24, 8.25 and 8.26); 

 
Future conditions: 
 

 The predicted future travel demand associated with the scheme has been estimated 
via reference to multi-modal trip rates and demand profiles as identified from the 
TRICS traffic generation database and 2001 census travel to work data for local wards 

Page 62



to the proposal site. When applied to the maximum housing number proposed, the 
calculated trip demand rates suggest hourly traffic demand levels in the order of up to 
188 vehicles (in + out), during network peak demand periods – assuming average trip 
rate demand conditions. For worst case traffic demand levels, the residential scheme is 
not predicted to generate in excess of 220 vehicles per hour (AM peak period 08:00-
09:00) - or in the order of less than 3.5 development related vehicle movements per 
minute (paragraph 8.19); 

 Even on the most immediate routes to the proposal site, development related traffic 
volumes are unlikely to be much in excess of 90 two-way vehicle movements per hour 
(or in the order of just 1.5 vehicle movements per minute). Such traffic levels are 
unlikely to result in a material change in local operating conditions, and would likely fall 
within expected daily variations on local distributor road links carrying in excess of 
1000 vehicle movements per hour, such as sections of the A669 Oldham Road. It is 
not considered that such traffic levels are likely to result in residual local network 
operational impacts that could be considered to be ‘severe’ in nature (paragraph 8.22); 

 Without the development taking place, testing of network operation under baseline 
traffic demand (including for background traffic growth and the effect of local committed 
developments) suggests that by 2023, overcapacity conditions could be expected to be 
experienced on the A669 Oldham Road corridor to the west of the site at the junctions 
with Hilton Fold Lane and Townley Street / Grimshaw Lane. The delivery of any 
meaningful improvements at the A669 Oldham Road / Hilton Fold Lane and A669 
Oldham Road / B6189 Grimshaw Lane / Townley Street junctions would prove difficult 

to deliver in practice due to land constraints. Levels of future traffic generated by the 
development are anticipated to be less than anticipated daily variations in Baseline 
flow (10%) and in the order of just 1 - 1.5 additional vehicle movements per minute 
(two-way). Therefore, the additional impact of the development on these junctions 
would be limited and anticipated traffic levels would not result in a discernible change 
when compared to baseline network conditions (paragraphs 8.27 and 8.33). 

 
 
Impact of the link road: 
 

 The provision of a spine road connection between A669 Oldham Road and Hilton Fold 
Lane would provide local traffic relief benefits on key immediate sections of the local 
highway network. Indeed, even when taking into account traffic demand associated 
with the scheme (in addition to traffic growth arising without the development) local 
western sections of the A669 Oldham Road could still be expected to experience a 
reduction in future traffic demand of circa 7% - 14% during peak demand periods, with 
an even greater level of traffic reduction (circa 20% during peak periods) anticipated to 
occur on the existing cramped / congested section of Hilton Fold Lane immediately to 
the north of the traffic signal junction connection to A669 Oldham Road (paragraph 
8.30); 

 The operational effects of the completion of the link road would be improvements in 
performance at the A669 Oldham Road / Hilton Fold Lane junction and local side road 
connection points to the A669 between Hilton Fold Lane and the proposed new site 
access. These improvements would effectively mitigate the traffic impacts of the 
development and result in predicted network operation conditions better than those 
anticipated under the existing baseline scenarios (where the development not to be 
brought forward) (paragraph 8.31); 

 The proposed junction connections with the existing public highway network and the 
proposed spine road link have also been demonstrated as being capable of providing 
sufficient operating capacity to cater for local traffic re-assignment, even when 
considering worst case traffic demand scenarios (paragraph 8.32). 

 
 

Page 63



Access to other transport modes: 
 

 The site is located in an area which is readily accessible by modes of transport other 
than private car. The site is located in short walking/cycling distance of a range local 
facilities such as employment, shopping and education opportunities. Existing public 
transport connections including local bus stops which provide access to up to 14 buses 
per hour to Middleton Town Centre (with regular connections to strategic commuter 
destinations such as Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale and Ashton Under Lyne). The 
site is also located approximately 400m to the west of Mills Hill rail station, which 
provides services to Manchester Victoria and Rochdale at a 30 minute headway during 
Monday to Saturday daytimes - with opportunities for additional connections to Bolton, 
Wigan, and Leeds (paragraph 8.9); 

 
The Council’s Highways Service accept the conclusions of the TA, including present over 
capacity issues with existing junctions (particularly that between Oldham Road and Hilton Fold 
Lane) and the worsening of this situation in the future in the absence of any mitigation 
measures. In this regard, it is considered that the potential for re-assignment of through traffic 
along the link road and this route’s function as a relief road would bring substantial benefits in 
terms of alleviating existing and future network capacity and congestion issues both adjacent 
to and further away from the site. 
 
It is inevitable that the construction of the link road can only take place as part of the 
implementation of the housing development across the site. A phasing condition is 
recommended to safeguard the Council’s position on this matter and to ensure that the link 
road is delivered at an appropriate point in time which will be concurrent with (or prior to) a 
specific phase of housing. Whilst some housing will need to be constructed (and occupied) 
prior to completion of the link road in order to make the delivery of this infrastructure feasible, 
there is an expectation for a phased delivery of the link road as the scheme progresses, and 
for its completion at an appropriate trigger point midway through the development (i.e. 
following an initial phase of housing but before completion of the latter phases). It is also noted 
that the completion of the link road will involve the use of Council and third party land and, 
accordingly, will be the subject of further negotiation. Funding opportunities to support the 
early completion of this link road will be explored. 
 
The site occupies a sustainable location which is readily accessible by modes of transport 
other than private car, and further benefits would arise in this regard through the provision of a 
new bus stop on Oldham Road as part of the development. 
 
The TA satisfactorily demonstrates that the proposed development, both in terms of the 
additional traffic generated by it and the proposed access arrangements to the site, would not 
be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the highway network. Moreover, the 
scheme would deliver significant improvements to existing highway infrastructure which would, 
in the longer term, have a positive impact on the surrounding highway network by increasing 
its capacity and relieving congestion. The proposal is therefore in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policy A/8 and the NPPF. 
 
Parking: 
 
UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling”. The policy states that, where the 

Page 64



Council requires controls on parking issues, it will impose planning conditions or seek 
obligations to ensure that these are implemented. 
 
The indicative masterplan suggests that off-road, in-curtilage car parking provision will be 
made for the dwellings in accordance with the maximum standard outlined in Appendix C of 
the UDP. This will, however, only become apparent at reserved matters stage when layout is 
applied for. Nevertheless, the masterplan demonstrates that satisfactory parking provision can 
be made for the dwellings in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy A/10. 
 
The new site access from Oldham Road would require the introduction of some supporting 
parking controls on Oldham Road associated with the provision of a right hand turn lane, ghost 
island approach and ‘zig-zag’ markings for the pedestrian crossing. This would result in the 
loss of some on-street parking along the frontage of a stretch of Oldham Road (as shown in 
figure 3).  
 
The TA includes details of a parking survey undertaken in the locality with respect to existing 
on-street parking demand on Oldham Road and surrounding side streets. These parking 
surveys were undertaken in June 2012 at 15 minute intervals on three separate days 
(Tuesday, Wednesday and Saturday) during both peak morning and evening periods 
(including school drop-off and pick-up times), and included the following locations: 
 

 A669 Oldham Road between the Tesco Local store to the east and Mills Hill station to 
the west; 

 Baytree Lane from A669 Oldham Road to Cheviot Close; 

 Full length of Ash Street; 

 Elm Street from A669 Oldham Road to pedestrian access to Ash Street; 

 Don Street from A669 Oldham Road to British Vita access. 
 
The parking surveys identified the loss of up to 15 on-street car parking spaces along the 
southern frontage of Oldham Road and 12 spaces to its northern frontage (taking into account 
the presence of private driveways providing in-curtilage parking). Whilst the TA indicates that 
any displacement arising from the loss of on-street parking on Oldham Road is capable of 
being accommodated on Baytree Lane and Ash Street, it is recognised that such an 
unmanaged scenario could lead to local parking conflicts on surrounding side streets. In order 
to avoid such conflicts and to mitigate the loss of on-street parking on Oldham Road, it is 
proposed to provide three new off-street public parking areas as follows: 
 

 Old Cock Inn PH – A new residents parking area on land to the rear of the Old Cock 
Inn public house (vehicle access off Damson Green), providing up to 26 car parking 
spaces. It is anticipated that this area would operate as a secure car parking area with 
designated spaces for those properties on the immediate sections of A669 Oldham 
Road that have effectively lost the opportunity for on-street parking to their property 
frontage. 

 Side and rear of 553 - 555 Oldham Road – public parking for 8-10 vehicles served 
via a new vehicle connection from the estate road.  

 Side and rear of 581 - 583 Oldham Road – public parking for up to 6 vehicles served 
via new vehicle connection from the estate road. 

 
These new parking areas would provide up to 42 new off-street car parking spaces for existing 
residents which would more than offset the maximum on-street parking levels observed during 
the survey and would ensure that there is no net loss of existing local parking opportunities. 
 
Therefore, satisfactory mitigation would be provided as part of the development in order to 
ensure that the scheme would not give rise to unsustainable parking demand in the locality as 
a result of displacement of on-street parking on Oldham Road. A condition has been imposed 

Page 65



to ensure that these compensatory parking spaces are delivered at an appropriate time in 
conjunction with the phased delivery of the scheme, and that these are safeguarded for those 
residents most likely affected and displaced by the highway works proposed within Oldham 
Road. 
 
Impact on existing public rights of way: 
 
A number of Public Rights of Way (PROW) run through the land and provide linkages with 
other routes outside the site. These include recreational rights of way and public footpaths, the 
positions of which are shown in Figure 5. 
 
UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that: 

 Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed; 

 Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations; 

 Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and 

 Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists. 
 
UDP policy RE/6 stipulates that: 

 The Council will develop, in partnership with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and 
landowners, a system of strategic recreational rights of way as identified on the 
Proposals Map. The intention will be to secure the protection, development and 
improvement of these routes to link areas of managed and accessible countryside and 
establish links with routes in the wider region. The Council will encourage and 
implement high quality links with such routes from urban areas. 

 Where appropriate and practicable, the Council will support schemes which facilitate 
the greater use of these routes by cyclists, horseriders and those people with impaired 
mobility. Where opportunities and resources permit, the Council will support and 
implement enhancement schemes such as waymarking, picnic, interpretation and 
other facilities along the routes. 

 In the implementation of this proposal, the Council will take account of the conservation 
of the countryside including the buildings within it, the protection of agricultural 
interests, areas of nature conservation importance (including designated areas) and 
the character and purpose of the route where appropriate. 

 
UDP policy A/4 indicates that development proposals will be permitted where the design and 
layout of development schemes facilitate safe and convenient access for cyclists. Relative to 
the scale, type and location of the development, criteria (b – e) of the policy state that 
proposals should ensure: 

 Off-road routes are safe, convenient, highly visible from surrounding land and 
buildings, well lit and signed as appropriate; 

 The access infrastructure within new developments gives priority to the establishment 
of convenient routes for cyclists, unless essential motor vehicle access would be 
compromised by the lack of other suitable and safe alternatives; 

 Cycle access points are located to provide direct and convenient links with adjoining 
uses, the wider cycle network and identified potential off-site cycle routes; 

 Cycle routes intended or likely to be shared by pedestrians are designed to ensure 
safety and compatibility. 

 
UDP policy A/13 stipulates that PROW and other pedestrian routes identified in the Council's 
'Local Walking Route Network' will be protected where they fall within sites proposed for 
development, subject to consideration of opportunities for local re-routing where this would 

Page 66



improve convenience and safety for pedestrians. Improvements to the walking environment 
and the provision of new links will be a priority on the Local Walking Route Network and such 
improvements should address safety, convenience, attractiveness, comfort and accessibility 
for disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. 
 

 
Figure 5 – Existing public rights of way. 

 
The proposed development would require the alteration and/or diversion of several rights of 
way running through the site. In particular, vehicle access along the routes running through the 
northern end of Don Street (MidRupp49A) and between nos. 553-555 Oldham Road towards 
Scowcroft Farm (MidRUpp51) would be restricted as part of the development. In respect of the 
latter, it is also likely that the alignment of this route would need to be diverted in order to 
follow a new estate road linking with MidRupp50 leading up to Scowcroft Farm further to the 
northeast. The indicative masterplan would also require a diversion of MidFp49 to the 
northwest corner of the site and MidFp53 where it currently crosses the River Irk. All other 
PROW would be retained as they presently exist. 
 
Whilst it cannot be established definitively how existing PROW will be affected until an 
application for reserved matters seeking approval of layout is submitted, the indicative scheme 
does not indicate the loss of existing PROW. Instead, existing routes would be diverted, 
supplemented or alternative access created. This includes the maintenance of access (albeit 
by an alternative route) up to (and beyond) Scowcroft Farm. 
 
The proposed development would not prejudice the use of existing PROW, would make 
alternative provision for vehicle access to these routes where required and would offer 
enhanced opportunities for cyclists and pedestrians via the provision of new routes through 
the site (having particular regard to the corridor of the River Irk). The development is also 
capable of affording greater natural surveillance and lighting of existing routes through the 
layout and orientation of dwellings and estate roads. Therefore, the proposal would not conflict 
with the objectives of UDP policies A/3, A/4 and A/13. 
 
Ecological implications: 
 
The location of designated nature conservation sites within a 1 kilometre radius of the 
development is identified in Figure 6. Whilst none of these fall within the boundaries of the 
development site, the Rochdale Canal Special Area of Conservation/Site of Special Scientific 
Interest and the River Irk Marsh Site of Biological Importance are located in relatively close 
proximity (within 150 metres) to the northeast and east. 

Page 67



 
Whilst the site does not support any designated nature conservation sites, areas of deciduous 
woodland identified as priority habitat in the Greater Manchester Biodiversity Action Plan (as 
listed in Section 41 of the Natural Environmental and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006) 
fall in/around the site as highlighted in Figure 7. 
 

 
Figure 6 – Designated nature conservation sites  

 

 
Figure 7 – Habitat designations - Deciduous woodland BAP Priority Habitat. 

 

Page 68



 
The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: 

 minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where 
possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in 
biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures. 

 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles: 

 if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; 

 proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
likely to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either 
individually or in combination with other developments) should not normally be 
permitted. Where an adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is 
likely, an exception should only be made where the benefits of the development, at this 
site, clearly outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of the site 
that make it of special scientific interest and any broader impacts on the national 
network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 

 opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. 

 
UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas of 
ecological and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council 
seeking to protect and enhance them). In assessing proposals, the Council will apply national 
planning policy as it relates to international (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation – SAC), 
national (e.g. Sites of Special Scientific Interest – SSSI) and regional/local (e.g. Sites of 
Biological Importance – SBIs) designations in order to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect the integrity and fundamental nature conservation value of these sites, and 
that appropriate mitigation and safeguarding is put in place. 
 
UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas where the designations in policy NE/2 are not 
applicable, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of 
ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should seek 
to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would place an 
unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory features or 
habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type of 
development permitted may be required. Developments which establish new landscaping and 
open spaces that contribute to nature conservation and local biodiversity will be supported and 
encouraged, especially where this will: 

 Help to address local habitat deficiencies or the needs of species and habitats of 
conservation concern; 

 Help to provide accessible, high quality natural greenspace in urban areas; or 

 Create or extend wildlife corridors both within the urban area and connecting the urban 
areas with the wider countryside around towns 

 
UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that: 

 There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 

Page 69



 Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 
required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and 

 Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation. 

 
UDP policy NE/8 (a – d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands 
should ensure: 

 Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows; 

 That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered; 

 Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction; 

 The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 
safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species. 

 
The application is accompanied by an ecology survey which establishes the value of existing 
habitats and incidence of protected species on the site, assesses the development’s impact on 
these habitats (including any impact on designated nature conservation sites nearby) and 
recommends a programme of mitigation measures accordingly. 
 
Habitats: 
 
As indicated in Figure 6, the land does not form part of any designated site of nature 
conservation value – the closest of these comprising the Rochdale Canal SAC/SSSI to the 
northeast of the site and three SBIs within a 1 kilometre radius (Scowcroft Reservoir, River Irk 
Marsh and Higher Boarshaw Clough). Natural England and GMEU have been consulted on 
the application and both have indicated that the development should have no adverse impact 
on the fundamental nature conservation value of these designated sites (though protection 
measures alongside the River Irk are recommended by GMEU in respect of the River Irk 
Marsh SBI). Accordingly, these designated sites should not represent a constraint in the 
determination of the application. 
 
The site does, however, support areas of deciduous woodland identified as priority habitat in 
the Greater Manchester Biodiversity Action Plan (as listed in Section 41 of the Natural 
Environmental and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006). It is, nonetheless, noted that these 
areas are designated for employment development on the UDP Proposals Map. 
 

The ecology survey identifies 12 habitat categories within the site, noting that “the site is 
dominated in the south by hardstanding and buildings with the north consisting of broad-
leaved woodland, marshy grassland and species-poor modified neutral grassland”. The value 
of each habitat type is assessed with regard to the flora and fauna which it either presently or 
has the potential to support. The areas of greatest value within the site are considered to be 
the marsh/marshy grassland, semi-natural broad-leaved woodland and plantation broad-
leaved woodland along the northern bank of the River Irk and towards the eastern end of the 
site (in accordance with the priority habitats shown in Figure 7) as these provide potential 
foraging, refuse and commuting habitat for bats and birds. Woodland and water bodies lying 
outside the site (principally Scowcroft Woods and the area of woodland and pond alongside 
the western bank of the nearby railway line) are also of importance. 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



Protected species: 
 
The ecology survey includes an assessment of protected species on the site, taking account 
of both any existing (recorded) incidences of protected species and the ability of habitats to 
support them. The survey concludes, in respect of each species considered, as follows: 

 Amphibians – two ponds (one outside the site to the southeast corner and one within 
the site to the northwest corner) were assessed as having potential for great crested 
newts (the third mill pond being discounted due to the steepness of its banks). Four 
visits to these ponds and evening surveys did not detect the presence of great crested 
newts and there are no historical records of great crested newts either on or within a 1 
kilometre radius of the site. 

 Badgers – no evidence within or adjacent to the site and no records within 1 kilometre 
of the site. 

 Bats – buildings on the site have low roosting potential due to the lack of internal loft 
voids, lining and sealed external facades. Trees do not have potential for roosting bats 
due to either their limited size or lack of cracks/cavities. No evidence of roosting bats 
was detected during the survey and there are no recorded roosts on the site. 

 Birds – areas of woodland and scrub within the site provide suitable habitat for foraging 
and nesting birds. Records of wren, bluetit, woodpigeon, chiff chaff, crow, blackbird, 

robin, great tit and Canada goose exist on the site. None of these species are UKBAP, 
red listed, amber listed or schedule 1 protected species. 

 Reptiles – areas of wet grassland and woodland offer potential sheltering habitat for 
reptiles and hardstanding areas provide potential for reptiles to bask. However, these 
areas are isolated from the wider landscape and there are no historical records of 
reptiles within 1 kilometre of the site. 

 Water vole and otter – no sign within the site and no historical record of these species 
within 1 kilometre of the site. 
 

The report concludes that habitats on the site have the potential to support: 

 Foraging and commuting for bats; 

 Foraging and nesting sites for birds; 

 Foraging and winter refuge sites for amphibians; and 

 Sheltering and basking habitats for reptiles. 
 
The survey also identifies incidences of the protected plant species ‘native bluebell’ within the 
woodland adjacent to the pond which lies outside the site boundaries alongside the railway 
line and identifies five invasive plant species which would need to be eradicated before any 
development in these areas of the site could take place. 
 
A number of mitigation measures are proposed in order to safeguard and/or compensate for 
the loss of foraging opportunities for bats and nesting opportunities for birds. With respect to 
amphibians and reptiles, the report concludes that physical barriers around the site (including 
nearby buildings, roads, the canal and railway line) limit the potential for connectivity between 
habitats on and outside the site and, given the lack of recorded species of this type on the site, 
there is a low risk of impacting on these species. 
 
Mitigation: 
 
The survey recommends a number of mitigation measures in order to limit the development’s 
ecological and provide biodiversity enhancements as follows: 

 The erection of protective fencing alongside the channel of the River Irk during 
construction and creation of SUDS to prevent debris and run-off entering the 
watercourse and to minimise the impact upon the Irk Marsh SBI and Rochdale Canal 
SSSI; 

Page 71



 The eradication of all invasive plant species prior to any development taking place 
within these areas of the site; 

 Transplanting of any native bluebell to be impacted by the development within retained 
woodland areas; 

 All clearance of vegetation to be undertaken outside the bird nesting season (March to 
August inclusive) unless nesting birds are shown to be absent through appropriate 
survey work; 

 Landscaping works should provide linear corridors in order to promote connectivity 
across the site and new planting should comprise native species of local provenance. 
Planting beneath existing treelines has the potential to increase botanical interest and 
enhance foraging opportunities. 

 Incorporation of bat and bird nesting features as part of the development. 
 
Consultation responses: 
 
Natural England and GMEU have been consulted on the application. Neither organisation has 
raised any objections to the application on nature conservation grounds, though advice is 
issued indicating that any application for reserved matters should allow for a wider corridor of 
greenspace alongside the River Irk and the woodland corridor of Scowcroft Woods to the north 
than is presently shown on the indicative layout. A number of conditions have been suggested 
to ensure the safeguarding and future enhancement of habitats on the site. Where these 
issues will not be addressed through any future reserved matters application (e.g. at a stage 
where specific approval of landscaping is sought), appropriate conditions have been 
recommended in this regard. 
 
The proposed development would not adversely affect the fundamental nature conservation 
value of any designated site and appropriate mitigation/enhancements can be put in place 
(either as part of the development’s layout and landscaping at reserved matters or through the 
imposition of planning conditions) in order to ensure that the scheme would not have any 
unacceptable impact on habitats located within or surrounding the site. In addition, the 
proposal would not adversely affect the favourable conservation status of any protected 
species. The proposed development is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies NE/2, NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF. 
 
Flood risk: 
 
The site is dissected by the channel of the River Irk which follows a channel set in lower lying 
land within the valley. Parts of the site flanking the banks of this watercourse fall within flood 
zones 2 (land with between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1000 or 1 – 0.1 % annual probability of river 
flooding) and 3 (land with a 1 in 100 year or 1% annual probability of river flooding) as defined 
on the Environment Agency’s flood map. However, the overwhelming majority of the site lies 
within flood zone 1 (land with a less than 1 in 1,000 or <0.1% annual probability of river 
flooding). The proposed residential development falls in the category of “more vulnerable 
development” as defined in the Technical Guide to the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
[land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage 
problems and which has been notified to the local planning authority by the Environment 
Agency] should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but 
where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere”. 

 
Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development at risk 
of flooding as follows: 

g) The aim of the Sequential Test is to steer new development to areas with the lowest 
probability of flooding. Development should not be allocated or permitted if there are 

Page 72



reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a 
lower probability of flooding. A sequential approach should be used in areas known to 
be at risk from any form of flooding.  

 
Paragraph 102 of the NPPF indicates that: 

h) If, following application of the Sequential Test, it is not possible, consistent with wider 
sustainability objectives, for the development to be located in zones with a lower 
probability of flooding, the Exception Test can be applied if appropriate. For the 
Exception Test to be passed:  

a. it must be demonstrated that the development provides wider sustainability 
benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk, informed by a Strategic 
Flood Risk Assessment where one has been prepared; and  

b. a site-specific flood risk assessment must demonstrate that the development 
will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its users, without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will reduce flood risk 
overall.  

Both elements of the test will have to be passed for development to be allocated or 
permitted. 

 
Paragraph 103 of the NPPF stipulates that “when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and only consider 
development appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where, informed by a site-specific flood 
risk assessment following the sequential test, and if required the Exception Test, it can be 
demonstrated that: 

 within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk 
unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location; and 

 development is appropriately flood resilient and resistant, including safe access and 
escape routes where required, and that any residual risk can be safely managed, 
including by emergency planning; and it gives priority to the use of sustainable 
drainage systems. 

 
UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met: 

 It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water; 

 It will not itself be at risk from flooding; 

 Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used; 

 Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided; 

 Existing or proposed flood defences are protected; 

 It would not result in extensive culverting; and 

 Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 
developer’s expense. 

 
A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the application. The FRA identifies 
that, whilst layout is not applied for at this stage, the indicative masterplan suggests that there 
would be no development of the site area outside flood zone 1. Therefore, the sequential and 
exception tests outlined in the NPPF would not be applicable. The site is also considered to be 
at a low risk from other sources including surface water, groundwater, sewers and other 
artificial sources (including the nearby canal). The FRA makes a number of recommendations 
in order to ensure that the development will not itself be at risk of flooding or increase flood 
risk elsewhere as part of any application for reserved matters. These include: 

 Setting finished floor levels at a suitable level above the 1 in 1000 year event; 

Page 73



 The maintenance of an 8 metre buffer between the dwellings and the bank top of the 
River Irk; 

 The site appears to have a network of surface water sewers that discharge directly to 
the River Irk. Any surface water drainage strategy should adopt sustainable urban 
drainage principles to ensure that any potential increase in the rate and volume of 
surface water run-off is properly mitigated/attenuated in accordance with the 
requirements of the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. 

 
Both United Utilities and the Environment Agency have been consulted on the application. 
Neither has raised any objection to the principle of development, though conditions have been 
recommended requiring: (1) submission of a scheme to regulate surface water run-off from the 
development in order that this does not exceed the current (greenfield) rate of surface water 
discharge from the site; (2) details of finished floor levels for each plot; and (3) a scheme 
showing how the existing northern tributary watercourse/culvert (including details of its precise 
route, size, depth and condition) will be incorporated into the development. 
 
Therefore, adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the development 
poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policy EM/7 and the NPPF. 
 
Relationship with surrounding uses: 
 
UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents. 

 
Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by: 

 Ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between 
buildings. 

 Minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water 
pollution. 

 
Bullet points 1 and 2 to Paragraph 123 of the NPPF indicate that “planning policies and 
decisions should aim to: 

 avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of 
life as a result of new development; 

 mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of 
life arising from noise from new development, including through the use of 
conditions.” 

 
Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where: 

 It would lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future 
occupants of buildings, or users of open space. 

 
The site is located amongst areas of mature housing and industry within the urban area. The 
River Irk forms a dividing feature between the development site and industrial uses at British 
Vita to the south and west, with dense areas of woodland to be retained alongside the 
northern (Scowcroft Woods) and eastern (with the railway line) site boundaries. A row of 
allotments would also form a buffer between the site and dwellings to the south on Oldham 
Road.  
 
The indicative masterplan shows a housing density of 22.4 dwellings per hectare, which is 
significantly lower than that in the surrounding area having regard to high-density terraced 
housing along Oldham Road (circa 70 dwellings per hectare) and suburban semis/terraces on 
Glenwood Drive (circa 43 dwellings per hectare). The proposed housing density would afford 

Page 74



the site a spacious, suburban character reflecting the need to preserve and enhance existing 
open spaces. The site’s development for housing would be compatible with the mix of uses in 
the locality – with the developable area of the site linking strongly to the urban fringe of 
housing on Oldham Road, Glenwood Drive and Hereford Way – and, moreover, is likely to 
have a lesser impact on the amenity of surrounding residents (e.g. through noise and 
disturbance, vehicle movements etc.) in comparison to employment uses for which large areas 
of the site are currently designated. 
 
The application is accompanied by a noise assessment which, following on-site sound testing 
at five locations across the land, identifies the main sources of noise on the site as: (1) road 
traffic along the A669; and (2) operations associated with adjacent industrial premises. The 
report concludes that noise from the railway line is not significant due to the relatively low 
number of journeys along the route. Highest day and night time noise levels (between 60 and 
70 dB(A)) were observed along the site’s frontage with Oldham Road (specifically in respect of 
plots 294-303 to the south of the Hexpol building), with these levels reducing away from the 
A669 towards the central and northern ends of the site, particularly during the evening period. 
The report concludes that “any standard thermal double glazing unit will provide sufficient 
sound insulation to achieve the ‘good’ internal noise levels set out in BS 8233:1999 [shown in 
Table 1 below] in living rooms during the day and bedrooms at night with windows closed and 
with normal (non-acoustic) trickle ventilators. [Therefore], noise should not be a limiting factor 
in developing the site for residential use”. 
 

 
 

Table 1 – Internal noise levels given in BS 8233:1999. 

 
The Council’s EHO agrees with the conclusions outlined in the noise assessment and has 
recommended that a condition is imposed on any permission granted to ensure that the ‘good’ 
noise levels outlined in Table 1 are achieved in respect of those plots most susceptible to 
disturbance (those fronting onto Oldham Road - specifically nos. 294-303 shown on the 
indicative masterplan). 
 
The development of the site for housing would, as a matter of principle, be compatible with the 
character of surrounding uses and would not have an undue impact on the amenity of these 
uses. In addition, appropriate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that 
surrounding uses do not have an adverse impact on living conditions for future occupiers. The 
proposal is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3, BE/2, EM/3 
and the NPPF. 
 
Impact on heritage assets: 
 
Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF. 
Designated heritage assets include listed buildings. 
 
The closest built heritage asset to the site is a grade II listed farmhouse occupying a stepped, 
rectangular footprint to the northeast corner of Scowcroft Farm. The property – finished in a 
combination of brick and render – is located some 60 metres from the site boundary to the 
east side of the farmyard and is separated from the land by other outbuildings to the west of 
the farmyard and a dense treeline intervening between the two sites.  
 

Page 75



The first bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of: 

 the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation. 

 
Paragraphs 132, 133 and 137 of the NPPF identify that: 

 When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. 
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development 
within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require 
clear and convincing justification. 

 Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent. 

 Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within 
Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites and within the setting of heritage assets 
to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements 
of the setting that make a positive contribution to or better reveal the significance of the 
asset should be treated favourably. 

 
UDP policy BE/15 stipulates that development will not be permitted where it would, through its 
siting, scale, design or materials, harm the setting of a listed building. 
 
The proposed development would have no physical impact on the grounds of Scowcroft Farm 
(including the listed Farmhouse) and, by virtue its separation with the listed building and the 
screening provided by the intervening treeline (to be retained), would have no detrimental 
impact on its character or setting. Indeed, the Conservation Officer has raised no objections to 
the application on these grounds. Therefore, it is not considered that the development would 
harm the significance of any designated heritage asset and, accordingly, is in accordance with 
the requirements of UDP policy BE/15 and the NPPF. 
 
GMAAS have identified the presence of several sites of archaeological interest referenced on 
the Historic Environment Record – specifically Rex Mill, Don Mill, a former brick works, 
housing, mill leats and weirs. 
 
Paragraphs 139 and 141 of the NPPF indicate that: 

 Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of 
equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to the 
policies for designated heritage assets. 

 Local planning authorities should make information about the significance of the 
historic environment gathered as part of plan-making or development management 
publicly accessible. They should also require developers to record and advance 
understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in 
a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence 
(and any archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to record 
evidence of our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss should be 
permitted. 

 
In addition, UDP policy BE/10 states that: 

 Developers must take full account of the presence of known Ancient Monuments and 
sites of archaeological importance and their settings in proposals. Planning permission 
will be refused where developers do not sympathetically accommodate such structures 
or remains, particularly where the proposal has a significant affect on the site itself or 
its setting. 

Page 76



 Proposals should accommodate the physical preservation of archaeological features in 
situ. In exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, and where the site is of 
lesser significance, archaeological excavation to secure the preservation of features 
either on or off site may be appropriate to enable preservation by record. In such 
cases, the applicant may be required to carry out a programme of proper recording of 
archaeological evidence before development takes place. Such a programme could be 
secured by planning conditions or through a Section 106 obligation negotiated with the 
applicant. In all cases there should be a full and appropriate prior evaluation of the 
archaeological resource detailing its value, the likely impact of proposals and mitigation 
as required. 

 
GMAAS have indicated that, as the application is in outline, a condition should be attached to 
any permission granted requiring a programme of archaeological works to be undertaken. This 
should include a desk-based documentary study, a walkover survey and, where appropriate, a 
building survey. This would then be followed by targeted field evaluation trenching which could 
lead to targeted open area excavation. 
 
An appropriate condition requiring a programme of archaeological work to be undertaken 
before any development takes place has been attached in accordance with the advice from 
GMAAS. Any application for reserved matters should also include a desk-based assessment. 
Therefore, adequate measures can be put in place to safeguard the significance of any 
archaeology on the site in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy BE/10 and the 
NPPF. 
 
Utilities: 
 
A high pressure Major Accident Hazard Pipeline (MAHP) runs through the site in a general 
westerly direction alongside the northern boundary between Scowcroft Farm and Hilton Fold 
Lane. The pipeline cuts through Scowcroft Woods and the former Rex Mill and Dale House 
sites. 
 
Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should consult the 
appropriate bodies when determining applications for development around major hazards 
(including major hazard installations and pipelines). 
 
UDP policy EM/6 indicates that: 

 The location of residential and other development in the vicinity of existing notifiable 
installations will be strictly controlled. Planning permission for development adjacent to 
existing notifiable installations will only be granted where the Council is satisfied that 
risks to the public, the land and the surrounding environment have been fully 
assessed. Where it is considered that the development will result in a substantial risk 
to the public, the land or the surrounding environment, planning permission will be 
refused. 

 
Parts of the site fall within the inner, middle and outer consultation zones for the notifiable 
installation with the Health and Safety Executive (HSE). The HSE have been consulted in 
accordance with the standing advice available through their PADHI+ system which indicates 
that they do not advise against the granting of planning permission on the grounds of public 
safety. 
 
National Grid have indicated that the Building Proximity Distance (BPD) for the pipeline is 15.5 
metres. This is the minimum distance recommended by National Grid between the pipeline 
and any 'normally occupied' building. Therefore, any application for reserved matters would 
need to ensure that no dwelling or other associated building would be located within 15.5 
metres of the pipeline. This would not, however, apply to the proposed link road (shown to run 
over the MAHP where it crosses the Dale House site). National Grid have indicated that it is 

Page 77



acceptable for the road to be positioned over the pipeline providing that adequate impact 
protection slabbing is installed. An appropriate condition has been imposed in order that this 
issue is addressed as part of the construction of the link road. 
 
A High Voltage Transmission Overhead Line also runs in a north-south direction on land to the 
east of the railway line. National Grid have advised that the development would not interfere 
with this apparatus and, therefore, have no objections on these grounds. 
 
The proposal would not result in an unacceptable risk to the public (including future 
occupiers), land or the surrounding environment and is therefore in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policy EM/6. 
 
Contamination: 
 
The fifth bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: 

 remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable 
land, where appropriate. 

 
Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that: 

 Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for 
securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 

 
Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that: 

 the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation 
or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation;  

 after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and 

 adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented. 
 
In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that: 

 Where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that land which is the subject of a 
development proposal has the potential for contamination, the Council will require a 
detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed remedial treatments and 
a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in accordance with 
the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new development or 
change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for contamination of land 
and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals likely to give rise 
to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions. 

 
A Phase I (desktop) site investigation has been submitted with the application. This identifies 
potential sources of contamination on the site associated with historical industrial uses and 
previous landfilling operations. The report recommends that a phase II soil contamination 
investigation be undertaken to determine any risks to human health and controlled waters. A 
gas monitoring programme is also advised alongside other anticipated land remediation 
measures to make the site suitable for residential use.   
 
The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any contamination issues which may 
exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed by the imposition of a condition 
requiring the submission and approval of a phase II (intrusive) site investigation and 
implementation of any appropriate remediation measures required. The Environment Agency 
have also requested that a similar condition be attached to any permission granted in order to 
protect water resources on/surrounding the site. It is therefore considered that the 

Page 78



requirements of UDP policy EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF can be 
satisfactorily addressed through condition. 
 
Energy: 
 
UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include: 

 The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development; 

 The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and 

 The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies. 

 
The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments 
of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended 
that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 
2020. However, under current economic circumstances, it is considered that the cost 
implications of achieving Level 4 would have significant viability implications for many 
developments and would prejudice the potential to secure other financial contributions 
required in order to mitigate a development’s impact (several of which are applicable in this 
case). As a result, it is considered that code level 3 provides the most appropriate target for 
residential developments at the present time. 
 
An appropriate condition has been imposed requiring the proposed dwellings achieve code 
level 3. An appropriate Code for Sustainable Homes pre-assessment should be submitted with 
any application for reserved matters once specific elements of building design are known. 
Therefore, measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the development assists in the 
efficient use of energy in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy EM/13 and the 
Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development”.  
 
Developer contributions: 
 
A scheme of the size proposed would require contributions towards open space and 
affordable housing in accordance with UDP policies H/6 and H/7, and their associated 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs). Contributions are also being sought towards 
education and transport improvements following receipt of consultation responses from 
Schools Services and Network Rail. These contributions would need to be secured through a 
planning obligation in accordance with the provisions of S106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act. Paragraph 204 of the NPPF states that planning obligations should only be 
sought where they meet the following tests (reiterated in the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations): 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

 directly related to the development; and  

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
Details of each of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how they 
meet these tests) are outlined below: 
 
 
 

Page 79



Recreational Open Space: 
 
UDP policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate provision for 
recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 hectare per 1000 
population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) provision. In the case of 
developments involving 100 bedrooms or more, there is an expectation for the provision of 
local open space on site (with any shortfall to be offset by a financial contribution for off-site 
provision in lieu of on-site open space), and contributions to formal (outdoor sports) open 
space to be made off site. 
 
In the case of off-site contributions a commuted sum payment towards the laying out 
(including 20 year maintenance maintenance) and/or improvement of off-site recreational open 
space is required. Contributions to off-site recreational open space are calculated on the basis 
of the number of bedrooms being created by a development and the resulting demand for 
recreational open space arising from the occupation of the new houses. 
 
The indicative masterplan shows the provision of some 2.21 hectares of open space within the 
site. However, as the application is in outline (with access only being applied for), the layout of 
any open space on site could not be fixed at this stage, nor can the level of demand be 
precisely calculated as the number of bedrooms to be created by the development is 
unknown. Therefore, any planning obligation would include a formula for the provision of open 
space in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy H/6 and its accompanying SPD as 
follows: 
 

 For developments over 100 bedrooms (and in lieu of on-site provision of local open 
space): number of bedrooms/1000 x 2.1 = [provision in hectares] x 10,000 [square 
metre conversion] x current cost per square metre for laying out and 20 year 
maintenance of open space + 4% administration fee. 

 For developments over 100 bedrooms where open space is provided on site: number 
of bedrooms/1000 x 1.1 = [provision in hectares] x 10,000 [square metre conversion] x 
current cost per square metre for laying out and 20 year maintenance of open space + 
4% administration fee. 

 
Affordable Housing: 
 
UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution towards 
the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site means as 
appropriate. 
 
Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing 
will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a 
discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a 
maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in 
accordance with the formula below: 
 

 
 
 

Page 80



Education: 
 
The Council’s Schools Service consider that the development would result in an increased 
demand for new schools places across primary and secondary levels where there is an 
identified deficiency in the Middleton Township. A financial contribution is sought in order to 
offset this impact based on the national estimate of 3 additional pupils per year group (3 x 12 
year groups = 36 pupils) per 100 houses at a cost of £11,000 per new pupil place. Therefore, 
a development of 303 dwellings, and once completed in full, would yield a maximum 
contribution of £1,199,880 based on the formula from Schools Service ([36 x 3.03] x £11,000). 
 
Transport Improvements: 
 
UDP policy A/19 identifies that: 

 The GMPTE (now TfGM), in consultation with each Greater Manchester district, are 
developing a Rail Investment Strategy that incorporates a programme of measures, 
including station improvements (For example, improvements to access, safety and 
passenger shelter). Rochdale Council has a number of priorities that it wishes to 
investigate through the Rail Investment Strategy. These include a booking office and 
other works at Mills Hill Station. 

 
Network Rail has requested a total contribution of £220,000 towards transport improvements 
at Mills Hill Railway Station in accordance with this improvement strategy, comprising the 
following: 

 £100,000 for two new shelters; 

 £20,000 for extra platform seating; 

 £75,00 for car park resurfacing and painting; 

 £25,000 for a Transmission Voice Machine. 
 
Viability: 
 
Paragraph 173 of the NPPF states that: 

 Pursuing sustainable development requires careful attention to viability and costs in 
plan-making and decision-taking. Plans should be deliverable. Therefore, the sites and 
the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a scale of 
obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened. To 
ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to development, 
such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or 
other requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of development 
and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing developer 
to enable the development to be deliverable. 

 
In addition, paragraph 205 of the NPPF indicates that: 

 Where obligations are being sought or revised, local planning authorities should take 
account of changes in market conditions over time and, wherever appropriate, be 
sufficiently flexible to prevent planned development being stalled. 

 
Whilst UDP policy H/7 and its accompanying SPD (Affordable Housing) include provisions to 
limit/waive contributions in cases where such contributions would make a scheme unviable, 
UDP policy H/6 states that the requirement for recreational open space will only be 
““waived/reduced/varied in those circumstances where a housing proposal arises in an area 
where the existing recreational open space is sufficient to cater for existing need as well as 
that arising from the development.” Therefore, this policy does not cite issues of viability as a 
specific consideration with respect to open space. Nevertheless, this approach has been 
superseded by guidance within the NPPF where, in terms of any conflict between policies 

Page 81



contained within existing local plans and those in the NPPF, paragraphs 214 and 215 of the 
NPPF state that: 
 

 For 12 months from the day of publication, decision-takers may continue to give full 
weight to relevant policies adopted since 2004 even if there is a limited degree of 
conflict with this Framework. 

 In other cases and following this 12-month period, due weight should be given to 
relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with this 
framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the 
greater the weight that may be given). 

 
The NPPF was adopted in March 2012. As the 12 month period identified in paragraph 215 
has now expired, the fact that UDP policy H/6 fails to allow a flexible approach towards 
contributions to recreational open space with respect to viability considerations places the 
policy in conflict with paragraphs 173 and 205 of the NPPF. Paragraph 215 of the NPPF 
indicates that, where such conflict exists, the guidance within the NPPF should prevail. 
Accordingly, viability is capable of being a material consideration when assessing what level of 
contribution a development should make towards recreational open space provision. 
 
The developer has submitted a viability appraisal which outlines estimated build costs for the 
development (including any abnormal costs likely to be incurred during construction) and 
anticipated revenue generated from the sale of the dwellings. Both build costs and revenue 
are expressed in pounds per square foot. The appraisal concludes that, once completed, the 
development could generate a profit on cost and a profit on Gross Development Value (the 
total revenue generated through sales) of 8.60% and 7.92% respectively. These estimated 
returns are attributed to high abnormal costs associated with site remediation and 
groundworks. Whilst the Council’s Quantity Surveyor estimates a higher yield of 15.22% on 
GDV (principally based on a disparity in estimations of achieving finance), it is agreed that the 
scheme’s viability is likely to be marginal taking account some of the costs associated with 
bringing forward a development on previously developed land, and that some prioritisation of 
any contributions might be needed as part of the Council’s consideration of any reserved 
matters application(s) for the site.. 
 
In accordance with paragraph 173 of the NPPF, it would be unreasonable to seek 
contributions from a development where such contributions would fail to provide competitive 
returns to a willing land owner and willing developer and, ultimately, make a scheme 
undeliverable. Whilst present figures suggest that the scheme could not deliver any off-site 
financial contributions as a result of viability, it should be noted that the preliminary appraisal 
submitted does not relate to a specific layout, mix or type of housing (these elements to be 
clarified as part of any future application for reserved matters). Therefore, given the 
uncertainty associated with the outline nature of the proposal, the Council’s QS considers that 
any planning obligation should include clauses requiring submission of future financial 
appraisals for each phase of development, with off-site contributions to be secured using a 
form of overage provision in order that any profit realised above a specified margin (18% is 
suggested) is committed for the purposes outlined above, up to the maximum figures 
identified. 
 
Therefore, appropriate and proportionate contributions would be secured as part of the 
development in order to mitigate its impact in accordance with the requirements of the relevant 
UDP policies and paragraph 204 of the NPPF. 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



Conclusions: 
 
Having regard to the above considerations, the following conclusions are made in respect of 
the scheme: 
 

 The proposed residential development would result in a departure from the provisions 
of the Rochdale UDP by developing land allocated for a combination of employment 
uses and protected recreational open space. Nevertheless, any harm arising as a 
result of this departure from the plan needs to be balanced against: (1) the 
demonstrable value of the existing land for these purposes (including its likelihood of 
being brought into beneficial use during the plan period); and (2) the significant 
contribution that the scheme would make to the delivery of housing on land occupying 
a sustainable location within the urban area (a large proportion of which is either 
previously developed or allocated for development – albeit for a different purpose – in 
the existing local plan). In this respect, it is concluded that there is little reasonable 
likelihood of the land being developed for employment uses and/or being brought back 
into beneficial use for recreational purposes given its present form, function and period 
of disuse (having particular regard to the former playing field to the northeast of the 
site). Therefore, on balance, it is considered that the benefits arising as a result of the 
scheme are sufficient to outweigh any harm which would arise by departing from the 
policies within the Rochdale UDP. 

 The submitted Transport Assessment has identified satisfactory access arrangements 
to the site (which would be fixed as part of the outline application) following detailed 
transport modelling and safety assessment. Accordingly, it has been adequately 
demonstrated that the development would not have any severe or adverse impact on 
the safe and efficient operation of the surrounding highway network, either adjacent to 
or further away from the site. Moreover, the link road proposed as part of the 
development is anticipated have a positive impact on local network capacity and 
functionality by relieving congestion at nearby junctions along Oldham Road – 
particularly the signalised junction with Hilton Fold Lane. The delivery of the link road 
and the benefits arising from this are considered to weigh heavily in favour of the 
scheme and provide further justification for a departure from the UDP. 

 The application has been submitted in outline, with access being the only matter 
applied for. The indicative masterplan demonstrates how the number of houses 
proposed could potentially be accommodated on the site and sets parameters for the 
maximum number of dwellings which could be applied for as part of any future 
application for reserved matters. Whilst it is recognised that a number of constraints 
exist on the site, it is not considered that there is any compelling evidence to suggest 
that these could not be adequately addressed at reserved matters stage or mitigated 
through the imposition of appropriate planning conditions/obligations. Accordingly, the 
principle of development is considered to be acceptable. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Committee resolve: 
 
That it is minded to grant planning permission subject to the conditions set out below and 
subject to the completion of a planning obligation under section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act to secure (subject to future assessment(s) of the scheme’s viability) the following:  
 

 The provision of open space on site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of on-site 
provision (as appropriate) in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/6 and its 
associated SPD: Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing. 

 The provision of affordable housing on site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of on-
site provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its associated 
SPD: Affordable Housing. 

Page 83



 A financial contribution not exceeding £1,199,880 towards the provision of new schools 
places in the Middleton Township. 

 A financial contribution not exceeding £220,000 towards improvements at Mills Hill 
Railway station including: (i) the provision of two new platform shelters; (ii) additional 
platform seating; (iii) car park resurfacing and marking out; and (iv) a Transmission 
Voice Machine in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy A/19. 

 
That the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice upon completion of the 
planning obligation to secure the above. 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
 1 Application for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date of this permission and the development must be 
begun not later than: (i) the expiration of three years from the date of this permission; 
or (ii) two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved.  

   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be sought in respect of the following 

matters before the development is commenced:- the layout of the development, the 
scale and external appearance of the buildings and the landscaping of the site.  

   
 Reason: The application is granted in outline only under the provisions of Article 4 of 

the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2010 
and details of the matters referred to in the condition have not been submitted for 
consideration. 

 
 3 This permission relates to the following plans:  
   
 Drawing no. 001 – Location plan. Site edged red plan.  
 Drawing no. Figure TA13 – Proposed ghost island development site access connection 

to A669 Oldham Road.  
 Drawing no. Figure TA15 – Illustrative ghost island development site access 

connection to Hilton Fold Lane.  
   
 The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 

drawings.  
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, to define the extent of the development site and 

to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in accordance with the policies 
contained within the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
 4 No development shall take place until a phasing plan for the construction of the 

development, including the link road, has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The phasing plan shall include a programme of works 
for:- (i) each phase of housing within the site; (ii) the area(s) of recreational open space 
and any other areas of amenity open space; and (iii) the delivery of a link road between 
the site’s access points with Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane (the indicative route of 
which is shown on drawing no. 014 Rev B). The development shall thereafter be 
carried out in full accordance with the duly approved phasing plan(s).  

   

Page 84



 Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 
appropriate order and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate provision of 
infrastructure to serve each of the uses permitted and because no such details were 
submitted as part of the application. 

 
 5 No development associated with condition 4 (iii) of this permission shall take place until 

the following details of the road linking the site’s access points with Oldham Road and 
Hilton Fold Lane (the indicative route of which is shown on drawing no. 014 Rev B) 
have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: (i) 
the precise route, design, construction and drainage of the road; (ii) any traffic calming 
measures to be introduced along the road; (iii) bridging over the channel of the River 
Irk; and (iv) any mitigation measures required in order to protect the Major Accident 
Hazard Pipeline where the road crosses this installation. The link road shall thereafter 
be constructed in accordance with the duly approved details and made available for 
use in accordance with the phasing plan(s) approved as part of condition 4 of this 
permission.   

   
 Reason: In order to achieve safe and convenient access arrangements to and from the 

site, to ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works and to secure adequate 
mitigation of the development’s impact on the capacity of the surrounding highway 
network by providing an alternative route to relieve traffic congestion in accordance 
with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies A/8 and A/9, and the 
NPPF. 

 
 6 No development shall take place until a scheme for the construction and drainage of 

the site’s access points onto Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane (the design of which 
is shown on drawing nos. Figure TA13 and Figure TA15) has first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The site accesses onto (i) 
Oldham Road and (ii) Hilton Fold Lane shall be made available for use in full 
accordance with the duly approved details as follows: in the case of (i) before any of 
the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied; in the case of (ii) in accordance with 
the phasing plan(s) approved as part of condition 4 of this permission.   

   
 Reason: In order to achieve safe and convenient access arrangements to and from the 

site and to ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies A/8 and A/9, and the NPPF. 

 
 7 None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied until the following 

highway improvement works at the site’s junction with Oldham Road (as shown on 
drawing no. Figure TA13) have been implemented in accordance with details (including 
their layout, design and surfacing) which have first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority:  

   
(i) The provision of a ghost island right hand turn lane for westbound vehicles 

entering the site from Oldham Road;  
(ii) Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the 

introduction of waiting restrictions to prevent the parking, waiting or unloading 
of any vehicles at any time on the northern and southern frontages of the 
highway known as Oldham Road in the positions indicated on drawing no. 
Figure TA13  

 (iii) A pedestrian crossing over the carriageway of Oldham Road;  
 (iv) A pedestrian crossing over the site access;  

(v) The provision of a new bus stop on the eastbound carriageway of Oldham 
Road.  

    

Page 85



 Reason: In order to secure improvements to the highway network to ensure safe and 
convenient access and circulation for vehicle traffic, to prevent obstruction of the 
highway and to provide improved public transport linkages to the site in the interests of 
road and pedestrian safety in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies A/3, A/8, A/9 and A/10, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
 8 Before the highway improvement works required by condition 7 of this permission are 

fully implemented or before any of the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied 
(whichever is the sooner) a minimum of 40 compensatory off-road car parking spaces 
shall be provided across the following locations (as indicated on drawing no. 014 Rev 
B): (i) to the rear of the Old Cock In Public House – 528 Oldham Road; (ii) to the side 
and rear of nos. 553-555 Oldham Road; and (iii) to the rear of no. 583 Oldham Road. 
The car parking spaces shall be provided, marked out and made available for use in 
accordance with details, including their layout, construction, drainage and, in respect of 
location (i) a scheme which ensures their exclusive use for residents of 476-502 
Oldham Road, which have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before the highway improvement works required by condition 7 of 
this permission are fully implemented or before any of the dwellings hereby approved 
are first occupied (whichever is the sooner).  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that adequate compensatory parking provision is made for 

neighbouring residents on Oldham Road who would lose existing on-street parking 
spaces as a result of the highway improvement works required as part of the 
development and to prevent parking conflicts arising as a result of the development in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy A/10. 

 
 9 The following highway improvement works at the site’s junction with Hilton Fold Lane 

(as shown on drawing no. Figure TA15) shall be implemented in accordance with 
details (including their layout, design and surfacing) which have first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:  

   
(i) The provision of a ghost island right hand turn lane for northbound vehicles 

entering the site from Hilton Fold Lane;  
(ii) The provision of two ghost island right hand turn lanes for southbound vehicles 

entering Cromer Industrial Estate from Hilton Fold Lane.  
   
 The abovementioned highway improvement works shall be fully implemented before 

the site access onto Hilton Fold Lane is first made available for use in accordance with 
condition 6 (ii) of this permission.  

   
 Reason: In order to secure improvements to the highway network to ensure safe and 

convenient access and circulation for vehicle traffic in the interests of highway and 
pedestrian safety in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies A/3, A/8 and A/9, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until a scheme 
for the creation of a self-enforcing 20mph zone along all new estate roads within the 
site relating to that phase has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance 
with the duly approved details before the final dwelling to be served by that road is first 
occupied.  

     

Page 86



 Reason: In order to ensure adequate traffic calming measures along new estate roads 
in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety in accordance with the requirements 
of Unitary Development Plan Policies A/3, A/8, A/9 and BE/2. 

 
11 No development shall take place until details of any means of enclosure (including its 

siting, layout, design, materials, finish and access arrangements for emergency 
services) used (or retained) to close any existing access points into the site from Don 
Street and Oldham Road, including a timescale for their installation, have first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any means of 
enclosure shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the duly approved details 
and timescale.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure the use of appropriate means of enclosure in the interests 

of visual amenity, to prevent inappropriate access to the site and to facilitate 
satisfactory access for emergency services in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and A/9.   

 
12 No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision of allotments to the 

rear of nos. 555-605 Oldham Road (the locations of which are identified on drawing no. 
014 Rev B) has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such a scheme shall include details of the size, layout, design, surface 
treatment and means of enclosure to the allotments and a timetable for their provision. 
The allotments shall thereafter be provided and made available for use in full 
accordance with the duly approved scheme and timetable contained therein.  

   
 Reason: In order to safeguard existing allotment provision in accordance with the 

requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy G/7. 
 
13 No development (including any works of site preparation) for each phase identified in 

accordance with condition 4 of this permission shall take place on the part of the site 
relating to that phase until a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) covering a 
programme of archaeological works has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The development shall take place in full accordance with 
the approved WSI and the timescales contained therein. The WSI shall include:  

   
(i) A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording to 

include:  
• a desk-based assessment (where appropriate including historic building 

assessment, detailed survey and interpretative record)  
 • a targeted archaeological evaluation;  
 • where appropriate, targeted area excavation.  
 (ii)  A programme for post investigation assessment to include:  
 • analysis of the site investigation records and finds;  

• production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological interest 
represented.  

(iii) provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the site 
investigation.  

(iv) provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site 
investigation.  

(v) nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the work set 
out in the approved WSI.  

   
 Reason: In order to record and advance the understanding of the archaeological and 

historical significance of the site for archival and research purposes in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/10 and NE/6, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 87



 
14 Details of finished floor levels and external ground levels for each plot shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development at that plot takes place. The development shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with the duly approved details.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve an acceptable relationship between buildings both within 

and surrounding the site and to ensure that the development would not be at an 
unacceptable risk of flooding in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2, EM/7 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
15 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until an 
investigation and risk assessment (in addition to any assessment provided with the 
planning application) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The assessment 
must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development takes place. The submitted report shall include:  

   
 (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination  
 (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
  • human health;  

• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, 
pets, woodland, and service lines and pipes;  

  • adjoining land;  
  • groundwaters and surface waters;  
  • ecological systems;  
  • archaeological sites and ancient monuments.  

(iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 
proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site. 

   
 The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly 

approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the dwellings hereby approved 
are first occupied.   

   
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 

development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
16 Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, within 6 months 

of the final dwelling for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 
permission first being occupied, a Building Research Establishment issued Final Code 
Certificate confirming that each dwelling built has achieved a minimum Code for 
Sustainable Homes rating of level 3 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and makes efficient use of 

energy, water and materials in accordance with Policy EM/13 of the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan and the Council’s ‘Energy and New Development’ Supplementary 
Planning Document. 

 

Page 88



17 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 
permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until a scheme 
for the disposal of foul and surface water from the site has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority, the scheme shall include:  

   
 • Details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site to ensure that the post 

development discharge rate does not exceed the existing (pre-development) rate 
(including any necessary flow attenuation measures and the use of SUDS where 
appropriate);  

 • Details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after completion.  
   
 The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the duly approved 

details before any of the dwellings relating to that phase are first occupied, or within 
any other timescale first agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development and to 

ensure satisfactory disposal of foul and surface water from the site in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies EM/7 and EM/8, the Council’s 
Level 2 SFRA User Guide and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
18 No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision and management of 

a buffer zone alongside the watercourse of the River Irk has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The submitted scheme shall 
include:  

 (i) plans showing the extent and layout of the buffer zones;  
(ii) enhancement of the riparian habitat alongside the watercourse as part of an 

overall scheme for biodiversity and landscape enhancement of the site;  
(iii) control of surface water drainage to the watercourse during the construction 

period;  
(iv) a method statement for the protection of the buffer zones and watercourse 

during the construction period;  
(v) details of any footpaths, fencing, lighting or other items to be installed within the 

buffer zone;  
 (vi) a timetable for its implementation  
   
 The development shall be carried out and thereafter managed/maintained in 

accordance with the duly approved scheme.  
   
 Reason: In order to protect the riparian habitat of the River Irk (including any 

downstream impacts), to enhance its ecological interest, to prevent any pollution of the 
watercourse and to ensure appropriate flood mitigation measures are incorporated into 
the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies EM/7, EM/8 and NE/3, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
19 No development shall take place until a scheme demonstrating how the existing 

northern tributary (including any open channel and culverted section of the 
watercourse) will be incorporated into the development has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall include 
details of the exact route, size, depth and condition of the watercourse (including any 
culverted sections to be exposed as part of the development), the location of any 
buildings in relation to it and a timescale for its implementation. The development shall 
thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the duly approved scheme and the 
timescale contained therein.  

   

Page 89



 Reason: To ensure that the development is not at risk of flooding and does not 
increase flood risk elsewhere, and to ensure adequate protection of the watercourse 
(including a satisfactory buffer with any new buildings) following the development in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy EM/7 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until a Habitat 
and Landscape Management Plan (HLMP) for all landscaped areas of the site relating 
to that phase (excluding privately owned domestic gardens) has first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The HLMP shall include: (i) 
protection measures for all retained trees, waterbodies and greenspace during the 
course of development; (ii) long term design objectives; (iii) management 
responsibilities; (iv) maintenance schedules; and (v) a timetable for its implementation. 
The HLMP shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the duly approved 
details and timetable contained therein.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 

ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
21 No development shall take place until a scheme for the formation of any new 

waterbodies on the site has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of the size, location, 
construction and design of the waterbodies, how they will contribute positively to 
improved biodiversity on the site and a timetable for their provision. Any new 
waterbodies shall thereafter be provided in full accordance with the duly approved 
details and timetable contained therein.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that any new waterbodies are appropriately positioned on 

the site to optimise their function with respect to flood mitigation and bio diversity 
enhancement in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies EM/7 and NE/3, 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
22 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until a method 
statement for the removal/control of any invasive plant species within the areas of the 
site relating to that phase, including a timescale for its implementation, has first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The method 
statement shall include measures to prevent the spread of invasive species during any 
operations (e.g. strimming, soil movement or land remodelling works) and to ensure 
that any soils brought to the site are free of the seeds, root or stem of any invasive 
plant (as defined by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended). The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with the details and 
timescale contained within the duly approved method statement.  

   
 Reason: To ensure the satisfactory treatment and disposal of invasive plant species 

which, under the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is an 
offence to be caused to be spread in the wild, in accordance with the objectives of 
Unitary Development Plan Policy NE/3. 

 
 
 
 

Page 90



23 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a methodology for protecting nest 
sites during the course of the development has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Nest site protection shall thereafter be provided 
in accordance with the duly approved methodology.  

   
 Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 

Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
24 No development relating to the phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission which includes the site’s frontage onto Oldham Road (the location shown 
for plots 294-303 on drawing no. 014 Rev B) shall take place until a scheme to protect 
dwellings in this location from noise generated by passing traffic and surrounding uses 
has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall ensure noise levels of not more than 30dB(A) Leq (5 minutes) in 
bedrooms between 23:00 and 07:00; 30 dB(A) Leq (1 hour) in other habitable rooms at 
all times; and 45 dB(A) Lmax. Where windows need to remain shut in order to achieve 
these levels other means of ventilation shall be provided. The scheme shall thereafter 
be implemented in accordance with the duly approved details and a verification report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate 
that the required noise levels have been achieved for each plot before the dwelling on 
that plot is first occupied.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 

measures for the proposed dwellings to achieve satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3. 

 
25 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until a 
Construction Method Statement (CMS) has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS shall include details of the following: - (i) 
hours for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction; (ii) the parking of 
vehicles of site operatives and visitors; (iii) loading and unloading of plant and 
materials; (iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; (v) 
the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; (vi) wheel washing facilities; (vii) 
measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; and (viii) a 
scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works. The duly 
approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 

nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
 
Report Author Matthew Taylor 

 
  _________________________________________________ 
 

Page 91



Application Number: 14/00457/FUL    Ward: Castleton       
 

 
Proposal: Erection of 23 dwellings with associated landscaping and car parking 
 

Site Address: Mayfield Sports Centre Keswick Street Rochdale OL11 3AG  
 

Applicant:  
                  Wiggett Construction Ltd. and Great Places Housing Group 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
Members of the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee voted 4 in favour and 4 against 
the application at their meeting of 29th July 2014 and requested that this split of opinion be 
reported to the Licencing and Regulatory Committee. 
 
The Licencing and Regulatory Committee have delegated powers to approve or refuse the 
application on reasonable planning grounds. 
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to a triangular parcel of land measuring circa 0.45 hectares in area 
flanking the northern frontage of Keswick Street, Castleton. The site is presently enclosed by 
Herras fencing and forms an area of open land comprising a combination of hardstanding to 
the eastern end and cleared green space to the central and western sections. Several mounds 

Page 92



of earth are scattered across the site following excavation works. Ground level follows a 
general and steady fall in easterly and northerly directions across the land. The site is 
designated as Protected Open Land on the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 
Proposals Map. 
 
The land forms part of a larger (circa 1.5 hectare) development site to the north and south 
sides of the Keswick Street for which outline permission was granted at appeal in February 
2012 (ref: APP/P4225/A/11/2158074). This appeal was followed by the Council’s granting of a hybrid 

application under reference 11/D54897 for full permission for a development 35 dwellings on 
land to the south of Keswick Street and outline permission for residential development on the 
triangular piece of land to the north of Keswick Street. The latter forms the site of the current 
application (though this has been submitted as a full application rather than as reserved 
matters to the outline consent). Construction of the 35 dwellings on the southern site (including 
the formation of a new access road – a continuation of Keswick Street to serve the 
development) has now been completed pursuant to planning approval 11/D54897.  
 
The 35 dwellings constructed as part of ‘phase 1’ to planning approval 11/D54897 comprise 
two-storey housing fronting onto Keswick Street and a circular route (Innings Way) running 
along an east-west axis branching in a southerly direction off the main estate road. Other 
surrounding uses include a recent (late 2000s) development of two-storey housing and four-
storey block of apartments further along Keswick Street to the east; a large commercial unit 
encircled by a service yard forming the Carcraft site on lower lying ground to the north; and 
open land comprising a combination of farmland and playing fields associated with Mayfield 
Sports Centre within an area of Green Belt to the west/southwest. A gated entrance at the 
head of Keswick Street provides access into Mayfield Sports Centre. A group of allotments are 
located on sloping land to the south of the development brought forward under phase 1. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application seeks full planning permission for a development of 23 dwellings on the site. 
These would comprise a mix of five different house types grouped in a combination of terraces 
and semi-detached pairs. Four of these house types (17 plots) would be two storeys in height 
and one (six plots) would be three storeys tall. 
 
Dwellings would be laid out along the site’s southern perimeter fronting onto Keswick Street 
and would follow the crescent shape of this boundary along a consistent building line. The only 
exception to this would be where the site narrows to the southwestern corner and one pair of 
houses (plots 1 and 2) would step forward of the building line. Dwellings on these plots would 
also follow a horizontal layout, with their longest façade fronting onto the highway rather than 
forming a gable end at right angles as with the remaining plots. A central cul-de-sac would 
form a turning head branching in a northwesterly direction off Keswick Street. The dwellings 
would be arranged in order that all properties fronting onto Keswick Street (plots 1-10 and 17-
23) would be two storeys in height, with the three-storey housing organised in three pairs 
around the turning head. 
 
Properties would typically occupy elongated plots with garden areas to front and rear, 
including in-curtilage parking (two spaces for 9 of the houses and a single space for the 
remaining 14 plots) to the front or side of the buildings. The dwelling to the far northeast corner 
(plot 23) would occupy a particularly spacious curtilage with a large side garden to account for 
a sewer which runs to the east of the building. 
 
Externally, dwellings would have dual-pitched roofs of a consistent height and profile across 
the Keswick Street Frontage, with shallower roof slopes to the three storey dwellings falling 
away to two-and-a-half storeys at the rear. Buildings would be finished in brick and tiled roofs. 
 
 

Page 93



RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 
 
The DCLG published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  
The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  With immediate effect the NPPF replaces 44 documents including 
Planning Policy Statements; Planning Policy Guidance; Minerals Policy Statements; Minerals 
Policy Guidance; Circular 05/2005:Planning Obligations; and various letters to Chief Planning 
Officers.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG): 
 
The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan: 
G/D/1  Defined Urban Area 
G/D/2  Green Belt 
D/10  Protected Open Land 
 
G/H/1  Housing 
H/3   Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas 
H/6  Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development 
H/7 Affordable Housing 
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/8   New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9  New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10  New Development – Provision of Parking 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2  Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/8  Landscaping in new Development 
 
G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/4  Contamination 
EM/6  Hazardous Notifiable Installations 
EM/7  Development and Flood Risk 
EM/9  Development Involving Unstable Land 
 
G/NE/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/3  Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4  Protected Species 
 
G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation 
EM/13  Energy Efficiency and New Development 
 
 

Page 94



Supplementary Planning Documents: 
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD 
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG 
Energy and New Development SPD 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD 
Affordable Housing SPD 
 
RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 
 

 89/D23594 – Use of land to form extension to sports field – Refused. 

 98/D35905 – Use of land to form additional sports pitch extension of existing pitch, car 
storage compound in association with adjacent motor vehicle dealer, and extension to 
clubhouse building – Refused. 

 10/D53575 – Outline application for residential development (all matters reserved to 
north of access road and approval sought for the access, appearance, layout and scale 
of 35 dwellings to south of access road) and improvements to sports facilities – 
Refused for the following reason: 

o The application site falls within an area of Protected Open Land, as identified 
on the Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Proposals Map.  Development 
proposals within these areas are subject to UDP policy D/10 (Protected Open 
Land).  The proposed development does not fall within any of the categories of 
acceptable development listed in this policy and very special circumstances to 
justify a departure from this policy have been demonstrated.  The proposal is 
therefore contrary to the UDP policy D/10. 
 

Allowed at appeal (ref APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) – 7th February 2012. 
 

 11/D54897 – Full planning application for the erection of 35 dwellings and 
improvements to sports facilities (comprising the re-grading of the land, the formation 
of 1 new pitch, improvements and extensions to an existing pitch, improvements to the 
car park, drainage, fencing and associated works) and outline application for residential 
development (all matters reserved) to north of access road – Approved. 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering: - Object to the application. Comments as follows: 

 The design of the proposed cul-de-sac is capable of accommodating vehicle traffic 
associated with this part of the development. 

 The proposal incorporates 152% parking provision. At this location parking provision of 
200% (2 spaces per dwelling) should be made in order to limit the potential for vehicles 
to be parked on both sides of the highway as this will create blind spots and narrow the 
carriageway, resulting in the potential for obstruction. This, in turn, is likely to have an 
adverse impact on road safety. 

 
United Utilities (UU): - Comments as follows: 

 The site should be drained on a separate system, with only foul drainage connected 
into the foul sewer. Surface water should discharge to a soakaway, watercourse or 
surface water sewer. If surface water is allowed to be discharged to the sewer network 
then this should discharge to the 225 mm surface water sewer located within the site at 
a rate no exceeding 20 litres per second. 

 No surface water should discharge to the combined sewer network. 

 UU has a sewer crossing the site which it will not permit to be built over. An access 
strip of 10 metres wide (5 metres to either side of the central line of the sewer) will be 
required.  

Page 95



 There is a 6 metre easement protecting sewers to the east of the development site. 
Plot 23 may encroach upon this easement. A trial dig should be carried out to establish 
the exact location of the pipe to ensure no part of the plot infringes upon the 6 metre 
easement strip (that being 3 metres to either side of the pipe). 

 
Environment Agency: - No objections in principle. Comments as follows: 

 The submitted FRA proposes a maximum discharge rate of 4 litres per second for the 
whole phase 2 area and the detailed drainage design must ensure that the rate of run-
off does not exceed this figure. A condition should be attached to any permission 
granted to limit the surface water run off from the site to a maximum of 4 litres per 
second (including attenuation measures to retain excess volumes of water up to the 1 
in 100 year event (+30% for climate change). 

 

Contaminated Land Officer: - Condition to be attached to any permission requiring site 
investigation in respect of contamination. 
 
GM Fire and Rescue Service: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

 The provisions of section 63 of the Greater Manchester Act 1981 will be applicable to 
the development. This will enable the fire authority to request additional provisions for 
access when the scheme is submitted for Building Regulations approval. 

 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. Additional letters have also been sent to neighbouring occupiers following receipt of 
amended plans on 3rd June 2014, allowing a further 14 days for comments. In addition, as the 
application is for major development and represents a departure from the UDP, notices have 
been posted on site and in the local press. Two letters have been received in objection to the 
application and one letter has been received in support. The points of objection, followed by 
officer responses, are summarised as follows: 
 
Objection: 
The existing social housing development constructed on the southern part of the site is the 
main cause of antisocial behaviour on the street. The proposed houses should be offered for 
private sale in order to avoid exacerbating this situation. 
 
Officer response: 
The application is submitted by Great Places Housing Group (a Registered Provider of social 
housing). All the dwellings are to be offered for affordable rent. UDP policy H/7 encourages 
the provision of on-site affordable housing in order to promote mixed communities and to meet 
housing needs in the borough. In allowing appeal reference APP/P4225/A/11/2158074, the 
Inspector, at paragraphs 17-19 of his decision, identified the provision of affordable housing on 
the adjacent site as a positive aspect in favour of the scheme. There is no demonstrable 
surplus of affordable housing in the locality. Therefore, the delivery of further affordable 
housing on the site in accordance with the objectives of UDP policy H/7 and the Council’s 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment is considered to be a positive aspect of the proposal. 
 
It would be unreasonable to assume that the provision of social housing on the site would be 
synonymous with a rise in antisocial behaviour. 
 

Objection: 
The building works associated with the previous phase have caused a lot of disruption, noise 
and traffic along the road which is a danger to pedestrians and children playing on the street. 
A safer play area is required for children in the area. This could involve residents having 
access to the playing pitches at the nearby sports club. 
 

Page 96



Officer response: 
A degree of disruption for neighbouring occupiers is inevitable during the course of any 
development and cannot reasonably be prevented.  
 
A development of the size proposed (being under 100 bedrooms) would not, in accordance 
with UDP policy H/6, be required to make on-site provision for recreational open space  (for 
example, a play area). Instead, an off-site contribution towards the provision and/or 
improvement of local open space in the vicinity of the site would be applicable, subject to 
viability considerations. An assessment of the scheme’s viability is given in more detail below. 
Whilst the previous application included the improvement of sports facilities at the nearby 
Mayfield Sports Centre, the issue of community use and access to these facilities is ultimately 
controlled by the sports club. A requirement to open the sports club for general community use 
could not be reasonably imposed as part of the development. 
 
One letter has also been submitted in support of the application. The letter indicates that the 
development is required in order to complete the two phases of housing on the site and to 
regenerate the area. The letter also states that the existing affordable dwellings have provided 
an important opportunity for home ownership and the proposed development will add to this 
provision in order to meet future demand.  
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of development: 
 
As outlined at paragraph 14, the underpinning principle embedded within the NPPF is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. In terms of decision taking, this means: 

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; 
and 

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
granting permission unless:  

o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in [the] Framework taken as a 
whole; or 

o specific policies in [the] Framework indicate development should be restricted. 
 
Protected open land: 
 
The site lies within an area of Protected Open Land (POL) as defined on the UDP proposals 
Map. UDP policy D/10 states that, within the areas of Protected Open Land defined on the 
Proposals Map, development proposals will be permitted that fall within one or more of the 
following categories: 

 development which would be acceptable were it in the Green Belt; or 

 limited infilling within an established pocket of housing or industry where this is in scale 
with the area and will not adversely affect its character or surroundings; or 

 a limited extension to an existing building  
 
The policy indicates that, where new buildings are permitted, they should be sited to form a 
group with existing buildings. Where this is not possible, buildings, car parking areas and other 
new structures, should be sited where they will be well screened and unobtrusive in the 
landscape. All buildings and extensions should be of a high standard of design, using 
materials that are compatible with the landscape, and should not detract from the visual 
amenity and environment of adjacent Green Belt.  
 
Whilst the proposed development does not fall within any of the categories of development 
listed in policy D/10, the principle of residential development on the site is established by the 
granting of outline consent on the land as part of appeal reference APP/P4225/A/11/2158074 

Page 97



(a permission which remains extant). In addressing the issue of POL, the Inspector concludes, 
at paragraphs 9 and 10 of his decision, as follows: 

 The proposed housing site physically connects with the Green Belt land to the 
west. However, the eastern portion of the appeal site can be distinguished from the 
larger expanse of recreational and other open land to the west. The eastern part 
does not contribute significantly to the character of the urban edge; nor does it 
particularly project an attractive image of the Borough; and it is low-lying, poorly 
drained and marshy and, as such, does not have any agricultural or recreational 
value. The wildlife interest is not significant. There is no public access to the land. 
In these respects it can also be distinguished from many other parts of the Borough 
which are designated as APOL, such as the River Roch Valley and the Rochdale 
Canal Corridor, which exhibit more positive characteristics. 

 In conclusion the housing conflicts with Policy D/10 of the UDP as it does not fall 
within any of the categories of development permitted by the policy. However, the 
extent of harm is affected by the limited qualities of the land having regard to the 
explanation to Policy D/10. Moreover, housing development would not encroach 
further west than the car sales warehouse and established housing to the south 
which form the extremities of the built-up area in the vicinity. 

 
The only change in circumstances which has occurred since the granting of this permission is 
the introduction of the NPPF. This document does not, however, deal specifically with the 
issue of POL (this designation being unique to the Council’s own Local Plan) and there is no 
material conflict between the objectives of the NPPF and Planning Policy Guidance 2: Green 
Belts to indicate that a different approach should be taken towards the principle of residential 
development in such circumstances. Moreover, the site already benefits from an extant 
permission for residential development as part of application 11/D54897 under which the 
provisions of the NPPF were considered by the Council. 
 
The principle of residential development is established through the granting of planning 
application 10/D53575 at appeal and, subsequent to this, the issuing of planning approval 
11/D54897 by the Council. Given these extant permissions, and having regard to the 
Inspector’s comments in respect of the previous appeal, there has been no material change in 
circumstances to indicate that an alternative decision should be reached in respect of this 
application. 
 
Previously developed land: 
 
Criterion (a) of UDP policy H/3 states that proposals for housing on sites not allocated for 
housing or any other use in the plan will be permitted where the site is located on previously 
developed land. 
 
The application relates to a cleared area of ground which has not previously been occupied by 
buildings. Annex 2 of the NPPF defines ‘previously developed land’ as: 
 

 “Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 
developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage 
should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: 
land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has 
been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill purposes where 
provision for restoration has been made through development control procedures; land 
in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and 
allotments; and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the 
permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape in the 
process of time.” 

 

Page 98



Given the site’s existing and previous uses, it does not fall within the definition of previously 
developed land in the NPPF. UDP policy H/3 states that the release of greenfield sites for 
housing will only be permitted if the supply of housing land falls below five years as defined by 
the projected annualised rate (i.e. the annual target for additional new homes). As the Borough 
does not have a five year housing land supply at the current time the release of greenfield 
sites can be contemplated in accordance with UDP policy H/3. 
 
Having specific regard to residential developments, paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires Local 
Planning Authorities to “boost significantly the supply of housing” in order to “provide five years 
worth of housing against their housing requirements with an additional buffer of 5% (moved 
forward from later in the plan period) to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. 
Where there has been a record of persistent under delivery of housing, local planning 
authorities should increase the buffer to 20% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to 
provide a realistic prospect of achieving the planned supply and to ensure choice and 
competition in the market for land”. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that: “housing 
applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date 
if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing 
sites”. 
 
At present, the Council is unable to demonstrate a five year supply of housing land (even 
without the 5 or 20 per cent buffer). Resultantly, the release of several windfall sites on 
greenfield land has been permitted. The deficiencies in the Council’s housing land supply have 
been highlighted in a number of recent appeal decisions from the Planning Inspectorate. This 
includes the development proposed as part of application 10/D53575 on the application site. 
Paragraphs 20-23 of the Inspector’s decision deal with the issue of housing land supply. At 
paragraphs 21 and 23 the Inspector concludes that: 
 

 I consider that it would be appropriate to apportion the completions over the remainder 
of the RSS period. This would equate to a 5 year requirement of about 2750 dwellings 
or 550 dwellings per annum. On this basis there would be a housing supply of about 4 
years. The Council’s Core Strategy, which proposes a requirement of 400 dwellings 
per annum but over a longer period (up to 2026), is currently being examined. 
However, notwithstanding the revocation proposals within the Localism Act, I give the 
RSS greater weight as it still forms part of the development plan. 

 I conclude that the contribution that the development would make to housing supply 
should be given some weight. The proposal would contribute to the supply of 
deliverable sites. As the supply of housing has fallen below 5 years, the final part of 
Policy H/3 of the UDP comes into play. The Council indicated that the APOL 
designation means that the site is not suitable as a greenfield site. However, the policy 
does not distinguish between the types of greenfield site. Moreover, it would appear 
that there are very few greenfield sites beyond the Green Belt that are not protected by 
an APOL designation. 

 
In allowing an appeal for residential development on a greenfield site at Ramsden Farm 
(reference APP/P4225/A/11/2160323), and with specific reference to housing completions in 
Rochdale and the target in the NPPF, the Inspector indicated that: 

 “Over the period 2003/4 to 2010/11 actual completions fell well below the Regional 
Strategy annual requirement even when this had not been adjusted upwards to allow 
for previous shortfalls. While there is no doubt that this is in part a reflection of the 
weak state of the economy it still amounts to a persistent under delivery of housing. 
Under such circumstances the Framework indicates that the Council should be able to 
demonstrate a five year supply plus an additional buffer of 20%. On the basis of the 
available evidence it is not safe to conclude that the Council can demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites let alone a five year supply plus a 20% buffer. 

Page 99



UDP Policy H/3 advises that under such circumstances, the release of greenfield sites 
such as the appeal site can be contemplated.” 

 
Having regard to a number of recent appeal decisions, the lack of a 5 year housing land 
supply within the borough and the provisions of UDP policy H/3 and the NPPF, reasons for 
refusal which, in effect, seek to place a moratorium on the residential development of 
greenfield sites will not be sustainable where no other demonstrable harm or conflict with other 
local or national planning policies exists. Whilst part of the proposal would result in residential 
development on a greenfield site it is considered that the scheme is acceptable in all other 
respects. Given the government’s desire to provide a more flexible supply of housing land (as 
indicated in the NPPF), it is considered that it would not be sustainable to refuse this 
application on the grounds that the principle of residential development on this greenfield site 
is unacceptable. The development would make a valuable contribution to the supply of 
housing in the borough and would constitute sustainable development for the purposes of 
paragraph 14 of the NPPF. 
 
Location, layout, scale and design: 
 
Criteria (b), (c) and (e) of UDP policy H/3 state that proposals for housing development on 
sites not allocated for housing or any other use in the plan will be permitted providing that: 

 The site is well located in terms of access to jobs, shops and services by modes of 
transport other than the car. 

 The development provides a mix of dwellings in terms of type and size; 

 The proposed development is compatible with surrounding uses, including 
highways, both in terms of its impact upon these uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents. 

 
Criteria (a), (e), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design 
by: 

 Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure; 

 Appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including the 
provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout. 

 Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation; 

 Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property. 
 
Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide. 
 
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development; 

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit;  

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation;  

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion. 

 
The site lies amongst areas of mature and newly developed housing on the edge of the urban 
fringe. The Castleton Local Centre provides a number of local amenities within comfortable 
walking distance on Manchester Road to the east, with this route also forming an arterial route 
linking Castleton with Rochdale and Middleton – both being readily accessible by public 

Page 100



transport via Manchester Road. Therefore, the site occupies a sustainable location benefitting 
from good access to jobs, shops and services by modes of transport other than private car in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policy H/3 (b) and the NPPF. 
 
Adjacent land is occupied by newly constructed affordable dwellings on Keswick Street and 
Innings Way to the south and a recent (late 2000s) market housing development to the east. 
Dwellings on the site to the south are exclusively two storeys in height and follow a linear 
building line fronting onto Keswick Street and curving round onto Innings Way in close 
proximity to the footway. Houses are characterised by dual pitched roofs with some facing 
gables at right angles to the main roofscape, simple flat facades and are finished in a 
combination of brick and render. The market housing to the east includes additional rooms in 
the roof space – either through the inclusion of roof-level dormers or a second floor to front-
facing gables, more features to the façade (e.g. overhanging eaves, bay windows, protruding 
gables) and tiling to the upper reaches as opposed to render. Nevertheless, the two groups of 
dwellings complement one another by virtue of their general scale, massing, layout, boundary 
treatments and materials. The land backs onto a commercial site (Carcraft) on lower lying 
ground to the north which is screened by a group of semi-mature trees alongside (and inside) 
its southern boundary, with open fields to the west. Terraces of pre-war housing are located 
beyond the allotment site on Rodney and Alexander Street to the south, though these are not 
visible from vantage points across the site, accordingly, provide little local content.  
 
The proposed dwellings would comprise a mix of two-storey housing following the site’s 
frontage onto Keswick Street and three-storey properties opening onto a central cul-de-sac 
branching in a northwesterly direction off the main road. The layout would ensure spacious 
frontages following the alignment of the market housing to the east with respect to the depth 
and character of front gardens (generally comprising parking spaces separated by intervening 
hedging). The exception to this would be where the site narrows to the southwest corner and 
plots 1 and 2 step forward of the building line to account for this. In this case, the arrangement 
of these plots would more closely resemble the layout of houses on the opposing site to the 
south, with dwellings built in closer proximity to the footway and parking alongside gable 
elevations. Given that plots 1 and 2 would sit alongside an area of open space to the far 
southwest corner of the site and would replicate the building line of dwellings on the opposite 
side of Keswick Street, their staggered arrangement would not appear incongruous to the 
existing street scene or detract unduly from the linearity of the layout. The run of two-storey 
housing along Keswick Street would respect the scale, pattern and character of existing 
development to this frontage.  
 
The three-storey houses fronting onto the cul-de-sac would be set back from Keswick Street 
(a minimum of 23 metres), with four of the plots (nos. 10-12 and 15-16) orientated at right 
angles to dwellings on Keswick Street. The final pair (plots 13-14) would be located centrally 
at the head of the cul-de-sac. The three-storey dwellings would be extensively screened by 
the row of two-storey houses to the south, particularly in the case of the four plots orientated at 
right angles where only the upper sections of the roofs would be visible from the street. Whilst 
the central pair to the head of the cul-de-sac would be visible when viewed from its opening 
onto Keswick Street, these dwellings would be set back 31.5 metres from the junction and, 
accordingly, would not be prominently in view from Keswick Street. The siting and layout of the 
three-storey house types creates two distinct street scenes to the development: one of a two-
storey scale to complement the principal frontage onto Keswick Street and a second onto the 
cul-de-sac branching off the main road. The inconspicuous siting of the three-storey dwellings 
away from the Keswick Street frontage would ensure that they do not have a dominant or 
overbearing appearance in the street scene. 
 
Externally, the dwellings would be characterised by deep windows of generous proportions 
and symmetrical alignment adding vertical emphasis, legibility and a strong sense of rhythm to 
principal facades between house types across the development. Cantilevered canopies above 
main entrance doors to the two-storey houses would be held in place by suspension chords, 

Page 101



with protruding canopies to the three-storey houses. Additional interest would be added to 
corner properties on plots 10 and 17 with protruding ground and first floor windows to gable 
elevations facing onto the cul-de-sac in order to avoid blank elevations onto the junction. 
Properties would follow dual-pitched roofs of a consistent slope, height and profile across the 
two-storey row, with the three storey houses incorporating shallower roofs to the front falling 
away to a lower eaves level at the rear. The buildings would be externally finished in red brick 
and grey tiled roofs. 
 
The proposed dwellings, by virtue of their size, scale, height, layout, massing, materials and 
design, would be compatible with the pattern and character of surrounding development, and 
would assimilate sympathetically into the street scene while providing a mix of housing in 
terms of the size and type of living accommodation provided. The proposal is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3, BE/2, the Oldham and Rochdale 
Residential Design Guide and the NPPF. 
 
Relationship with surrounding development: 
 
UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents. 
 
Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings.  
 
In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing 
dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations. 
 
Existing occupiers: 
 
The proposed dwellings would follow the existing building line along Keswick Street, with plot 
23 running alongside and 12 metres to the west of the gable end of no. 62 and their front 
elevations facing onto those to the south constructed under phase 1. The three-storey houses 
to the northern end of the site would share a boundary with the Carcraft site to the north and 
open land to the west, but would not share a boundary with existing housing. Habitable room 
windows would be positioned in the front and rear elevations of the properties. As the 
dwellings would run in line with (gable to gable) and a significant distance from no. 62 Keswick 
Street, the only separation distance of note would be between the front elevations of the 
application properties and those on the opposite side of Keswick Street to the south. A 
minimum separation of 14.5 metres would be achieved between these properties (for plots 1 
and 2 where they step forward of the main building line). This figure would rise to 17 metres 
for the majority of the remaining development. 
 
Whilst this degree of separation falls below the standard recommended in paragraph 5.2 of the 
SPG, such distances are commonplace between dwellings forming part of the phase 1 
development to the south (e.g. 13.5 metres between opposing front elevations of dwellings on 
Innings Way). As it forms part of the same site, the development would be most closely related 
to these dwellings and would be viewed in the same context as both sites curve around the 
southwestern end of Keswick Street. More spacious housing to the east (typically comprising 
detached a semi-detached dwellings) are of a different character with respect to their density. 
Therefore, the proposed separation distances between existing and proposed dwellings would 
be compatible with the density and character of development along this stretch of Keswick 
Street and their spacing would not detract from the general levels of privacy and amenity 
typical in the area in terms of overlooking, overshadowing, loss of outlook or loss of daylight. 
 

Page 102



Future Occupiers: 
 
Within the development itself, dwellings flanking Keswick Street would be set in elongated 
plots of varying sizes backing onto the Carcraft site to the north and open space within the 
Green Belt to the west. Plot 23 would share a chamfered boundary with no. 62 Keswick Street 
(the intervening boundary already being formed by a circa 1.8 metre high close-boarded 
fence). Central plots around the junction with the cul-de-sac would occupy an offset position in 
relation to the three-storey houses to the north, with a minimum separation distance of 9 
metres achieved between the rear of these dwellings and the gable ends of the three-storey 
building. 
 
Although this is below the 14 metre guideline recommended in the SPG, the curvature of the 
Keswick Street boundary means that the two-storey dwellings would occupy an offset position 
in relation to three-storey houses at the rear, thereby allowing oblique views past the gable 
ends of the taller dwellings (i.e. the outlook from principal windows in the rear of the two-storey 
dwellings would not be restricted to the gable of a three-storey house). As a result, the three-
storey houses would not appear unduly oppressive in the outlook from the rear of two-storey 
properties along Keswick Street. In addition, this relationship would be limited principally to 
three plots in the centre of a terraced row – nos. 9, 18 and 19. Therefore, the proposal would 
achieve satisfactory living conditions for future occupiers in terms of privacy and amenity. 
 
The site shares a boundary with Carcraft to the north, with ground level falling away towards 
this site. Several semi-mature trees form an intervening buffer between the two sites, with 
these trees located on Carcarft’s land. The relationship between the proposed dwellings and 
Carcraft would not be materially different to that already experienced between existing 
dwellings on Keswick Street and Moor Park Avenue to the northeast where these back onto 
the car showroom. The degree of separation and relationship achieved between the proposed 
dwellings and the Carcraft site, combined with the restrictions already in place on this site with 
respect to the scale and timing of commercial operations (controlled under application 
97/D34648), would ensure that future occupiers would not experience unacceptable noise and 
disturbance due to operations on the existing Carcraft site. 
 
The proposed development would be compatible with surrounding uses, both in terms of its 
impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the amenity of future 
residents, and is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, 
the objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” and the 
NPPF. 
 
Landscaping: 
 
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should aim to ensure 
that developments: 

 Are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping. 
 
UDP policy BE/8 requires developments to incorporate landscape schemes of a high quality 
where it is necessary to: 

1. Retain and integrate existing trees, planting or other landscape features (including 
areas of nature conservation or value); 

2. Screen or soften a development from adjoining land, or to screen an adjoining use 
from the site; 

3. Provide visual enclosure around car parking, storage or plant areas; 
4. Provide a structure to the development layout to create local character and 

distinctiveness, or as a setting for individual buildings or groups of buildings; 
5. Protect and enhance the setting of existing individual buildings or groups of buildings. 

 

Page 103



The proposed layout provides for garden frontages to each dwelling, with these being 
particularly spacious along the boundary with Keswick Street. These frontages would 
comprise a combination of in-curtilage parking separated by landscaped strips of hedging, 
planting and greenspace. Gardens to the front and side of corner plots on the junction with the 
cul-de-sac (nos. 10 and 17) would ensure a spacious aspect on the corner in order to preserve 
the openness of this junction. Provision of private garden space would be commensurate (and 
in some cases surpass) that presently available at surrounding dwellings.  
 
Boundary treatments would comprise low-level railings to front gardens, with taller walls 
(specifically to corner plots 10 and 17 where these abut the footway) and fencing to rear 
garden boundaries. These boundary treatments would complement those of adjacent 
developments to the east and south, ensuring consistency within the street scene whilst 
provided satisfactory security and privacy for outdoor amenity areas. 
 
The proposed development would achieve an appropriate balance between areas of hard and 
soft landscaping in order to ensure a pleasant visual aspect to the highway, and the layout 
would ensure appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies BE/2 and BE/8, and the NPPF. 
 
Highways: 
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that: 

 Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed; 

 Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations; 

 Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and 

 Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists. 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 

 Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 

 Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 
restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development; 

 Substantially increase congestion; 

 Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 

 Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 

 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 

 Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and 

 Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 

Page 104



In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be “compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation. 
 
UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling.” The policy states that car parking 
provision at less than the maximum standard will be accepted subject to an assessment of the 
following criteria: 

 The location of the development and the appropriateness and feasibility of providing 
parking provision within that location; 

 Access to other transport modes; 

 The availability of other convenient and safe off-street parking; 

 The availability of unutilised on-street parking capacity and the ability to accommodate 
parking without harm to visual amenity or pedestrian / road safety; and 

 The willingness of a developer to fund traffic Orders to establish controls on on-street 
parking or other measures to mitigate the impact, including securing modal shift away 
from vehicular traffic and other traffic management measures 

 
The proposal makes provision for a total of 32 off-road car parking spaces across the 
development – two spaces for 9 houses and a single space for the remaining 14 plots. This 
averages at a level of 1.39 spaces per dwelling across the site area. The Council’s Highways 
Service consider this level of parking provision to be deficient on the basis that it would result 
in on-street parking on both sides of Keswick Street which, in turn, has the potential to create 
an obstruction to the detriment of highway safety. 
 
Dwellings lacking two off-road car parking spaces would predominantly comprise two-bedroom 
properties in terraces fronting onto Keswick Street. In these cases, it is impractical to provide 
two spaces to the front of the dwellings as there would be insufficient space for these parking 
bays and a separate pathway to the entrance door of the houses or intervening landscaping. 
The provision of two car parking spaces within the front garden of each house would result in 
a harsh, unattractive and over-engineered frontage along Keswick Street from a visual 
perspective. Each of the dwellings fronting onto Keswick Street forming part of the phase 1 
development to the south benefit from two back-to-back car parking spaces within elongated 
driveways alongside their gable elevations. Given this provision on the adjacent site, any on-
street parking is likely to be limited to one side of the highway. The carriageway of Keswick 
Street is 5.5 metres wide, with 1.8 metre footways flanking both sides. This width is sufficient 
to allow oncoming vehicles to pass cars parked on one side of the carriageway. Moreover, as 
the site lies at the head of a quiet and lightly trafficked suburban road, it is not considered that 
the lack of 200% parking provision for the dwellings (and the average across the development 
falling only 0.11 spaces below the required 1.5 space standard) gives sustainable grounds for 
the refusal of planning permission in this location. It is also noted that several properties 
forming part of the market housing development to the east also benefit from only a single off-
road car parking space. 
 
With respect to the mitigating circumstances outlined in criteria (a) – (e) of policy A/10, 
criterion (a), (b) and (d) are applicable in the case. For the reasons outlined above, it would be 
unfeasible to provide two off-road car parking spaces for each dwelling in accordance with 
criterion (a). The site occupies a sustainable location which is readily accessible by modes of 
transport other than private car – including being within walking distance of schools, shops 
and other facilities in Castleton – in accordance with criterion (b) and there is sufficient 

Page 105



capacity on Keswick Street to accommodate additional on-street parking demand likely to be 
generated by the development in accordance with criterion (d). The parking standards outlined 
in Appendix C of the UDP are expressed as a maximum, the intention being to limit provision 
of spaces to some degree in accessible locations so as to encourage more efficient land use 
and encourage access by modes of transport other than the car. Given the relevance of the 
mitigating circumstances identified in policy A/10 where the maximum parking standard will not 
be required and the lack of any specific necessity to discourage or restrict on-street parking 
along this quiet and lightly trafficked stretch of Keswick Street, it is not considered that the 
level of parking proposed would be unduly detrimental to highway safety so as to warrant 
refusal of the application on these grounds. Therefore, there is no demonstrable conflict with 
the objectives of UDP policy A/10 in this case and the cumulative impact of the development 
would not be ‘severe’ for the purposes of paragraph 32 of the NPPF. 
 
The highway along this stretch of Keswick Street (constructed as part of the phase 1 
development) has been designed with the intention that the application site will be developed 
and, accordingly, to incorporate sufficient capacity to accommodate the level of traffic likely to 
be generated by the proposal. The Council’s Highways Service have raised no objection to the 
application on the grounds of network capacity and the proposed access arrangements to 
dwellings from the highway (including the design of the new cul-de-sac branching off Keswick 
Street) would ensure safe and convenient access and circulation for pedestrians and vehicle 
traffic in accordance with the requirement of UDP policies A/3, A/8, A/9, A/10 and BE/2, and 
the NPPF. 
 
Flood Risk: 
 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk”. 
 
UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met: 

 It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water; 

 It will not itself be at risk from flooding; 

 Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used; 

 Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided; 

 Existing or proposed flood defences are protected; 

 It would not result in extensive culverting; and 

 Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 
developer’s expense. 

 
The site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in 1000 
or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). Whilst the site area itself falls 
below the threshold for requiring a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), the 
development forms part of a larger scheme over 1.5 hectares and it is considered that the 
provisions of the FRA submitted in connection with application 11/D54897 remain relevant to 
the application site with respect to the proposed surface water drainage strategy and 
discharge rate to the existing sewer network.  
 
The submitted FRA identifies the main risk of flooding being related to the control of surface 
water run-off. The FRA proposes a maximum discharge rate of 4 litres per second for the site 
(which includes the phase 1 development). An appropriate condition has been imposed 
requiring a detailed drainage design to be submitted to indicate that the rate of surface water 
run-off from the site will not exceed this figure in accordance with the advice of the EA. 

Page 106



Therefore, adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the development 
poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding (either on the site or elsewhere) in accordance 
with the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and the NPPF. 
 
Ecology: 
 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles: 

 if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; 

 opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. 

 
UDP policy NE/3 indicates that in areas not identified as SBIs, LNRs, SSSIs, SPAs or SACs, 
the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of ecological value 
will be taken into account in assessing proposals. 
 
UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that: 

 There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 

 Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 
required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and 

 Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation. 

 
The land does not form part of any statutorily designated or non-designated site of nature 
conservation. The closest of these (the Rochdale Canal Special Area of Conservation) is 
located some 0.6 kilometres to the southeast. The application is accompanied by an ecology 
survey which assesses the nature conservation value of the land with respect to flora and 
fauna, and the likely impact of the development on any protected species. 
 
The survey identifies seven habitat categories throughout the site (including both phase 1 and 
phase 2 areas). The habitat with the greatest ecological significance (‘marshy grassland’) has 
already been developed as part of phase 1. The application site is, in contrast, characterised 
by a combination of ‘dense scrub’, ‘poor/semi-improved grassland’ and ‘amenity grassland’ of 
lesser importance in terms of biodiversity and the potential to support protected or notable 
species. The trees overhanging the northern site boundary with the adjacent Carcraft site are 
also not considered to be of any special significance (though these would not be affected by 
the development in any case). The survey confirms that, whilst some habitats have the 
potential to support species including reptiles, amphibians and nesting birds, this is limited to 
foraging opportunities. 
 
The survey confirms that no rare or notable plants or protected species are present on the site 
and advises that any landscaping provided as part of the development should be designed 
(having particular regard to the species provided) to provide biodiversity enhancements. An 
appropriate landscaping condition has been recommended in this regard. 
 
The habitat value of the majority of the land is low and those with the greatest value have 
already been developed as part of phase 1. The proposal would have no detrimental impact 
on the favourable conservation status of any protected species and satisfactory 
enhancements can be achieved through the provision of an appropriate landscaping scheme. 

Page 107



The proposed development is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies 
NE/3 and NE/4, and the NPPF. 
 
Contamination: 
 
The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any issues which may exist on the 
site can be adequately identified and addressed by the imposition of a condition requiring the 
submission and approval of a contamination report and implementation of any appropriate 
remediation measures required. It is therefore considered that the requirements of UDP policy 
EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF can be satisfactorily addressed through 
condition. 
 
Energy: 

 
UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include: 

 The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development; 

 The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and 

 The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies. 

 
The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments 
of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended 
that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 
2020. However, under current economic circumstances, it is considered that the cost 
implications of achieving Level 4 would have significant viability implications for many 
developments and would prejudice the potential to secure other financial contributions 
required in order to mitigate a development’s impact (e.g. affordable housing and recreational 
open space). As a result, it is considered that code level 3 provides the most appropriate 
target for residential developments at the present time. 
 
A feasibility study submitted with the application investigates the potential for incorporating 
renewable energy technologies into the development in order to reduce carbon emissions to 
coincide with the development’s requirement to meet a code for sustainable homes rating of 
level 3. It has been adequately demonstrated that measures can be incorporated into the 
development in order to conserve and assist in the efficient use of energy in accordance with 
the requirements of UDP policy EM/13 and the Council’s SPD “Energy and New 
Development”. An appropriate condition has been recommended requiring the dwellings to 
achieve code level 3. 
 
Developer Contributions: 
 
A development of the size proposed would be required to make contributions towards 
recreational open space and affordable housing in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies H/6 and H/7, and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents. These 
contributions would need to be secured through a planning obligation in accordance with the 
provisions of S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act. Paragraph 204 of the NPPF states 
that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the following tests (reiterated 
in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations): 

Page 108



 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

 directly related to the development; and  

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
A planning obligation, in the form of a Unilateral Undertaking (UU), was entered into as part of 
application 11/D54897. This obligation covers both sites (phase 1 relating to the full 
application on the southern part of the site and phase 2 relating to an outline application on the 
northern part which is the subject of this full application) and, therefore, is intrinsically linked to 
the development. In summary, this obligation includes the following: 
 

1 On-site physical improvement works to facilities at Mayfield Sports Club. 
2 Provision of 35 affordable dwellings on the site. 
3 An off-site contribution towards Local Open Space (including a 4% administration 

charge) in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy H/6 and the Council’s 
present schedule of charges (calculated on a ‘per bedroom’ basis), to be made in two 
instalments linked to each phase of development. 

4 An off-site contribution of £3,400 towards improvements at Castleton Railway Station. 
 
With respect to the phase 2 development, the latter two off-site financial contributions are 
subject to a viability test as defined within the agreement. In addition, the dwellings to be 
constructed under phase 2 of the development are referred to as “private sale units” in the 
existing UU. 
 
Having regard to the provisions of the existing UU, the following contributions would be 
applicable in this case:  
 
Recreational Open Space: 
 
UDP policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate provision for 
recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 hectare per 1000 
population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) provision. In the case of 
developments involving less than 100 bedrooms, contributions to open space would typically 
be made off-site in lieu of on-site provision. In the case of off-site contributions a commuted 
sum payment towards the laying out (including 20 year maintenance maintenance) and/or 
improvement of off-site recreational open space is required. Contributions to off-site 
recreational open space are calculated on the basis of the number of bedrooms being created 
by a development and the resulting demand for recreational open space arising from the 
occupation of the new houses. 
 
The schedule of accommodation associated with the proposed development would lead to a 
63 bedroom scheme on a vacant site. In normal circumstances, this would attract a financial 
contribution towards off-site open space of £57,100.68. However, in this case, the 
improvements to be made to outdoor sports facilities at Mayfield Sports club secured as part 
of the existing UU are considered to constitute an on-site provision towards Outdoor Sports. 
Accordingly, the only off-site contribution which would be applicable would be towards local 
open space. Considering this contribution only (including a 4% administration charge), the 
proposed 63 bedroom development would require a financial contribution of £27,190.80 
towards local open space – this being the equivalent figure identified in the existing agreement 
as the “open space contribution”. 
 
Affordable Housing: 
 
UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution towards 
the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site means as 
appropriate. 

Page 109



 
Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing 
will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a 
discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a 
maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in 
accordance with the formula below: 
 

 
 
A total of 35 affordable dwellings have already been provided on the site through the first 
phase of development in accordance with the existing UU. The wording of the UU indicates 
that the phase 2 development (now being applied for as a separate, full application) was to 
deliver “private sale units” rather than affordable housing. However, as the current application 
has been submitted by Great Places Housing Group (a Register Provider), the intention is that 
all the proposed dwellings (across phases 1 and 2) would be affordable. The Provider has 
indicated that the 23 dwellings proposed as part of this application are to be offered for 
affordable rent. 
 
Viability: 
 
Paragraph 173 of the NPPF states that: 

 Pursuing sustainable development requires careful attention to viability and costs in 
plan-making and decision-taking. Plans should be deliverable. Therefore, the sites and 
the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a scale of 
obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened. To 
ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to development, 
such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or 
other requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of development 
and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing developer 
to enable the development to be deliverable. 

 
In addition, paragraph 205 of the NPPF indicates that: 

 Where obligations are being sought or revised, local planning authorities should take 
account of changes in market conditions over time and, wherever appropriate, be 
sufficiently flexible to prevent planned development being stalled. 

 
Whilst UDP policy H/7 and its accompanying SPD (Affordable Housing) include provisions to 
limit/waive contributions in cases where such contributions would make a scheme unviable, 
UDP policy H/6 states that the requirement for recreational open space will only be 
““waived/reduced/varied in those circumstances where a housing proposal arises in an area 
where the existing recreational open space is sufficient to cater for existing need as well as 
that arising from the development.” Therefore, this policy does not cite issues of viability as a 
specific consideration with respect to open space. Nevertheless, this approach has been 
superseded by guidance within the NPPF where, in terms of any conflict between policies 
contained within existing local plans and those in the NPPF, paragraphs 214 and 215 of the 
NPPF state that: 
 

 For 12 months from the day of publication, decision-takers may continue to give full 
weight to relevant policies adopted since 2004 even if there is a limited degree of 
conflict with this Framework. 

Page 110



 In other cases and following this 12-month period, due weight should be given to 
relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with this 
framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the 
greater the weight that may be given). 
 

The NPPF was adopted in March 2012. As the 12 month period identified in paragraph 215 
has now expired, the fact that UDP policy H/6 fails to allow a flexible approach towards 
contributions to recreational open space with respect to viability considerations places the 
policy in conflict with paragraphs 173 and 205 of the NPPF. Paragraph 215 of the NPPF 
indicates that, where such conflict exists, the guidance within the NPPF should prevail. 
Accordingly, viability is capable of being a material consideration when assessing what level of 
contribution a development should make towards recreational open space provision. 
 
The developer has submitted a viability appraisal which outlines estimated build costs 
associated with the development (including abnormal costs, contingencies, professional fees 
and finances costs) and anticipated revenue generated from the sale of the dwellings 
(accounting for the fact that the affordable dwellings would be transferred at a fixed price). 
 
Based on the site being developed for a 100 per cent affordable housing scheme (and with no 
other contributions included) the appraisal estimates that, once completed, the development 
would generate a profit on cost and profit on Gross Development Value (GDV - the total 
revenue generated through sales) of 2.57% and 2.50% respectively. As the scheme is for 100 
per cent affordable housing (and, accordingly, the sale price of the dwellings is fixed rather 
than market led), it is recognised that a lower profit margin – a figure of 6% is referred to in this 
case – is targeted in comparison to market-led developments (normally 15-20%). This 
represents the normal margin expected in order to make a development a viable proposition in 
accordance with a risk-based approach. At 2.50%, the anticipated return on GDV falls 
significantly below the market target of 6% and, accordingly, any further financial contributions 
sought through a planning obligation would make the scheme unviable. The Council’s Quantity 
Surveyor has assessed the submitted viability appraisal and concludes that the submitted 
appraisal is a fair and accurate estimation of likely profit margins associated with the proposed 
affordable housing development based on current market conditions and industry standards 
associated with predicted build costs. 
 
In accordance with paragraph 173 of the NPPF, it would be unreasonable to seek 
contributions from a development where such contributions would fail to provide competitive 
returns to a willing land owner and willing developer and, ultimately, make a scheme 
undeliverable. Whilst present figures indicate that the scheme could not deliver any off-site 
financial contributions as a result of viability, it is noted that the scheme would make provision 
for a further 23 affordable dwellings on site in accordance with UDP policy H/7. It is considered 
that the viability appraisal submitted by the applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated that any 
further off-site contributions (in this case specifically towards open space and improvements to 
Castleton railway Station) would undermine the viability of the scheme. Therefore, the only 
contribution to be secured in respect of this scheme is towards affordable housing on site. 
 
Conclusion and mechanism to secure contributions: 
 
An existing UU (the scope of which is outlined above) is in place on the site to cover both 
phases of development. However, given the viability issues highlighted above, it is evident that 
the off-site contributions towards open space and improvements to Castleton Railway Station 
associated with phase 2 would unacceptably affect the viability of the scheme and, 
accordingly, will not be brought forward as part of the development. The existing UU does, 
however, include an off-site contribution towards local open space (defined as the “first 
instalment of the open space contribution”) for the phase 1 development, with the trigger for 
this being the occupation of “more than 35 dwellings”. 

Page 111



The existing UU needs to be varied (or a new obligation completed) in order to address the 
following: 

 to ensure that the existing requirements of the UU are met with respect to the off-site 
open space contribution associated with the phase 1 development of 35 affordable 
dwellings (triggered following the occupation of the 36th dwelling on the site which will 
be brought forward under phase 2 as part of this application); 

 to ensure that the 23 affordable dwellings to be provided as part of this application 
meet the definition of affordable housing in the NPPF and are provided for this 
purpose; and  

 to vary the terms of the existing UU by removing off-site contributions towards open 
space and Castleton Railway Station associated with the phase 2 development as a 
result of the scheme’s viability. 

 
Therefore, appropriate and proportionate contributions would be secured as part of the 
development in order to mitigate its impact in accordance with the requirements of the relevant 
UDP policies and the NPPF. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Committee resolve: 
 
That it is minded to grant planning permission subject to the conditions set out below and 
subject to the completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act to vary the provisions of the Unilateral Undertaking dated 19th October 
associated with planning approval 11/D54897 in respect of: 
 

 Contributions towards recreational open space (both on and off site) in accordance 
with the provisions of UDP policy H/6. 

 The provision of affordable housing on site in accordance with the requirements of 
UDP policy H/7. 

 Contributions towards improvements at Castleton Railway Station in accordance with 
the provisions of UDP policy A/19. 

 
That the Chief Planning Officer be authorised to issue the decision notice upon completion of 
the planning obligation. 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission.  
   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 This permission relates to the following plans:  
   
 Drawing no. 100 – Location plan.  
 Drawing no. 105 Rev E – Proposed site plan.  
 Drawing no. 106 Rev E – Proposed street elevations.  
 Drawing no. HT100 Rev A – House type 1 – 4B7P floor plans.  
 Drawing no. HT101 Rev A – House type 1 – 4B7P elevations.  
 Drawing no. HT200 Rev B – House type 2 – 2B4P floor plans.  
 Drawing no. HT201 Rev C – House type 2 – 2B4P elevations.  
 Drawing no. HT300 Rev A – House type 3 – 3B5P floor plans.  
 Drawing no. HT300 Rev A – House type 3 – 3B5P floor plans (plot 10).  

Page 112



 Drawing no. HT301 Rev B – House type 3 – 3B5P elevations.  
 Drawing no. HT301 Rev C – House type 3 – 3B5P elevations (plot 10).  
 Drawing no. HT400 Rev A – House type 4 – 3B5P floor plans.  
 Drawing no. HT401 Rev B – House type 4 – 3B5P elevations.  
 Drawing no. HT500 Rev A – House type 5 – 2B4P floor plans (plot 17).  
 Drawing no. HT501 Rev B – House type 5 – 2B4P elevations (plot 17).  
   
 The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 

drawings.  
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 

development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground works 

shall take place until samples or full details of all materials to be used on the external 
surfaces of the dwellings have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of the 
materials. The development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the duly 
approved materials.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 

character of surrounding buildings and the street scene in the interests of visual 
amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies 
BE/2 and H/3. 

 
 4 Notwithstanding any details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 

condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until details of 
all windows and doors to be used on the external surfaces of the dwellings (including 
their materials, finishes, recesses and opening profile) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The windows and doors shall be 
installed in accordance with the duly approved details before the dwellings hereby 
approved are first occupied and shall be retained as such thereafter.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 

character of the site and its surroundings in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/2 and H/3. 

 
 5 Details of finished floor levels and external ground levels for each plot shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development at that plot takes place. The development shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with the duly approved details.  

   
 Reason:  In order to ensure a satisfactory relationship between the new dwellings and 

surrounding buildings in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development 
Plan Policies H/3 and BE/2. 

 
 6 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment (in addition 

to any assessment provided with the planning application) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on 
the site. The assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written 
report of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development takes place. The submitted report shall include:
  

   

Page 113



 i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination  
 ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
      • human health,  

 • property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,  
woodland, and service lines and pipes,  

      • adjoining land,  
     • groundwaters and surface waters,  
      • ecological systems,  
     • archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
 iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 

proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site.  
   
 The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly 

approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the dwellings hereby approved 
are first occupied.   

   
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 

development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 7 Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, within 6 months 

of the final dwelling hereby approved first being occupied, a Building Research 
Establishment issued Final Code Certificate confirming that each dwelling built has 
achieved a minimum Code for Sustainable Homes rating of level 3 shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and makes efficient use of 

energy, water and materials in accordance with Policy EM/13 of the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan and the Council’s ‘Energy and New Development’ Supplementary 
Planning Document. 

 
 8 Unless an alternative scheme has first been submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority, boundary treatments to each plot shall be erected in 
accordance with the details shown on drawing no. 105 Rev E before the dwelling on 
that plot is first occupied, and shall be retained as such thereafter.  

   
 Reason: In the interests of the security of future occupiers, to ensure adequate levels 

of privacy between neighbouring dwellings and in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies H/3 and BE/2. 

 
 9 No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of foul and 

surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, the scheme shall include:  

   
 - Details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site to any existing surface 

water sewer (including any necessary flow attenuation measures), which shall not 
exceed 4 litres per second.  

 - Details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after installation.  
   
 The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the duly approved details before 

any of the dwellings are first occupied, or within any other timescale first agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

   

Page 114



 Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development, to 
ensure that surface water discharge rates are limited to pre-development (greenfield) 
levels in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment by Michael Lambert 
Associates (dated 03/06/2010) and to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface and foul 
water from the site in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policy EM/7 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10 Notwithstanding any details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 

condition 2 of this permission, within three months of development first taking place a 
landscaping scheme for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall include details of the type, species, 
siting, planting distances and the programme of planting of trees and shrubs. The duly 
approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out during the first planting season after 
the development is substantially completed and the areas which are landscaped shall 
be retained as landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being 
severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of planting shall 
be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required 
to be planted.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve satisfactory treatment of open spaces between and 

around buildings in the interests of visual amenity and to provide biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, BE/8 and EM/3, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
11 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following:  

 (i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction;  
 (ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  
 (iii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;  
 (iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
 (v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding;  
 (vi) wheel washing facilities;  
 (vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; and  
 (viii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works. 
   
 The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.  
   
 Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 

nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
12 Before each dwelling hereby approved is first occupied, a scheme for the design and 

construction (including surface treatment) of its associated parking areas shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The parking 
areas shall be provided in accordance with the duly approved details before each 
associated dwelling is first occupied, and retained thereafter for the parking of vehicles.
  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure there is adequate provision for vehicles to be parked clear 

of the highway and to ensure appropriate surface treatment of parking areas in the 
interests of highway safety and visual amenity in accordance with the requirements of 

Page 115



Unitary Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and A/10, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
13 No development shall take place until a scheme for the design, construction and 

drainage of the new cul-de-sac branching off Keswick Street shown on drawing no. 
105 Rev E (including provision for an adequate visibility splay at its junction with 
Keswick Street) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The cul-de-sac shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the duly 
approved details before any of the dwellings to be served by that road are first 
occupied, except that final surfacing shall not take place until the final dwelling to be 
served by that road has been substantially completed. The areas of land falling within 
the approved visibility splay shall be kept clear of all obstructions in excess of one 
metre in height.  

   
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works, surface treatment 

and visibility at junctions with existing highways in order to achieve appropriate 
provision for vehicle access, circulation and manoeuvring in the interests of highway 
safety in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, 
A/8 and A/9. 

 
 
Report Author Matthew Taylor 

 
 
  __________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



Application Number: 14/00542/OUT    Ward: Kingsway       
 

 
Proposal: Outline application, with all matters reserved, for a mixed use business park 
comprising buildings within development plots as shown on the site location plan for 
General and Light Industrial Uses (Classes B1 and B2), Offices in the Use Class B1, 
Distribution and Storage Uses (Class B8), Research and Development Uses in Use 
Class B1, Car Showrooms (Sui Generis Use), Hotels in Use Class C1, Ancillary Retail 
and Leisure in Use Classes A1 - A5 and D2, and Residential in Use Class C3 
 

Site Address: Kingsway Business Park John Boyd Dunlop Drive Rochdale OL16 4NG  
 

Applicant: Mr David Ward 
                  WBD and the Homes and Communities Agency 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 

Page 117



DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
This application has been referred to the Licensing and Regulatory Committee as it falls within 
both Rochdale and Pennines Township areas. The views of Rochdale Township Planning Sub 
Committee and Pennines Township Planning Sub Committee were sought at their meetings of 
29 and 30 July 2014 respectively. Members of both those Committees resolved that they 
supported the application but made comments on the car showroom and residential proposals 
and the quality of the existing highways.  
 
Members may approve or refuse this application on reasonable planning grounds. 
 
SITE 
 
The application site relates to a large proportion of the area of land currently under 
development as the Kingsway Business Park. This application relates to the areas of the 
business park that have not yet been developed. 
 
The Kingsway Business Park is an area of land measuring approximately 170 hectares (420 
acres), which lies between Kingsway (A664) and the M62 motorway. 
 
The development works that have been undertaken so far across the site include:- 
 

 The creation of a series of development plateaux, some of which have now been 
developed with commercial buildings (approximately 170,000 sq.m of floor space) 
or housing;  

 The construction of the spine road of Sir Isaac Newton Way linking Kingsway, at its 
junction with Moss Bridge Road with an improved junction at the M62; 

 Significant other internal access roads within the business park, including the 
southern loop road (John Milne Avenue), and part of the northern loop road 
(Michael Faraday Way); 

 The drainage infrastructure, including four balancing ponds within the Stanney 
Brook greenspace corridor; 

 The principal service provisions, including a primary sub-station and foul pumping 
station; 

 Much of the structural landscape planting including the creation of mounding along 
parts of the site boundary and the creation and enhancement of the Stanney Brook 
greenspace corridor; 

 Various ecological mitigation works for protected species found across the site, 
including mud snails, water voles and certain species of birds; 

 The construction of a series of footpaths and cycleways across the site.  
 
The two largest developments within the business park so far are the “J.D Sports” distribution 
warehouse and its associated offices on plot T1  and the “Asda” chilled/frozen goods 
distribution centre on plot J1. There are also six other smaller general industrial/storage & 
distribution units that have been developed on plots E and D2 and which are all now occupied.  
“David Wilson Homes” have developed out approximately 60 houses on plot S (out of the total 
of 167 granted on that plot). “The Hornet” PH/family restaurant, has also most recently been 
developed by Greene King at the entrance to the business park from Kingsway. 
 
The western boundary of the business park is a combination of the playing fields/all-weather 
sports facilities belonging to the Kingsway Park High School, the houses on Turf Hill Estate, 
Neston Road, Lower Lane and the old and new parts of Broad Lane. 
 
The southern boundary is the M62 motorway running in a north-easterly direction from Broad 
Lane to Junction 21. 

Page 118



 
The eastern boundary is a combination of the residential areas of Ashfield Lane, Egremont 
Road, Beechfield Road and Woodlands Road, Stanney Brook Park, the residential area of 
Buckley Hill Lane and the Metrolink line. 
 
The northern boundary is the Rochdale Canal (beyond which there is more housing), and 
Kingsway (A664). 
 
The Stanney Brook runs in a general south east to north-west direction in the eastern section 
of the site and part of the corridor has been designated as a Site of Biological Importance. 
Stanney Brook Park, a public park, is at the eastern boundary of the site with its access taken 
from Buckley Hill Lane. These areas have been designated as the Stanney Brook Corridor, 
which is to be left undeveloped and retained and enhanced for informal recreational and 
ecological purposes.  
 
There are a number of rights of way running across the business park. Some of the original 
routes have either been formally closed or diverted, whilst others have been temporarily 
closed for the duration of various development works in forming the primary infrastructure of 
the business park. Under the existing outline and full planning permissions for the business 
park a network of new and improved cycleway and footpaths have already been, or are to still 
to be, created across the whole site.   
 
Vehicular access to the business park is only gained from Kingsway and the M62 at junction 
21 via the spine road through the site, Sir Isaac Newton Way. All other previous vehicular 
routes to and from the business park have been closed off except for the access to and from a 
few residential properties on the southern side of the M62 along Dig Gate Lane. 
 
There are three Grade II Listed Buildings within the area of the business park. However, they 
do not sit within any of the areas identified as part of this application but are adjoining parts of 
the application site. These listed buildings are: ‘Silver Hill Farm’ on Lower Lane, ‘Dixon Green’ 
on Lower Lane and ‘Broadshaw Farm’ on Broad Shaw Lane. The application site is also close 
to the Grade II Listed Building of ‘Tithe Barn’ on Lower Lane, although that building lies on the 
opposite side of Lower Lane and is not within the boundary of the business park.     
 
In early 2014 the Metrolink line from Rochdale – Oldham – Manchester became operational 
and there is a specific stop to serve the Kingsway Business Park, on its eastern boundary.        
 
PROPOSAL 
 
This is an outline application to renew the existing outline planning permission for the 
Kingsway Business Park (reference D52264). That outline consent is still extant and has a 
further five years until it expires. However, as a result of market changes, the opening of the 
Metrolink, the opportunity to include a small amount of additional land within the overall site, 
and the need to respond to growing competition from other business park sites within the 
north-west area, this new outline application has been submitted. 
 
Whilst parts of the original comprehensive Kingsway site have been developed and sold-off, 
the overall development opportunity at Kingsway remains within the control of the Kingsway 
Partnership. This Partnership comprises Wilson Bowden Developments Ltd, the Homes and 
Communities Agency, Rochdale Borough Council and the Rochdale Development Agency. 
Accordingly, the development approach remains consistent with the aims and objectives of the 
over-arching planning policies established to create a comprehensive mixed use business 
park for Rochdale. The applicants are Wilson Bowden and the Homes & Communities 
Agency. 
 

Page 119



The proposed application site for the new outline only encompasses those parts of the site 
where buildings have yet to be detailed and developed. 
 
As well as the inclusion of a small amount of additional land at Plots M and V, the new outline 
seeks approval for a number of changes from the original permission in order to reflect current 
market circumstances. In summary, these 
changes include: 
 

 a greater concentration of office development around the Metrolink stop at the eastern 
side of the site (on plots P, Q, R and on part of the former Plot X); 

 car showroom uses on the frontage of Plot M; 

 re-arranged residential uses within the site to allow for residential development on Plot 
U; 

 a more flexible approach to B1/B2/B8 uses on the remaining main employment plots 
(Plots D, F, G, H, I, J, K, L, M, N, and T); 

 the local centre focussed close to the northern entrance to the Kingsway site, on the 
newly included Plot V; and, 

 a reduced D2 leisure use on Plot F. 
 
Overall, whilst introducing these changes, the proposed description of development generally 
reflects the original permission, with just the one additional new development use proposed 
(i.e. the car showrooms). 
 
In order to support this new application, a new set of documents have been submitted, these 
are:- 
 

 An updated Transportation Statement; 

 A revised Ecological Management Statement, (by way of an addendum to the originally 
approved Ecological Management Plan, (EMP); 

 A Design & Access Statement; 

 A Flood Risk and Drainage Statement; 

 A revised ‘control’ or “parameters” plan and ‘schedule of development’, which sets out 
the parameters and the scale of the proposed new development, consistent with the 
original provisions of the existing outline planning permission D52264;  

 A Planning Statement; 

 A Statement of Community Involvement. 
 
The above documents have all been prepared by the applicants in the light of the already 
partly implemented development. All the documents need to be considered within the context 
of the original outline permission and its approved Environmental Statement and also the 
already discharged planning conditions of the existing outline permission. 
 
The Council has already confirmed, under its Screening Opinion process, that a fresh 
Environmental Statement is not required for this new application.  
 
The application is made in outline, with all matters reserved for subsequent approval.  In 
summary, the proposed uses would be as follows:- 
 
Use                         (Gross External) Floor area (approx)        Height of buildings  
 
A1/A2 retail/            1,500 sq.m                                               7 to 12m 
Commercial 
 
A3/A5 food & drink   616  sq.m                                                4 to 9m 
 

Page 120



B1 office                   59, 545 sq.m                                           6 to 12m 
 
B1 business/B2-       179, 512  sq.m                                        8 to 25m 
general industrial/ 
B8- storage &               
distribution 
 
C1 Hotel(s)               11, 654  sq.m                                          7-18m 
  
C3 Residential          133 dwellings                                          5 to 8m 
 
D2 Leisure                 5,146  sq.m                                           up to 10m 
  
Small scale uses       3,197 sq.m                                             up to 7m 
(appropriate to the 
listed buildings) 
 
Car showrooms         4, 880sq.m                                              up to 9m 
 
The above building heights are broadly consistent with those specified in the previous outline 
permission.  
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied and creates a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. For decision making this means:  
 
approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay;  
 
and where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of date, granting 
permission unless  any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; or 
specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted (Para 14). 
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 
 
G/D/1   -  Defined Urban Area 
 
G/EC/1 -  Employment Land Supply 
EC/7     - Kingsway Business Park 
 
G/H/1   -  Housing 
H/3       -  Residential developments outside allocated areas 
H/5       -  Residential density 
H/6       -  Provision of recreational open space in new housing development  
H/7       - Affordable housing 
 
G/S/1    - Hierarchy and Role of Centres 
 
G/S/2    - Regeneration of Centres 

Page 121



S/7        - Local shops and services 
S/8        - Retail development outside town, district and local centres 
S/10      - Food & drink outlets 
 
G/LT/1  - Leisure & Tourism 
LT/3      - Development for tourism and leisure 
 
G/G/1    - Greenspace 
G/8        - Greenspace corridors 
G/9        - Stanney Brook Corridor and Park 
 
G/RE/1  - Countryside and the Rural Economy 
RE/5      - Access to the countryside 
RE/6      - Recreational rights of way 
 
G/A/1     - Accessibility 
A/2         - Accessibility hierarchy 
A/3         - New development -  access for pedestrians and disabled people 
A/4         - New development-access for cyclists 
A/5         - New development-access for bus services  
A/6         - New development- access by taxi 
A/7         - New development- access for service vehicles 
A/8         - New development-capacity of the highway network 
A/9         - New development-access for general traffic 
A/10       - New development-provision of parking 
A/11       - New development-transport assessments 
A/12       - New development-travel plans and school travel plans 
A/13       - Local walking route network 
A/14       - A strategic walking network 
A/18       - Metrolink 
  
G/BE/1   - Design Quality 
BE/2       - Design criteria for new development 
BE/7       - Street furniture and the public realm 
BE/8       - Landscaping in new development 
 
G/EM/1   - Environmental Management 
EM/2       - Pollution 
EM/3       - Noise and new development 
EM/5       - Development in proximity to landfill sites 
EM/7       - Development & flood risk 
EM/8       - Protection of surface and ground water 
EM/13     - Energy efficiency and new development 
 
G/NE/1    - Nature Conservation 
NE/2        - Designated sites of ecological importance 
NE/3        - Biodiversity and development 
NE/4        - Protected species 
 
G/NE/5    Landscape & Woodlands 
NE/6        -Landscape protection and enhancement 
NE/8        -Development affecting Trees, woodlands and hedgerows. 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing – March 2008 

Page 122



Energy & New Development – May 2008 
Oldham and Rochdale Urban Design Guide – Supplementary Planning Document 
Energy and New Development – Supplementary Planning Document 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
1999   -   Outline application for proposed business park, for B2 
               General and B1 light industrial use and office uses, B8 distribution  
                and storage uses, C3 hotels, ancillary A1, A2, A3 & D2 retail and  
                leisure uses and C1 residential uses, including details of the uses  
                and sitting and means of access to development on plots C, D, E, G,  
                H, I & T. (D35130). Approved. 
 
1999   -    Construction of spine road to serve business park including highway  
                connection to the north side of junction 21 of the motorway, (M62). 
                (D35132). Approved. 
 
1999   -    Construction of estate roads and water attenuation areas, (D36760).    
                Approved. 
 
 2009  -   Screening opinion in respect of updating outline planning permission   D35130 for 

the Kingsway Business Park, (reference D52133). Environmental Impact 
Assessment not required. 

 
   2009  -  Renewal of outline application with all matters reserved for a business park within  

development plots C – X (inclusive), for B2 general and B1 light industrial use and 
office uses, B8 distribution and storage uses, C3 hotels, ancillary A1, A2, A3 & D2 
retail and leisure uses and C1 residential uses, (reference D52264). Approved 8 
October 2009. 

 
2011   -  Planning permission granted on 15 September 2011 for the construction of a new 

Metrolink stop ‘Kingsway’ along the former Oldham loop Heavy Rail corridor 
adjacent to Turbury Walk.   (D54645) 

  
2011    -   Planning permission granted on 18 August 2011 for preliminary      
                footpath/cycleway link to proposed Kingsway Metrolink stop and the   proposed 

northern loop road extension. (D54565). 
 
2014  -  An Environmental Impact Assessment, (EIA), Screening Opinion for the current 

proposal was submitted on 17/4/14. Decision – an EIA is not required.  
 
PUBLICITY RESPONSES 
 
The application was advertised by a press notice and by site notices as a major application 
and as development likely to affect the setting of various listed buildings within and adjacent to 
the site. 
 
A total of 215 neighbouring residents and other properties were directly notified of the 
application. 
 
No representations have been received. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



 
CONSULTATION REPSONSES 
 
Highways & Engineering:-  
 
No objections. A condition should be imposed however, to require the continued compliance 
with the existing site-wide Travel Plan and also the submission of individual site Travel Plans 
for the subsequent development of each individual plot.   
 
Environmental Health:- 
 
No objections subject to the imposition of the same conditions as imposed on the existing 
outline consent to control matters such as noise, external illumination and other matters of 
general amenity. 
 
Highways Agency:- 
 
No objections, but directs that the following conditions being imposed:- 
 

 The development shall not exceed the following total, (gross internal), floor space levels 
 

 Car Show Rooms (4,645sq.m.) 

 B1(a) Offices (56,118sq.m.) 

 B1(c)/B2 (55,457sq/m.) 

 B8 (110,507sq.m.) 

 C1 Hotel (10,927sq.m.) 

 C3 residential (133 units;  

 D2 Leisure (4,970sq.m) and 

 Local Services (mixed) (6,107 sqm) 
 

 A condition to secure a travel plan. 
 
Environment Agency:- 
 
Raise no objections to the development but recommend conditions to address the following 
areas:- 
 

 Surface water management 

 Biodiversity 
 
Greater Manchester Ecological Unit:- 
 
There are no objections to the updated proposals on nature conservation grounds providing 
that the Ecology Management Plan (Addendum) prepared by Brooks Ecological and dated 
December 2013 ref. R-1131-071 is adopted and implemented.  
 
Greater Manchester Archaeological Services:- 
 
No objections in principle.  
 
This development site was subject to a previous outline planning consent in 2009 (09/52264) 
and two conditions were imposed to secure archaeological interests:- 
 
Condition No. 49 related to an outstanding piece of archaeological investigation at the former 
“Vitaluxan Works” factory (plot K). An archaeological evaluation was undertaken and it was 

Page 124



found that little of archaeological value survived; therefore no further archaeological work is 
required for this plot. 
 
Condition No.50 required a scheme for disseminating the results of the pieces of 
archaeological investigation that had taken place across the Kingsway Business Park 
development site. To comply with this requirement, the developers commissioned Oxford 
Archaeology North (OAN) to produce a monograph and popular publication on the history and 
archaeology of the site, and also the content for two information boards. As OAN has been 
contracted to undertake these pieces of dissemination, GMAAS are happy that the 
archaeological requirements have been met. 
 
The only remaining concern for GMAAS is the location, style and form of the two information 
boards which they are yet to be consulted on.  
 
Transport for Greater Manchester:- 
 
No comments received. 
 
Rochdale Development Agency:- 
 
No comments received. 
 
Homes & Communities Agency:- 
 
No comments to make.  
 
United Utilities:- 
 
No objections, subject to no surface water from the development site being drained directly to 
the public sewers.  
 
Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council:- 
 
No comments received. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle 
 
A significant amount of development has already taken place on the Kingsway Business Park. 
This application is simply to update and renew the current outline planning permission for the 
areas of the Park which are yet to be developed. The application seeks to extend the outline 
permission for the business park for a further 10 years. This time span exceeds the normally 
recommended 3 year period in the planning regulations but the full development of this major 
development project is likely to take at least a further 10 years. 
 
The proposed changes to the previous outline permission D52264 
 

 Additional Land at Plots V and M – A small amount of additional land is now to be 
included within the Business Park, close to its northern entrance. This area measures 
0.83 hectares labelled as Plot V, along with a smaller area of 0.32 hectare being added 
to Plot M.  

 
It is considered that inclusion of this small extra area of land within the business park 
would facilitate a more balanced form of development at the northern ‘gateway’ from 
Kingsway. 

Page 125



          

 The more intensive form of B1 office development around the new Metrolink stop – 
This change to the outline permission has arisen in recognition of the importance of 
Metrolink to reducing movements to and from the site by car and in improving access 
to the business park generally. It is agreed that developing B1 office uses nearest to 
the Merolink stop would make the best use of Metrolink, as well as also being able to 
benefit from the higher landscape quality provided by the Stanney Brook corridor.  
 
As this eastern boundary of the business park is also closely adjoined by the 
residential areas of The Cray and Buckley Hill Lane, B1 office uses would also be the 
best neighbour to these nearby existing areas of housing.    

 

 The proposed car showroom uses on the frontage of plot M - An area is proposed on 
the frontage of Plot M (to Sir Isaac Newton Way), for the development of car showroom 
uses to be introduced into the mixed use business environment.  
 
Car showroom uses are commonly found within high quality business park sites, 
adding to the mix of uses, and, often, offering innovative design opportunities for the 
new buildings. There are therefore no objections to the principle this additional 
business use in this area of the business park.  
 

 The introduction of residential use onto plot U – The applicants have stated that this 
change to the previous proposals has arisen in the light of several considerations: In 
the first place, the residential development, currently being undertaken on Plot S by 
“David Wilson Homes”, has been successfully integrated into the wider business park 
environment. The sales of the new homes on that site have been very good, 
demonstrating the mixed use nature of the site, as well as adding to the investment at 
the Kingsway Business Park. 
 
In this part of the site, access to local schools and other local services, (including the 
recently-constructed PH/ family restaurant of “The Hornet”), is also at its best. The 
proximity to the new Metrolink stop also adds to the suitability of the site for further 
residential purposes. Accordingly, the opportunity to extend and consolidate the 
residential offer in this area represents a logical and sustainable change to the current 
masterplan. Furthermore, since the development of the PH/restaurant, some of the 
new residents on the nearby “David Wilson Homes” housing site have expressed 
concerns about the extent of the proposed future commercial development on the 
remainder of plot U.  
 
In all of these circumstances, it is therefore considered that this change to the 
development use of the remainder of plot U will be both appropriate and acceptable. It 
should be noted that as the overall number of houses that can be developed on the 
Kingsway Business Park is limited to 300, the proportion of plot X that can be 
developed with housing will be commensurately reduced. 
 

 The more flexible approach to B1/B2/B8 uses on the employment plots – 
The current proposal is to allow greater market choice for B1, B2 and B8 uses by 
allowing multiple uses on plots rather than restricting specific ‘B’ uses to specific plots. 
The development of the Kingsway Business Park so far has now taken up a large 
proportion of the originally allowed amount of B8 floorspace and so the changes would 
allow a greater proportion of B8 floorspace.     
 
The applicants have made the following summarised arguments for this change to the 
outline permission:- 
 

Page 126



         The Kingsway Business Park is now an established business location which has 
delivered approximately 170,000 sq.m of mixed employment floorspace in the 
last seven years. The companies and businesses operating from this floorspace 
are bringing very significant new investment and economic vitality into the 
economy of the Borough, and are thereby fulfilling the objectives and aspirations 
of the Council’s original vision for the Kingsway site. 

 
However, in order to maintain and consolidate this success, the site needs to 
retain its competitive edge in the face of growing competition across the region, 
in particular from other large scale business developments. Furthermore, the site 
has to offer appropriate flexibility to meet the needs of the development market. 
For Kingsway Business Park, this means ensuring that the defined ‘B’ use 
employment plots are capable of accommodating the full range of market 
enquiries within the business sector. Indeed, this flexible approach reflects the 
planning policy position set-out in the Council’s Core Strategy for the site. 
 

                     Positive investment decisions at the Kingsway site in recent years have                 
now taken-up some of the originally approved B8 storage & distribution floor 
space allowances, so further provision for this sector of the market is now 
needed. But, also the opportunity to create a greater focus on office 
development, to provide for the needs of expanding local employers, as well as 
the needs of small medium enterprises, are all important considerations in 
securing ongoing investment at the site. Hence, flexibility within the range of ‘B’ 
uses is being sought. 

 
 
It is agreed that a more flexible approach to class ‘B’ floorspace is appropriate and will support 
further economic investment in the Park. 

 

 The relocation of the proposed Local Centre for the business park to Plot V:  
           
In light of the proposed changes to the future development of Plot U discussed above the 
applicants’ intention is to focus the development of the Local Centre on Plot V. This plot, (on 
the western side of Sir Isaac Newton Way, next to the first roundabout junction with Michael 
Faraday Avenue), is well placed within the business park. It is close to the northern access to 
the business park and, unlike Plot U, it will enjoy direct vehicular access from the spine road, 
from the roundabout.  
 
Plot V would still be within easy walking reach of the existing residential development outside 
the business park to the west as well as being conveniently located to serve the new housing 
being developed by David Wilson Homes on Plot S.    
  
Affordable Housing: 
 
UDP policy H/7 normally requires affordable housing as part of all new residential 
developments in excess of 25 units or on sites larger than 1 hectare in size.  This was not a 
Council planning requirement when the original outline planning permission D35130 was 
approved. When application D52264 was approved in 2009, (to renew that outline 
permission), the affordable housing issue was carefully considered.  However, no such 
affordable housing requirement was imposed on that permission. In coming to that decision, 
account was taken of the following summarised arguments made by the applicants at that 
time:-  
 
 

The residential element of the proposal is a critical element of the viability of the 
business park, as well as comprising a necessary ancillary component offering 

Page 127



residential opportunities for the new businesses on the business park and their 
employees.  

 
The Kingsway Business Park has never been commercially viable without public 
subsidy. Indeed, extensive European and Treasury money has already been provided in 
the form of assistance in the delivery of the infrastructure phases of the business park. 
The amount of public subsidy is effectively fixed. Accordingly, the development appraisal 
for the business park means that every development plot contributes to the funding 
equation, to a greater or lesser extent, and to omit the development on any plot or alter it 
in any significant way would mean that the financial appraisal would be damaged. This is 
particularly so in the case of the residential element (which has a relatively high value), 
and this explains why affordable housing was not required or considered to be 
appropriate when the existing outline consent was approved.  
 
In order to understand this, it is important to consider how the original policy for the 
Kingsway Business Park was specifically amended (in 1993/1994), to allow limited 
residential development on the site in order that “sufficient scope be provided for a viable 
scheme”. Indeed, the inclusion of residential use in the mix of uses in the business park 
was intended to underpin the viability of the overall project having regard to the very 
extensive infrastructure costs. The UDP policy EC/7-Kingsway Business Park continues 
to allow for such limited residential development provided it forms part of a 
comprehensive development scheme for the business park. 
 
It is clear that the ultimate objective of the Kingsway Business Park is to provide major 
regenerative benefits identified at a regional level, as well as at a local policy level, and 
with this objective in mind, the residential element was introduced in order to underpin its 
viability. This viability was tested extensively through the Compulsory Purchase Inquiry, 
when the land was being assembled for the project and the Inspector concluded that the 
residential element was a key component of the overall business park.  
 
The current position on the residential element of the proposal remains equally critical 
given the overall development economics of the site. The incorporation of market value 
housing into the overall scheme remains critical to the wider regenerative outputs and 
job creation anticipated in the ongoing phases of the site. 

 
It is considered that these arguments still apply and therefore it is not recommended that this 
current application should be made to contribute towards affordable housing. 
 
The comments made by GMAAS about the archaeological matters 
 
The only matter here is the detail of the two ‘archaeological information boards’ for the 
business park; whereabouts within the site they would actually be positioned and also the style 
and physical form of these boards.  
 
Condition 50 of permission D52264 which dealt with this matter has already been partially 
discharged. A refreshed condition is to be imposed to deal with the details of the required 
archaeological information boards.      
 
The comments made by the Highways Agency 
 
There is a slight discrepancy between the applicant’s proposed floorspace figures and those 
as specified in the relevant floorspace limitation condition, as directed by the Highways 
Agency. This discrepancy has arisen for a number of reasons: firstly because of the use of 
gross external floorspace and gross internal floorspace figures.  Secondly, the figures 
specified in the Highways Agency direction also relate to the total amount of floorspace to be 
developed within the business park, including the buildings on the site already developed. 

Page 128



Finally, the Highways Agency’s floorspace figures, (in their condition), have omitted to include 
the proposed local services, (PH/retail/nursery) and the proposed small scale uses on plot W. 
 
At the time of the preparation of this report, further liaison was taking place between the 
Council, the applicants and the Highways Agency to try to align the Highways Agency 
Direction with the floorsapce figures now proposed. This matter will be reported verbally at the 
meeting.            
  
SUMMARY 
 
It is considered that this application to renew the existing outline permission for a further 10 
years should be approved. It is agreed that the proposal would allow a more flexible approach 
to future economic investment in the Park in the future and within a reasonable time period. 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of 10 years beginning 

with the date of this permission.    
     
 Reason: This is a major development project and a greater level of flexibility is required 

in order that the scheme is brought forward effectively which justifies an increase in the 
normal three year time period required under section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be sought in respect of the following 

matters before the development is commenced:- the access; appearance; landscaping; 
layout; and scale.   

      
 Reason: The application is granted in outline only under the provisions of Article 4 of 

the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2010 and details of the matters referred to in the condition have not been 
submitted for consideration. 

 
 3 This permission relates to the following plans:-    
     
 Location plan, dwng.No.2013-233/103 Rev B   
 Parameters plan, dwng.no.2013-233/102 Rev A   
 Illustrative masterplan, dwng.No.2013-233/104 Rev A    

      
 and the development shall not be carried out other than in complete accordance with 

these drawings hereby approved.   
     
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 

development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
 
  
  
 

Page 129



 4 The development on this site shall be carried out in substantial accordance with the 
layout shown on drawing No.2013-233/102 Rev A Masterplan Parameters Plan.   

     
 Reason: The layout of the proposed Business Park is the subject of an Environmental 

Impact Assessment approved under the original outline planning permission granted 
for this development, (reference D35130) and any material alteration to the layout may 
have an impact which has not been assessed by that process and require a further 
Environmental Impact Assessment. The condition is therefore necessary to satisfy 
policy EC/7 - Kingsway Business Park, of the Council’s adopted Unitary Development 
Plan. 

 
 5 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, not more than 

1500 sq. metres gross floorspace shall be used for A1 and A2 uses within the 
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).  
Not more than 40% of this retail floorspace shall be used for A1 non-food retailing and 
no individual food store shall exceed 1200 sq. metres gross floorspace unless 
otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

     
 Reason: In order to ensure that the retail facilities are limited in size so as to cater for 

the needs of those employed at the Business Park and that the retail facilities are not 
of a scale likely to have an adverse impact on the vitality and viability of Milnrow 
District Centre and local shopping parades, in accordance with policy EC/7-Kingsway 
Business Park of the Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 6 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, not more than 

620 sq. metres gross floorspace within the site shall be used for A3 - A5 (Food and 
Drink) uses as defined within the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).  No individual food and drink outlet shall exceed 
500 sq. metres gross floorspace unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.   

     
 Reason:  In order to ensure that the food and drink facilities are limited in size and type 

so as to directly cater for the needs of the business park employees and that the scale 
of such outlets does not have an adverse impact on current provision within existing 
town and district centres, or substitute for outlets that should be located within existing 
centres, in accordance with policy EC/7 - Kingsway Business Park of the Council's 
adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 7 Unless granted by a separate planning permission in respect thereof, no building within 

any plot shall exceed the height specified for any building(s) within that plot as set out 
in the Schedule of Development' contained within the Design and Access Statement, 
submitted with and forming part of the application and in relation to the finished floor 
levels specified on drawing No.2013-223/102 Revision A Masterplan Parameters Plan. 

     
 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies 

EC/7-Kingsway Business Park and BE/2-Design criteria for new development, of the 
Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan, and to allow the Council to properly 
consider any alterations to this approved scale of development. 

 
 8 Notwithstanding the provisions of condition 7, no building(s) erected within Plot J, 

within 160 metres of Lower Lane, shall exceed an eaves height of 9.0 metres above 
the finished floor level of 154.6 metres shown on drawing no.2013-233/102 Revision A 
-Masterplan Parameters Plan.   

     

Page 130



 Reason:In the interests of the amenity of the residents of adjacent dwellinghouses in 
accordance with policies EC/7-Kingsway Business Park and BE/2-Design Criteria for 
New Development, of the Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 9 Notwithstanding the provisions of condition 8 above, no building erected within 80 

metres of the northern and western boundaries of plot L shall exceed an eaves height 
of 7.0 metres above the finished floor level of 148.5 metres shown on drawing no. 
2013-233/102 Revision A - Masterplan Parameters Plan.   

     
 Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the residents of adjacent dwellinghouses in 

accordance with policies EC/7-Kingsway Business Park and BE/2-Design Criteria for 
New Development, of the Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
10 Within any residential development within the site, recreational open space shall be 

provided in accordance with policy H/6- Provision of Recreational Open Space in New 
Housing Development of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan and also in 
accordance with the guidance contained in the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Document - Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing, dated March 
2008.   

     
 Reason: To secure the provision of adequate recreational open space within the site in 

accordance with policy H/6- Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing 
Development of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan and also in accordance with 
the guidance contained in the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document - Provision 
of Recreational Open Space in New Housing, dated March 2008. 

 
11 No development shall take place on plots C1, F, G, O, P2 or X until a comprehensive 

landfill gas investigation and assessment has been carried out on those development 
areas to determine whether those parts of the site would have the potential to be, 
affected by subterraneous landfill gas migration from the nearby landfill site. The 
survey methods for this investigation and assessment shall have been agreed in 
advance with the Local Planning Authority and a copy of the results submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. If the results of the investigation 
and assessment establish that landfill gas is present, or that there is a potential for 
landfill gas migration from the landfill site, no development shall take place until it has 
been demonstrated that the landfill gas associated risks have been eliminated from the 
development area in accordance with the provisions of Waste Management Paper no 
27 or alternatively, that adequate precautionary measures have been incorporated in 
the design and construction of the proposed development.   

     
 Reason: Part of the development site may be subject to landfill gas migration and 

precautionary measures are required at this stage to protect against possible hazard, 
in accordance with policy EM/5-Development in proximity to landfill sites, of the 
Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan.  

  
12 The development hereby approved shall not exceed the following total (gross internal 

area) floor space levels/number of units:  
    
  (a) A1 Retail - 1,425  sq.m.   
  (b) A3, A4, A5 food and drink uses - 585 sq.m.   
  (c) B1 (a) Office - 56,118 sq.m.   
  (d) B1/B2 Business use/General industrial- 51,457 sq.m.   
  (e) B8 Storage and distribution uses - 110,507 sq.m.   
  (e) C1 Hotels - 10,927 sq.m.   
  (g) C3 Residential - 133 dwelling units.   
  (h) D2 Assembly and  leisure - 4,970 sq.m.   

Page 131



 (i) Local services, (falling within the A1, A2, A3, A4 and  A5 use classes) - 
1,052 sq.m.   

  (j) Car showrooms - 4,645 sq.m.   
 (k) Small scale uses on plot W, appropriate to the  setting of the listed building - 

3,045 sq.m.    
     
 Reason: To ensure that the M62 motorway might continue to fulfil its purpose as part of 

the national system of routes for through traffic, in accordance with section 10(2) of the 
Highways Act 1980, and for the safety of traffic on the highway and to control the 
impact on the vitality and viability of existing shopping centres in accordance with 
Policy EC/7 of the Council's Adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
13 Prior to being discharged to any watercourse, surface water sewer, soakaway system 

or the drainage attenuation ponds within the Stanney Brook Greenspace Corridor, all 
surface water drainage from impermeable parking areas, roadways and hardstandings 
for vehicles, including HGVs and other service vehicles, external storage areas and 
any petrol stations shall be passed through an oil interceptor of a design and capacity 
compatible with the site being drained, in accordance with details to have been first 
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

     
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with policy with 

policy EM/8 - Protection of Surface and Ground Water of the Council's adopted Unitary 
Development Plan. 

 
14 No drainage from the proposed development shall discharge into the motorway 

drainage system, nor shall any proposed drainage system be installed within the site to 
adversely affect the motorway drainage system.   

     
 Reason: To protect the stability of the motorway earthworks in the interests of highway 

safety in accordance with policies A/9-New development-access for general traffic and 
EM/7 – Development and Flood Risk of the Council's adopted Unitary Development 
Plan. 

 
15 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the mitigation measures set 

out in the Environmental Statement approved as part of the original outline planning 
permission D35130 and the Ecology Management Plan Addendum - December 2013, 
(accompanying the current application), unless provided for in any other condition 
attached to this permission.   

     
 Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 

principles of mitigation set out in the Environmental Statement accompanying outline 
application D35130 and the Ecology Management Plan Addendum – December 2013, 
(accompanying the current application), in order to minimise the environmental effects 
of the development, in accordance with policies NE/4 – Protected Species and EC/7-
Kingsway Business Park of the Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
16 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority, no building shall 

be occupied within the site until such time as secure cycle parking spaces have been 
provided on site to serve that building in accordance with details that have first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
facilities shall thereafter be retained on site and made available for their intended 
purposes.   

     
 Reason: To encourage and make provision for cycle transport as an alternative mode 

of transport to the site in accordance with policies EC/7-Kingsway Business Park and 
A/4-Access for cyclists, of the Councils' Unitary Development Plan. 

Page 132



 
 
17 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the principles and proposals 

specified in paras 3.1 - 9.7 of the Design and Access Statement Rev. June 2014, 
submitted as part of the application unless provided for in any other condition attached 
to this permission.   

                 
 Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory form and quality of development is achieved for 

this strategically important site in accordance with policy EC/7-Kingsway Business 
Park of the Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
18 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no development 

of any plot shall take place until such time as a detailed scheme for the off street 
parking of construction plant and workers vehicles required for the completion of 
development on that plot, have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development of that plot shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance 
with the approved details unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.   

     
 Reason: In the interests of road safety and amenity in accordance with A/9-New 

development-access for general traffic, of the Council's adopted Unitary Development 
Plan. 

 
19 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, all existing and 

proposed footpaths, cycleways or other rights of way within the site shall be surfaced 
or otherwise treated in accordance with details and a timescale to have first been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.   

     
 Reason:  In order to ensure that the routes are in a safe and reasonable condition for 

movement through the site in accordance with policies EC/7-Kingsway Business Park, 
A/3-New development-access for pedestrians and disabled people and A/4-New 
development-access for cyclists, of the Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
20 No excavation or construction works shall take place on the site until measures for the 

suppression of dust arising from the works have been carried out in accordance with 
the mitigation measures set out in the Environmental Statement forming part of outline 
planning permission D35130 and also the Kingsway Business Park Construction 
Management Plan Oct 2004. Such measures shall be maintained for the duration of 
excavation or construction works unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.   

     
 Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area and to prevent nuisance arising in 

accordance with policies A/9-New development-access for general traffic, EM/2-
Pollution and BE/2-Design criteria for new development, of the Council's adopted 
Unitary Development Plan. 

 
21 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, details of any 

development to take place on or adjacent to any part of the M62 motorway 
embankment, earthworks or retaining wall shall be carried out in accordance with 
details to have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.   

      
 Reason: To ensure that development takes place without detriment to the stability of 

the M62 motorway embankment, earthworks or retaining walls in the interests of 
highway safety in accordance with policy A/9-New development-access for general 
traffic of the Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

Page 133



 
22 All plant, machinery and vehicles employed on the site in construction and engineering 

operations shall be fitted with effective silencers, and all parts of such plant, machinery 
and vehicles shall be maintained in good repair and so operated as to minimise noise 
emissions.   

     
 Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area and to prevent nuisance arising in 

accordance with policy BE/2-Design criteria for new development, of the Council's 
adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
23 Noise emitted from any building within the site or from anything attached to any 

building or from plant and machinery used in connection with any building shall not 
exceed:   

     
 a) 58dB(A) Leq (15 min.) between 0700 hours and 2300 hours and 48 dB(A) Leq (5 

min.) at any other time as measured at the facade of any noise sensitive property (or 
55dB(A) Leq (15 min.) and 45 dB(A) Leq (5min.) as free field measurements within the 
curtilage of any noise sensitive building) outside the boundaries of the site and to the 
south of the line A-A (or its linear projection) shown on the Council’s plan titled “Noise 
Control Plan”- condition 23, or within the boundary of the site and to the south of the 
line A-A.   

     
 b) 52 dB(A) Leq (15 min) between the hours of 0700 and 2300 and 48 dB(A) Leq (5 

min) at any other time as measured at the façade of any noise sensitive property, (or 
49 dB(A) Leq (15 min) and 45 dB(A) Leq (5 min) as  free field measurements within the 
curtilage of any noise sensitive building)  outside the boundaries of the site and to the 
north of the line A-A(or its linear projection) and to the south of the line B-B (or its linear 
projection) shown on the Council’s plan titled “Noise Control Plan”- condition 23, or 
within the boundary of the site, and to the north of the line A-A and to the south of the 
line B-B.   

     
 c) 51 dB(A) Leq (15 min) between the hours of 0700 and 2300 and 45 dB(A) Leq (5 

min) at any other time as measured at the façade of any noise sensitive property (or 48 
dB(A) Leq (15 min) and 42 dB(A)  Leq  (5min) as  free field measurements within the 
curtilage of any noise sensitive building)  outside the boundaries of the site, and to the 
north of line B-B (or its linear projection) and to the south of line C-C (or its linear 
projection) shown on the Council’s plan titled “Noise Control Plan”- condition 23, or 
within the boundary of the site and to the north of the line B-B and to the south of the 
line C-C.   

     
  d) 48 dB(A) Leq (15 min) between the hours of 0700 and 2300 and 43 dB(A) Leq (5 

min) at any other time as measured at the façade of any noise sensitive property (or 45 
dB(A) Leq (15 min) and 40 dB(A) Leq (5 min) as free field measurements within the 
curtilage of any noise sensitive building) outside the boundaries of the site and to the 
north of the line C-C (or its linear projection) shown on Council’s plan titled “Noise 
Control Plan”- condition 23,  or within the boundary of the site and to the north of the 
line C –C.   

      
 For the purposes of this condition, line A-A is from the rear of 13 Verdant Way to the 

rear of 66A Ashfield Lane, line B-B is from Turf Hill Community Centre to the point 
where the path to the rear of 67 Beechfield Road crosses the boundary of the site and 
line C-C is from the junction of Stiups Lane with Turf Hill Road to the junction of Knowl 
Road with Princess Road.   

     
 A noise sensitive property is defined as any occupied residential unit or similar property 

or school classroom, except insofar as the element of the condition which relates to the 

Page 134



curtilage of the noise sensitive building shall not include any curtilage of any 
classroom.   

     
 Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area, and in particular that of the nearest 

neighbouring residents and to prevent nuisance in accordance with policies EC/7-
Kingsway Business Park and EM/3-Noise and New Development, of the Council's 
adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
24 No construction or excavation or earthmoving or similar works shall be carried out 

other than between 0700 hours and 1900 hours, on Monday to Friday inclusive and 
between 0700 hours and 1300 hours on Saturday unless otherwise approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.   

     
 Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area, and in particular that of the nearest 

neighbouring residents and to prevent nuisance in accordance with policies EC/7-
Kingsway Business Park and EM/3-Noise and new development, of the Council's 
adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
25 Unless otherwise approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority, all available 

topsoil shall be stripped from any areas which are to be excavated, or to be used for 
the stationing of plant and buildings, or the storage of subsoil and overburden, or for 
haul roads and other areas to be traversed by heavy machinery, and shall be stored 
until required for restoration purposes in accordance with details to have first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No plant or 
vehicle shall cross any areas of unstripped topsoil except for the purpose of stripping 
operations unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

     
 Reason: To ensure that topsoil resources are conserved for beneficial use in the 

landscaping of the site, in accordance with policies EC/7-Kingsway Business Park and 
BE/8-Landscaping in new development of the Council's adopted Unitary Development 
Plan. 

 
26 Unless otherwise approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the stripping 

and movement of topsoil shall only be carried out under sufficiently dry and friable 
conditions to avoid soil smearing and compaction and to ensure that all available soil 
resources are recovered.  Appropriate methods of soil stripping shall be separately 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority for any permanently wet or waterlogged areas 
of the site.   

     
 Reason: To ensure that topsoil resources are conserved for beneficial use in the 

landscaping of the site in accordance with policies EC/7-Kingsway Business Park and 
BE/8-Landscaping in new development of the Council's adopted Unitary Development 
Plan. 

 
27 Unless otherwise approved in writing, all mounds in which soils are to be stored for 

more than six months, or over the winter period, shall be grass seeded in accordance 
with a method statement to have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved soil mounds shall be effectively controlled from 
weed infestation in accordance with details to have been first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

     
 Reason: To minimise erosion and weed infestation and ensure that topsoil resources 

within the site are beneficially conserved and reused within the landscaping of the site 
in accordance with policies EC/7-Kingsway Business Park and BE/8-Landscaping in 
New Development of the Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 

Page 135



28 Topsoil, subsoil and other soil making materials stripped either for restoration purposes 
or removal from the site shall be stored in separate mounds which do not overlap and 
in areas and locations to have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority.   

     
 Reason: To ensure that topsoil resources are conserved for beneficial use in the 

landscaping of the site and to ensure that storage mounds are sited in positions with 
least impact on amenity, in accordance with policy BE/8- Landscaping in New 
Development, of the Council's Unitary Development Plan. 

 
29 All vehicles leaving the site loaded with waste materials or excavated soils shall be 

securely sheeted. All vehicles importing engineering and building materials likely to 
give rise to dust emissions shall be securely sheeted where reasonably practicable. 

     
 Reason: In the interests of road safety and general amenity and to prevent nuisance 

arising, in accordance with policies A/9-New development-access for general traffic, 
M/4-Operating conditions and EM/2-Pollution, of the Council’s adopted Unitary 
Development Plan. 

 
30 Any processing or conveying of material on the site shall incorporate dust suppression 

measures or be carried out in covered and enclosed areas.   
     
 Reason: In the interests of road safety and general amenity and to prevent nuisance 

arising, in accordance with policies A/9-New development-access for general traffic, 
M/4-Operating conditions and EM/2-Pollution, of the Council’s adopted Unitary 
Development Plan. 

 
31 Development shall not take place on each plot hereby permitted until such time as a 

scheme for that plot to regulate surface water run-off with appropriate allowance for 
climate change has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in 
accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or 
within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority.   

   
 Reason To reduce the risk of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal 

of surface water from the site and in accordance with Policy EM/8 - Protection of 
Surface and Ground Water of the adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
32 Details of the location of any fixed plant or machinery associated with any excavation 

and construction works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before that fixed plant or machinery is first brought onto the site. 
   

      
 Reason: In the interests of road safety and general amenity and to prevent nuisance 

arising, in accordance with policies A/9-New development-access for general traffic, 
M/4-Operating conditions and EM/2-Pollution, of the Council’s adopted Unitary 
Development Plan. 

 
33 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no development 

shall take place on any relevant phase of development, until measures to protect or 
relocate the mud snail Lymnaea glabra identified to be present within land forming that 
phase has been carried out in accordance with the principles set out in the documents 
‘Outline Ecology Management Plan’, ‘Land Drainage and Creation of New Wetlands’ 
dated 15th November 1999, (that formed part of outline planning permission D35130) 

Page 136



and ‘Ecological Management Plan Addendum dated 2013, forming part of this 
permission.    

     
 Reason: To ensure adequate mitigation for the loss of wildlife habitat in accordance 

with policies EC/7-Kingsway Business Park and NE/4-Protected species, of the 
Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
34 There shall be no discharge of foul or contaminated water from the site into either 

groundwater or any surface waters, whether direct or via soakaways.  
   
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with policy EM/8-

Protection of surface and ground water of the Council's adopted Unitary Development 
Plan. 

 
35 No building in any phase of development, as identified in the Schedule of Development 

and on the drawing no. 2013-233/102 Revision A -Masterplan Parameters Plan shall 
be occupied until such time as adequate sewerage infrastructure has been provided 
within the site to serve that phase of the development.   

     
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with policy EM/8-

Protection of surface and ground water of the Council's adopted Unitary Development 
Plan. 

 
36 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no development 

shall take place on any relevant phase until a water vole method statement for the 
management of the habitat of this protected species within land forming that phase, 
has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved method statement shall include:-   

     
 - Provision for the on-going annual monitoring of water voles across land forming that 

phase;   
 - A survey of the wider locality around land forming that phase to provide an ecological 

context of the proposed development works within that phase;   
 - Monitoring to include a survey for signs or evidence of mink colonisation; 

  
 - A specific site survey of suitable water vole habitat within each development plot 

forming that phase, as detailed development proposals for each plot within that phase 
are submitted;   

 - Implementation of a mitigation strategy on an on-going basis, (as referred to in the 
document ‘Ecological Management Plan Addendum- December 2013), to ensure that 
water vole habitat is available when required as receptor sites become necessary 
throughout the future development of the business park;   

     
 Reason: To secure the adequate protection and mitigation of this protected species 

across the site for the lifetime of the business park, in accordance with policies EC/7-
Kingsway Business Park and NE/4-Protected species, of the Council’s adopted Unitary 
Development Plan. 

 
37 Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on impervious 

bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls, details of which shall have first been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The volume of the bunded 
compound should be at least equivalent to the capacity of the storage facility plus 10%.  
If there is multiple tankage, the compound should be at least equivalent to the capacity 
of the largest tank or the combined capacity of interconnected tanks, plus 10%. All 
filling points, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund. The 
drainage system of the bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, 

Page 137



land or underground strata.  Associated pipework should be located above ground and 
protected from accidental damage.  All filling points and tank overflow pipe outlets 
should be designed to discharge downwards into the bund.   

     
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with policy EM/2 

– Pollution and EM/8-Protection of surface and ground water of the Council's adopted 
Unitary Development Plan. 

 
38 The site shall be drained on a separate system for the disposal of foul and surface 

waters.  
   
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with policy EM/8- 

Protection of surface and ground water of the Council's adopted Unitary Development 
Plan. 

 
39 No piling work through areas of the site which may have the potential for cross 

contamination to deeper levels shall take place until details of the piling work have 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The development 
shall thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details.  

   
 Reason: To prevent contamination of ground water resources in accordance with 

policy EM/8- Protection of surface and ground water of the Council's adopted Unitary 
Development Plan. 

 
40 No part of the development hereby approved shall be brought into use unless and until 

the specific detailed Travel Plans consistent with the already approved site wide 
Sustainable Travel Plan (November 2010) have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority in liaison with the Secretary of State. Such 
travel plans shall provide details of the objectives, targets and measures to promote 
and facilitate public transport use, walking, cycling and practices/facilities to reduce the 
need to travel and to reduce car use specific to the detailed applications. The detailed 
plans shall also provide details of its management, monitoring and review 
mechanisms, travel plan co-ordination and the provision of travel information and 
marketing. The plans should also include details of a car park management plan. The 
initiatives contained within the detailed travel plans shall be implemented thereafter, 
together with any additional measures that may subsequently be identified by the Local 
Planning Authority to be provided within the development to deliver the travel plan 
objectives.  

   
 Informative: Any additional travel plan measures identified by the Local Planning 

Authority to be provided within the development should be brought to the attention of 
the Transportation Sub Group for their views.   

   
 In addition, the applicant shall submit a monitoring report at six monthly intervals 

thereafter until such time as agreed by the local planning authority in liaison with the 
Secretary of State, covering the data emnating from the  monitoring equipmen, as set 
out in the approved 'Traffic Counters - Kingsway Business Park, Rochdale Phase 2 
Works' report.  

   
 Reason: To ensure that the M62 motorway might continue to fulfil its purpose as part of 

the national system of routes for through traffic, in accordance with section 10(2) of the 
Highways Act 1980, and for the safety of traffic on the highway. 

 
 
 

Page 138



41 No development shall take place with each phase until such time as any affected trees 
and hedges within that relevant phase, which are to be retained, have been fenced in 
accordance with details to have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved fencing shall thereafter be fully implemented 
and no part of the approved fencing shall be removed from that phase until such time 
as the Local Planning Authority has agreed in writing to its removal.   

     
 Reason: In order to protect the existing trees and hedges on the site taking account of 

their value within the landscape and the development proposals, in the interests of 
amenity and wildlife habitat, in accordance with policies EC/7-Kingsway Business park 
and BE/8-Landscaping in New Development, of the Council's adopted Unitary 
Development Plan.   

 
42 Before the initiation of any earth-moving operations or preparation of any plot(s) within 

the site for development between the months of March to July inclusive, that relevant 
land shall be inspected for any ground nesting birds and a verification report submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  In the event that nesting 
birds are identified to be present, a scheme for remediation and timescale for 
development of that land shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, and the development thereafter carried out in complete accordance 
with these approved details. No trees, hedges or scrub vegetation shall be removed 
between the months of March to July inclusive unless otherwise approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: To ensure the protection of nesting birds in accordance with policies NE/3-

Biodiversity and development and NE/4-Protected Species, of the Council's adopted 
Unitary Development Plan. 

 
43 Details of any external floodlighting or security lighting to be erected within the site or 

to be affixed to any building within the site, including height, position, level of 
illumination and measures to prevent light spillage beyond the site boundaries, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
lighting shall thereafter be implemented unless the Local Planning Authority approves 
in writing to any variation.   

   
 Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interest of visual amenity 

and to prevent nuisance in accordance with policy BE/2- Design criteria for New 
Development, of the Council's adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
44 There shall be no vehicular access to the site for any engineering or construction 

works, or for deliveries or other vehicular movements in connection with the future 
operation of any new development within the business park, or to serve any dwelling 
units, from Ashfield Lane, Broad Lane, Lower Lane, Neston Road, Stiups Lane, 
Chadwick Lane and Buckley Hill Lane or the bridge over the railway line (leading from 
near the rear of No.13 The Cray), unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to safeguard the amenities of the 

nearest residents, in accordance with policies E/7-Kingsway Business Park, A/9-New 
development- access for general traffic and BE/2-Design criteria for new development, 
of the Council’s adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 
 

Page 139



45 Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 44 above, no direct vehicular access to the 
site shall take place from Ashfield Lane, Lower Lane, Stiups Lane or Buckley Hill Lane 
except for the following purposes:-  

   
- the future routine management and maintenance of the surface water 

attenuation areas within the Stanney Brook Corridor;  
-          the future maintenance of the brooks and other water courses, the landscaping   

associated features and structures within the business park;   
 - any appropriate visits by security staff.  
   
 unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
   
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to safeguard the amenities of the 

nearest residents, in accordance with policies E/7-Kingsway Business Park, A/9-New 
development- access for general traffic and BE/2-Design criteria for New Development, 
of the Council’s adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
46 During any construction or engineering works within the site adjacent to areas of 

nature conservation interest, including the Stanney Brook Site of Biological 
Importance,  shall be securely fenced in accordance with details approved by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The removal of any such fence or part of such fence shall take 
place only when works are completed or, otherwise, only with the prior approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

    
 Reason: To protect the habitat and amenity of areas of ecological importance in 

accordance with policies EC/7 Kingsway Business Park, NE/2-Designated sites of 
ecological and geological/geomorphological importance, NE/3 Biodiversity and new 
development and NE/4-Protected species, of the Council’s adopted Unitary 
Development Plan. 

 
47 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority, the annual 

monitoring required by the “Kingsway Business Park Ecological Management Plan”, 
which formed part of outline planning application D35130 and the Ecological 
Management Plan Addendum December 2013, accompanying the current application, 
shall include an update of the management measures being utilised to protect and 
enhance the biodiversity within the Stanney Brook Corridor and the other principal 
structural landscaping areas around the site, (lying within the development site, but 
outside the development plots), so as to secure the objectives of the approved 
Ecological Management Plan. Any remedial measures identified by this monitoring to 
meet the objectives of the Ecological Management Plan shall be carried out in 
accordance with a timetable to be agreed with the local planning authority and the 
management strategy shall be amended and implemented accordingly.    

       
 Reason: In order to maintain the biodiversity value of these areas within the business 

park in accordance with policies EC/7-Kingsway Business Park and NE/3-Biodiversity 
and development, of the Council’s adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
48 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no development 

of any plot shall take place until details of measures to be incorporated into the layout, 
design and landscaping of that plot to minimise the potential for future crime and 
disorder have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The approved measures shall thereafter be fully implemented before the 
first occupation of any building relevant to the approved measures.    

   

Page 140



 Reason: In order to minimise the opportunity for crime within the business park in the 
future in accordance with policy BE/2-Design criteria for new development, of the 
Council’s adopted Unitary Development Plan. 

 
49 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no building 

within the site shall be occupied until such time as adequate refuse storage facilities to 
serve that development have been provided within the site in accordance with details 
to have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved refuse storage facilities shall thereafter be retained.  

   
 Reason: To ensure adequate refuse storage and disposal arrangements are provided 

within the development in accordance with Policies A/7 – Access for Service Vehicles. 
 
50 The development hereby approved shall achieve a ‘very good’ or ‘excellent’ Building 

Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Methodology (BREEAM) rating or 
equivalent, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  

     
 Where this BREEAM requirement is achieved, a Design Stage Certificate confirming 

such an outcome, and detailing the energy supply installed within the development, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority within 6 
months of the date of first occupation of each relevant building within the site, unless 
otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.     

     
 Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and makes efficient use of 

energy, water and materials in accordance with Policy EM/13 of the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan and the Council’s: Energy and New Development Supplementary 
Planning Document. 

 
51 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, within one month 

of the date of the occupation of any part of the development, a notice for that part of 
the development as occupied shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The Notice shall specify the following from calculations 
made using methodology for the calculation of energy approved by the Secretary of 
State:  

   
 The target CO2 emission rate for the building applicable at the time of development 

commencement; and   
 The calculated emission rate for the building which shall be at or below the above 

target.   
    
 Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and makes efficient use of 

energy demand in accordance with Policy EM/13 of the Council's Unitary Development 
Plan and the Council's Energy and New Development Supplementary Planning 
Document. 

 
52 Any residential unit to be erected within the site shall achieve a minimum of Code 

Level 3 in accordance with the requirements of the Code for Sustainable Homes: 
Technical Guide (or such measure of sustainability for house design that replaces that 
scheme).  No dwelling/residential unit hereby approved shall be occupied until a Final 
Code Certificate has been issued for it certifying that Code Level 3 or above has been 
achieved, and details of the energy supply technology installed within the development 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and makes efficient use of 

energy, water and materials in accordance with Policy EM/13 of the Council’s Unitary 

Page 141



Development Plan and the Council’s: Energy and New Development Supplementary 
Planning Document. 

 
53 Under the terms of conditions 49 and 50 of the previous outline planning permission 

D52264, a scheme for an archaeological publication for the Kingsway Business Park is 
required and the details of that scheme have already been partially agreed with the 
local planning authority. An approved public 'dissemination' scheme for that 
archaeological information for the business park shall be implemented in accordance 
with a timescale that shall have first been agreed in writing with the local planning 
authority, but within five years of the date of this permission. .        

     
 Reason: In order to disseminate to the general public, and also commemorate, the 

history and archaeology of the former landscape of the land occupied by the Kingsway 
Business Park, in accordance with the principles of policies EC/7-Kingsway Business 
Park, BE/10-Development affecting Archaeological sites and ancient monuments and 
NE/6- Landscape protection and enhancement, of the Council’s adopted Unitary 
Development Plan.  

 
 
 
Report Author Richard Butler 

 
 
 
  _______________________________________________ 
 

Page 142


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	3 Submitted Planning Applications

